

March 3, 2016

Public Utility Commission of Oregon Administrative Hearings Division 550 Capitol St NE #215 PO Box 2148 Salem OR 97308-2148

Attention:

Filing Center

# UF 4271 Compliance Filings

Avista Corporation (Avista Corp.) is submitting the following information in compliance with the Commission's Order No. 12 004 under UF 4271(1) for the issuance of up to 5,500,000 shares of authorized but unissued Common Stock (of which 3,795,199 shares remain undelivered).

On March 2, 2016, Avista Corporation (Avista Corp.) entered into four separate Sales Agency Agreements (each, an "Agreement" and collectively, the "Agreements") with BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (collectively, the "Sales Agents"). Under the terms of the Agreements, Avista Corp. may offer and sell up to 3,795,199 shares of its common stock, no par value, from time to time through the Sales Agents, as Avista Corp.'s agents for the offer and sale of the shares. Unless earlier terminated, each Agreement will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the sale of all of the shares through such Agreement or (ii) February 29, 2020.

The offering of shares will be made pursuant to Avista Corp.'s registration statement previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) (File No. 333-209714), which became effective on February 25, 2016 (the "Registration Statement"). Avista Corp. filed a prospectus supplement with the SEC in connection with this offer and sale of shares.

Additionally, the following documents are included with this filing as exhibits:

- 1. The respective prospectus supplement dated March 2, 2016.
- Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC.
- Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC.
- 4. Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC.
- 5. Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated.

Please contact Lauren Pendergraft at (509) 495-2998 if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Richard N. Stevens

Rubard N Steven

Director of Finance and Assistant Treasurer

Enclosures

A registration fee of \$9,105.17, calculated in accordance with Rule 457(r), has been transmitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus. The proposed maximum aggregate offering price has been calculated by multiplying 3,795,199 shares by \$37.815 per share, the average of the high and low prices of our common stock on February 29, 2016, as reported in the consolidated reporting system. The amount of the registration fee paid with respect to such shares has been offset and reduced by \$5,346.84, representing the portion of the \$8,120.31 registration fee paid in connection with the filing of prospectus supplement dated August 9, 2012 that is associated with the 1,795,199 shares remaining unsold out of the 2,726,390 additional shares offered by that prospectus supplement. This paragraph shall be deemed to update the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the registration statement referred to above.

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT (To Prospectus dated February 25, 2016)

# 3,795,199 Shares

### AVISTA CORPORATION

## Common Stock

We may offer and sell up to 3,795,199 shares of our common stock from time to time through the sales agents named below.

We may offer and sell shares of our common stock through one or more of the sales agents named in this prospectus supplement, over a period of time and from time to time in transactions at the market prices prevailing at the time of sale, pursuant to the applicable sales agency agreement. We will pay each of the sales agents a commission not to exceed 2% of the gross sales price per share of all shares sold through it as agent under the applicable sales agency agreement, except as otherwise provided in the sales agency agreement. None of the sales agents is required to sell any specific number or dollar amount of shares of our common stock but each has agreed to use its reasonable efforts, as our sales agent and on the terms and subject to the conditions of the applicable sales agency agreement, to sell the shares offered on terms agreed upon by such sales agent and us. The shares of common stock will be offered and sold through only one sales agent on any given day. See "Plan of Distribution" in this prospectus supplement for further information.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "AVA." The reported last sale price of our common stock on March 1, 2016, as reported in the consolidated reporting system, was \$37.82 per share.

See "Risk Factors" beginning on page S-3 for reference to certain factors you should consider before buying our common stock.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

# BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC BofA Merrill Lynch

## Credit Suisse

J.P. Morgan

The date of this prospectus supplement is March 2, 2016

### \_\_\_\_\_

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# **Prospectus Supplement**

Risk Factors	3
Safe Harbor For Forward-Looking Statements	4
The Company	5
Plan of Distribution	5
General	5
Conflict of Interest	6
Legal Matters	6
Prospectus	
About this Prospectus	2
Risk Factors	3
Avista Corporation	3
Use of Proceeds	4
Description of the Bonds	4
Description of the Notes	12
Description of Preferred Stock	21
Description of Common Stock	23
Where You Can Find More Information	26
Legal Matters	27
Experts	27

We have not authorized anyone to give you any information other than this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus. You should assume that the information contained or incorporated in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus is accurate only as of the respective dates of these documents. We are not offering to sell these securities and we are not soliciting offers to buy these securities in any jurisdiction in which offers are not permitted.

### RISK FACTORS

#### General

Investing in common stock involves risk. You should review all the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus before deciding to invest. See "Where You Can Find More Information" in the accompanying prospectus. In particular, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties discussed in "Risk Factors", "Forward-Looking Statements" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our annual report on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and incorporated herein by reference.

### Risks Related to an Investment in Avista Common Stock

### The market price of our common stock fluctuates continuously.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and is traded on that exchange and elsewhere. The market price fluctuates continuously.

The fluctuation in the market price of our common stock is caused by a variety of factors, most of which are beyond our control. These factors include, but are not limited to:

- any and all factors that affect the U.S. and global financial markets generally including, but not limited to, general U.S. and global economic
  conditions;
- · events or circumstances relating to us, particularly those related to the risk factors discussed in our periodic reports filed with the SEC;
- periodic variations in our operating results, the perceived value of our assets or our business prospects, or the perceptions or expectations of
  investors or securities analysts as to such variations;
- periodic developments in, or changes in the prospects for, the electric and natural gas utility industries, or the perceptions or expectations of investors or securities analysts as to such developments or changes;
- our ability to continue to pay dividends or any change in the level of dividends, or the perceptions or expectations of investors or securities analysts as to dividends; and
- · future sales by us of equity and other securities.

Any reduction, interruption or elimination of the quarterly dividend on our common stock would likely have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

The payment of dividends on our common stock is solely within the discretion of our Board of Directors (the "Board"). The Board considers the level of dividends on a regular basis, taking into account numerous factors including, without limitation

- our results of operation, cash flows and financial condition;
- · the success of our business strategies; and
- general economic and competitive conditions.

Our credit facilities have financial covenants that limit the percentage of debt in relation to our overall capital structure. These could have the effect of restricting our ability to pay dividends. We are currently in compliance

with these provisions. In addition, the terms of our preferred stock contained in our articles of incorporation prohibit the payment of dividends on our common stock unless all accumulated dividends on preferred stock have been paid. There are currently no shares of preferred stock outstanding. We may agree to similar, or more stringent, financial covenants or provisions in credit or other agreements in the future, and we may issue preferred stock in the future.

### The market price of our common stock could be adversely affected by future sales of our common stock.

Except as described under "Plan of Distribution" and except for required regulatory approvals, we are not restricted from issuing additional shares of common stock, whether in this offering or in any future offering. We are also not restricted from issuing other securities that are convertible into, or exercisable for, or exchangeable for, shares of our common stock. The market price of our common stock could be adversely affected by sales of substantial amounts of our common stock or any such other securities, or the perception that these sales may occur.

### The shares of our common stock are structurally junior to all our other securities.

If we were to be reorganized, liquidated or dissolved in a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding, holders of debt securities and other indebtedness, including trade payables, and holders of preferred stock would receive distributions of our available assets prior to holders of our common stock. It is possible that, after making such distributions, insufficient assets, or no assets at all, would remain available for distribution to holders of our common stock.

Furthermore, we are likely to incur additional indebtedness and may issue shares of preferred stock in the future. The market price of our common stock could be adversely affected by the incurrence of additional indebtedness or the issuance of preferred stock in substantial amounts.

### SAFE HARBOR FOR FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

From time to time, we make forward-looking statements such as statements regarding projected or future financial performance, cash flows, capital expenditures, dividends, capital structure, other financial items, strategic goals and objectives, and plans for operations. These statements are based upon underlying assumptions (many of which are based, in turn, upon further assumptions). These statements are made both in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and elsewhere. Forward-looking statements are all statements except those of historical fact, including, without limitation, those that are identified by the use of words such as, but not limited to, "will", "may", "could", "should", "intends", "plans", "seeks", "anticipates", "estimates", "expects", "forecasts", "projects", "predicts", and similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties and other factors. Most of these factors are beyond our control, and many of them could have a significant effect on our operations, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. This could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in our statements. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors include, among others, those listed or referred to under the caption "Risk Factors" in this prospectus supplement.

Our expectations, beliefs and projections are expressed in good faith. We believe they are reasonable based on, among other considerations, an examination of historical operating trends, data contained in our records and other data available from third parties. However, there can be no assurance that our expectations, beliefs or projections will be achieved or accomplished. Furthermore, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement or statements to reflect events or circumstances that occur after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. New risks, uncertainties and other factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all such factors, nor can we assess the effect of each such factor on our business or the extent that any such factor or combination of factors may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement.

### THE COMPANY

Avista is primarily an electric and natural gas utility, with certain other business ventures. Our corporate headquarters are in Spokane, Washington. Our utility operations provide electricity and natural gas in parts of the Pacific Northwest, and, through a subsidiary, in the City and Borough of Juneau, Alaska. For more information, see the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated herein by reference.

### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

#### General

Avista has entered into separate, but substantially identical, sales agency agreements with BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as our sales agents, under which we may issue and sell shares of Avista Common Stock.

The sales, if any, of the shares of Avista Common Stock under the sales agency agreement with each sales agent will be made in "at the market offerings" as defined in Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, including sales made directly on the New York Stock Exchange, the principal existing trading market for Avista Common Stock, through an "alternative trading system" as defined in Regulation ATS under the Exchange Act of 1934 or any other electronic communications network, or to or through a market maker. In addition, shares of Avista Common Stock may be offered and sold by such other methods, including privately negotiated transactions, as we and any sales agent agree to in writing. From time to time during the term of the sales agency agreement with each sales agent, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, we may deliver a sales notice to that sales agent specifying:

- the length of the selling period, which may not exceed 20 trading days; and
- the minimum price below which sales may not be made.

We will submit orders to only one sales agent relating to the sale of Avista Common Stock on any given day.

Upon receipt of a sales notice from Avista, and subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable sales agency agreement, each sales agent has agreed to use its commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with its normal trading and sales practices, to sell, during the selling period specified in that sales notice, the number of shares we specify in that notice and on the terms specified in that notice. We or the applicable sales agent may suspend the offering of shares of Avista Common Stock by that sales agent at any time upon proper notice to the other, and the selling period will immediately terminate. The settlement between us and a purchaser of shares of Avista Common Stock will occur on the third trading day following the date on which the sale was made. The obligation of each sales agent under the applicable sales agency agreement to sell shares pursuant to any sales notice is subject to a number of conditions, which each sales agent reserves the right to waive in its sole discretion.

We will pay each sales agent a commission, which shall not exceed 2% of the gross sales price per share of all shares sold through it as agent under the applicable sales agency agreement, except as may otherwise be agreed upon between us and a sales agent with respect to certain transactions. We have also agreed to reimburse each sales agent for certain of its reasonable documented out-of-pocket expenses, including certain fees and disbursements of counsel, in connection with entering into the applicable sales agency agreement and performing its obligations thereunder.

Avista Common Stock is an "actively-traded security" excepted from the requirements of Rule 101 of Regulation M under the Exchange Act by Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M. If either we or a Sales Agent has reason to believe that Avista Common Stock is not such an excepted security, that party will promptly notify the other and sales of Avista Common Stock under that sales agency agreement may be suspended until, in the judgment of each party, Avista Common Stock is such an excepted security

In connection with the sales of Avista Common Stock as contemplated in this prospectus supplement, each sales agent may be deemed to be an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, and the

compensation paid to each sales agent may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts. We have agreed to indemnify each sales agent against certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

Sales of Avista Common Stock as contemplated herein will be settled through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company or by such other means as we and the applicable sales agent may agree upon.

The initial expenses of this offering are estimated at approximately \$200,000 and are payable by us.

The offering of shares of Avista Common Stock pursuant to any sales agency agreement will terminate upon the earliest of (1) the first date on which the Maximum Numbers of shares of our common stock have been sold pursuant to the sales agency agreements (2) the termination of that sales agency agreement by us or the sales agent under that agreement and (3) February 29, 2020. The termination of one of the sales agency agreements by either us or the sales agent under that agreement, as contemplated in clause (2) above, will not, in and of itself, result in the termination of any other sales agency agreement. The "Maximum Number" of shares is 3,795,199 or such higher number as may be established pursuant to the sales agency agreements.

We have agreed under each sales agency agreement not to directly or indirectly offer to sell, contract to sell, sell, grant any option to buy or otherwise dispose of, shares of Avista Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Avista Common Stock, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire Avista Common Stock (i) during a selling period specified in a sales notice to the sales agent under that agreement without the prior written consent of that sales agent and (ii) at any time during the term of such agreement without giving at least three trading days' prior notice to that sales agent. The particular sales agent may give this consent at any time without public notice. The restriction described in this paragraph does not apply to sales of:

- shares pursuant to the applicable sales agency agreement or the other sales agency agreements;
- shares, options to purchase shares or shares issuable upon the exercise of options, in any case pursuant to any employee or director stock option or benefit plan, any stock purchase or ownership plan or any dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan;
- shares issuable upon conversion of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights disclosed in the documents incorporated by reference; or
- shares issuable as consideration in connection with acquisitions of business, assets or securities of other entities by merger or otherwise.

The sales agents and their affiliates have provided, and may in the future provide, investment banking, commercial banking, corporate trust services and other services for us from time to time for which they have received, or may be entitled to receive, customary fees and reimbursement of expenses.

### **Conflict of Interest**

The sales agents or their respective affiliates are lenders under our revolving credit facility which we may repay from time to time, in whole or in part, using the net proceeds of sales of common stock through the sales agents. As a consequence, the sales agents or their respective affiliates may receive more than 5% of the net proceeds of these sales of common stock and, accordingly, may be deemed to have a conflict of interest under FINRA Rule 5121 (Public Offerings of Securities with Conflicts of Interest). In such case, and to the extent that FINRA Rule 5121 is applicable, the sales agents would conduct the distribution of the shares in accordance with this rule and would not confirm sales to an account over which they exercise discretionary authority without first receiving specific written approval from the account holder.

# LEGAL MATTERS

The legality of the shares offered hereby and certain other matters are passed upon for Avista by Marian M. Durkin, Esq., Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer of Avista, and Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP, counsel to Avista. In giving its opinion, Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP may rely as to matters governed by the Washington Business Corporation Act upon the opinion of Marian M. Durkin, Esq. Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, is acting as counsel to the sales agents.

3,795,199 Shares

# **Avista Corporation**

Common Stock

# PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

March 2, 2016

BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC
BofA Merrill Lynch

**Credit Suisse** 

J.P. Morgan

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington D.C. 20549

# FORM 8-K

# **CURRENT REPORT**

# PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): March 2, 2016

# **AVISTA CORPORATION**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Washington (State of other jurisdiction of incorporation)	<u>1-3701</u> (Commission file number)	91-0462470 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
1411 East Mission Avenue, Spokane, Washington (Address of principal executive offices)		99202-2600 (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area code:  Web site: http://www.avistacorp.com		<u>509-489-0500</u>
(Fon	mer name or former address, if changed since last repo	ort)
Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is in provisions:	ntended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation	n of the registrant under any of the following
[] Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the	Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)	
[] Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Ex-	change Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)	
[] Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14	4d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b	)))
[] Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13	Be-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c)	))

### Section 8 - Other Events

### Item 8.01 Other Events.

On March 2, 2016, Avista Corporation (Avista Corp.) entered into four separate Sales Agency Agreements (each, an "Agreement" and collectively, the "Agreements") with BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (collectively, the "Sales Agents"). Under the terms of the Agreements, Avista Corp. may offer and sell up to 3,795,199 shares of its common stock, no par value, from time to time through the Sales Agents, as Avista Corp.'s agents for the offer and sale of the shares. Unless earlier terminated, each Agreement will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the sale of all of the shares through such Agreement or (ii) February 29, 2020.

The offering of shares will be made pursuant to Avista Corp.'s registration statement previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) (File No. 333-209714), which became effective on February 25, 2016 (the "Registration Statement"). Avista Corp. filed a prospectus supplement with the SEC in connection with this offer and sale of shares.

This Current Report on Form 8-K is being filed for the purpose of filing exhibits to the Registration Statement. Such exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement.

This Current Report on Form 8-K does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy the securities described herein, and there shall not be any sale of these securities in any state or jurisdiction in which such an offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. The sale of securities is being made only by means of a prospectus and related prospectus supplement.

### Section 9 - Financial Statements and Exhibits

### Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

### (d) Exhibits

- 1.1 Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC.
- 1.2 Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC.
- 1.3 Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC.
- 1.4 Sales Agency Agreement dated as of March 2, 2016 between Avista Corp. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated.

### **SIGNATURES**

Da

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

	AVISTA CORPORATION
	(Registrant)
te: March 2, 2016	/s/ Marian M. Durkin
	Marian M. Durkin
	Senior Vice President, General Counsel
	and Chief Compliance Officer

# AVISTA CORPORATION

(a Washington corporation)

# **Common Stock**

# SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT

Dated: March 2, 2016

# **Table of Contents**

SECTION 1.	Certain Defi	nitions	<u>rage</u> 1
SECTION 1. SECTION 2.		ions and Warranties	5
SECTION 2.		tations and Warranties of the Company	5
	(i)	Compliance with Securities Law Requirements	5
	(ii)	Incorporated Documents	6
	(iii)	Independent Accountants	6
	(iv)	Financial Statements	6
	(v)	No Material Adverse Change	7
	(vi)	Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries	7
	(vii)	No Significant Subsidiaries	7
	(viii)	Capitalization	7
	(ix)	Authorization of this Agreement	8
	(x)	Authorization of the Shares	8
	(xi)	Description of the Common Stock	8
	(xii)	Registration; Listing	8
	(xiii)	Actively Traded Securities	8
	(xiv)	Absence of Defaults	8
	(xv)	No Conflict	9
	(xvi)	Absence of Proceedings	9
	(xvii)	Absence of Further Requirements	9
	(xviii)	Title to Property	10
	(xix)	Leases	10
	(xx)	Investment Company Act	10
	(xxi)	Environmental Laws	10
	(xxii)	Internal Controls	10
	(xxiii)	Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley	11
	(xxiv)	Finder's Fees	11
	(xxv)	Sanctions	11
	(xxvi)	Compliance with Money Laundering Laws	11
	(xxvii)	No Unlawful Payments	12
	(b) Officer's		12
SECTION 3.		ales of Shares	12
	(a) Initiation	of Sales Efforts	12
	(b) Manner of Offer and Sales		12
	(c) Sales Price		12
	(d) Confirmation of Sales		13
	(e) Settlement of Sales		13
	(f) Suspension of Sales		13
	(g) Proprietary Trading by the Sales Agent		13
	(h) Limitations		14
SECTION 4.	Covenants		14
	(a) Preparation and Filing of the Prospectus		14
		·	
		i	

	(b) Review of Amendments and Supplements	14
	(c) Free Writing Prospectuses	14
	(d) Notification of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.	15
	(e) Delivery of Registration Statements	15
	(f) Delivery of Prospectuses	15
	(g) Continued Compliance with Securities Laws	15
	(h) Blue Sky Qualifications	
	(i) Rule 158	16
	(j) Filing Fees	16
	(k) Use of Proceeds	
	(1) Restriction on Sale of Shares	17
	(m) Maximum Number	17
	(n) Regulation M	17
	(o) Diligence Cooperation	17
SECTION 5.	Payment of Expenses	17
	(a) Expenses Payable by the Company	17
	(b) Expenses Payable by the Sales Agent	18
	(c) Expenses Upon Termination	18
SECTION 6.	Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement	18
	(a) Conditions	18
	(i) No Stop Order; Commission Filings	18
	(ii) Opinions of Counsel for the Company	19
	(iii) Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent	19
	(iv) No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate	19
	(v) Accountant's Comfort Letter	19
	(vi) Additional Conditions	20
	(vii) Additional Documents	20
	(viii) Additional Conditions for "Distributions"	20
	(b) Termination of Agreement	20
	(c) Increase of Maximum Number	20
SECTION 7.	Indemnification	21
	(a) Indemnification of the Sales Agent	21
	(b) Indemnification of the Company	22
	(c) Actions against Parties; Notification	22
SECTION 8.	Contribution	22
SECTION 9.	Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive	23
SECTION 10.	Termination of Agreement	24
	(a) Termination by the Sales Agent	24
	(b) Termination by the Company	24
	(c) Liabilities	24
SECTION 11.	Notices	25

	(a) General	25
	(b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales	25
SECTION 12.	Parties in Interest	25
SECTION 13.	No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship	25
SECTION 14.	Governing Law and Time	26
SECTION 15.	Waiver of Jury Trial	26
SECTION 16.	Counterparts	26
SECTION 17.	Entire Agreement	26
SECTION 18.	Effect of Headings	26
SECTION 19.	No Assignment	26
SECTION 20.	Severability	27
SCHEDULES		
Schedule A	Contact Persons	Sch A
EXHIBITS		
Exhibit A	Form of Sales Notice	A-1
	iii	

### **AVISTA CORPORATION**

(a Washington corporation)

Common Stock

# **SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT**

March 2, 2016

BNY MELLON CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 101 Barclay St., 3W New York, NY 10286

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Avista Corporation, a Washington corporation (the "Company"), confirms its agreement (the "Agreement") with BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC (the "Sales Agent"), whereby the Company, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, may from time to time offer shares ("Shares") of its Common Stock, without nominal or par value ("Common Stock"), and the Sales Agent, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and the Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The Company may enter into one or more agreements substantially identical to this Agreement (each an "Other Agreement") with other investment banking firms as sales agents (each an "Other Sales Agent") whereby, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and therein, the Company may from time to time offer Shares and the Other Sales Agent party thereto, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and such Other Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The maximum number of Shares that the Company may issue and sell under this Agreement and all the Other Agreements, collectively, is the Maximum Number (as hereinafter defined).

On February 25, 2016, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") a registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), for the registration of securities, including the Shares, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act"), and the offer and sale thereof from time to time in accordance with Rule 415 of the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1933 Act (the "1933 Act Regulations").

# SECTION 1. Certain Definitions

When used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

- "Accounting Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(I).
- "Agreements and Instruments" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xiv).
- "Applicable Time" means the time of each sale of Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

"Base Prospectus" means the base prospectus relating to the Shares filed as part of the Registration Statement, in the form in which it has been most recently filed with the Commission prior to the Closing Time.

- "Closing Time" means the time and date of the execution and delivery of this Agreement.
- "Commercially Reasonable Efforts" means, with respect to the obligation of the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares, commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and in compliance with applicable law.
  - "Commission" has the meaning forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Commitment Period" means the period commencing on March 2, 2016 and expiring on the earliest to occur of (a) the first date on which the Maximum Number of Shares shall have been sold under this Agreement and/or the Other Agreements, (b) the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 6 or Section 10 and (c) February 29, 2020.
  - "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "Company" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Designated Subsidiary" means each of Avista Capital, Inc., Alaska Energy and Resources Company and Alaska Electric Light and Power Company.
  - "Disclosure Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Disclosure Package" means, collectively, (i) the Prospectus as of any particular time and (ii) any other Issuer Free Writing Prospectus relating to the offer and sale of the Shares (to the extent not superseded or modified by the Prospectus or by a subsequent Issuer Free Writing Prospectus).
  - "EDGAR" has the meaning set forth below in this Section 1.
- "Effective Time" means the date and time of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement for purposes of paragraph (f)(2) of Rule 430B of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 430B"), as applied to the Sales Agent.
- "Floor Price" means the minimum Sales Price set by the Company in a Sales Notice for any Selling Period, as such Sales Notice may be amended from time to time during such Selling Period. The Floor Price may, in addition to setting an absolute minimum dollar amount per Share, also be limited by reference to recent or prevailing market prices.
  - "Initiation Date" means each date of delivery of a Sales Notice pursuant to Section 3(a).
  - "Internal Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Issuer Free Writing Prospectus" means any "issuer free writing prospectus" (as defined by Rule 433 of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 433")) with respect to the Shares.
  - "Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xviii).
  - "Material Adverse Change" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(v).
  - "Material Adverse Effect" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(vi).
  - "Maximum Number" means 3,795,199 or such higher number as shall be established pursuant to Section 6(c).

"Net Proceeds", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the aggregate Sales Prices for such Shares less the Selling Commission in respect of the sale of such Shares (but before other expenses).

"NYSE" means the New York Stock Exchange.

"Other Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Other Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Primary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii).

"Prospectus" means, as of any particular time, the Base Prospectus, as supplemented by the final prospectus supplement relating to the offer and sale of the Shares, as filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), together with any further supplements or amendments thereto at such time.

"PUC Orders" has the meaning forth in Section 2(a)(xvii).

"Registration Statement" means, as of any particular time, the Company's registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), including (a) any amendments thereto at such time, (b) the exhibits and schedules thereto at such time (other than the Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1) and (c) any prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) that, in accordance with Rule 430B, is deemed to be a part thereof; provided, however, that, if a new registration statement shall have been filed and shall have become effective on or about the third anniversary of the initial effective date of registration statement No. 333-209714, the term "Registration Statement" shall mean, at and after the time of the effectiveness of such new registration statement, such new registration statement, including amendments, exhibits and any prospectus as aforesaid.

"Regulation S-T" means Regulation S-T of the Commission.

"Repayment Event" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xv).

"Representation Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).

"Rule 405" means Rule 405 of the 1933 Act Regulations.

"Rule 424(b)" means Rule 424(b) of the 1933 Act Regulations.

"Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Sales Notice" means a written notice, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, executed by an individual named in Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company and delivered to the Sales Agent in accordance with this Agreement. Any Sales Notice may be amended by the Company and the Sales Agent and, from and after the time of such amendment, the term "Sales Notice" shall mean the original Sales Notice as amended. Any Sales Notice or amendment to a Sales Notice shall be deemed acceptable to the Sales Agent unless the Sales Agent shall promptly notify the Company to the contrary. Each Sales Notice shall be delivered, and may be amended, by facsimile transmission, email or other customary means of electronic communication.

"Sales Price", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the price per Share paid to the Sales Agent for such Shares.

- "Secondary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii)(B).
- "Selling Commission", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the commission, discount or other compensation to be received by the Sales Agent in connection with the sale of such Shares.
- "Selling Period" means a period of one to 20 consecutive Trading Days specified by the Company in a Sales Notice, commencing no earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the Trading Day on which such Sales Notice is delivered to the Sales Agent.
- "Settlement Date" means, with respect to the sale of any Shares, the third business day following the Trading Day on which an offer to sell such Shares was accepted.
  - "Shares" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Terms Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Sales Agent that relates to the issuance and sale by the Company, and the purchase by the Sales Agent as principal (and not as agent), of a specific number of Shares and otherwise incorporates the terms and provisions of, and is deemed a part of, this Agreement.
- "Trading Day" means any day on which the NYSE is open for trading (other than a day on which trading is scheduled to close prior to its regular weekday closing time).
  - "1933 Act" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1933 Act Regulations" has meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1934 Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
  - "1934 Act Regulations" means the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1934 Act.

The foregoing definitions are subject to the following qualifications:

- (a) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to any of the financial statements, schedules or other information that is "contained", "included" or "stated" (or other words of like import) therein shall be deemed to include the information contained in documents filed with the Commission under the 1934 Act that (i) are incorporated, or deemed incorporated, therein by reference pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act, to the extent such information has not been superseded or modified in accordance with Rule 412 of the 1933 Act Regulations (as qualified by Rule 430B(g) of the 1933 Act Regulations) and (ii)(A) in the case of references to the "Registration Statement", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the Effective Time and (B) in the case of references to the "Prospectus", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the date thereof;
- (b) all references in this Agreement to an amendment to the Registration Statement shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act;
- (c) all references in this Agreement to an amendment or supplement to the Prospectus shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act; and

(d) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to include the copy filed with the Commission pursuant to its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system ("EDGAR").

### SECTION 2. Representations and Warranties.

(a) Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to the Sales Agent as of the Closing Time, each Initiation Date, each Trading Day and each Applicable Time within each Selling Period, each Settlement Date, each date as of which the Registration Statement shall be amended and each date as of which the Prospectus shall be amended or supplemented (each such date a "Representation Date") as follows:

### (i) Compliance with Securities Law Requirements.

- (A) <u>Well-Known Seasoned Issuer Status</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission, at all relevant determination dates, and at the date hereof, the Company was and is a "well-known seasoned issuer" (as defined in Rule 405).
- (B) <u>Eligibility to Use Form S-3</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission and at the time of the most recent amendment, if any, to the Registration Statement for purposes of complying with Section 10(a)(3) of the 1933 Act, the Company met the requirements for use of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act.
- ( C ) <u>Status and Content of the Registration Statement.</u> The Registration Statement became effective automatically upon the filing thereof with the Commission under the 1933 Act. No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued under the 1933 Act and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted by the Commission or are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, have been threatened or are contemplated by the Commission, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information with respect to the Registration Statement has been complied with. At the time the Registration Statement became effective, and at the Effective Time, the Registration Statement complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations. At the Effective Time, the Registration Statement did not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
- (D) <u>Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses</u>. At the earliest time after the filing of the Registration Statement that the Company or another offering participant made a bona fide offer (within the meaning of Rule 164(h)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations) of the Shares, the Company was not an "ineligible issuer" as defined in Rule 405. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, at the time it was filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 433 or, if it was not required to be so filed, at the time of each use thereof (i) did not include any information that conflicts with (A) information contained in the Registration Statement, including any prospectus or prospectus supplement that is part of the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, or (B) information contained in the Company's periodic and current reports filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act that are incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, and (ii)

complied in all other respects with the requirements of Rule 164 and Rule 433 (without reliance on subsections (b), (c) and (d) of Rule 164 of the 1933 Act Regulations). No order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus has been issued by the Commission.

- (E) <u>Content of the Disclosure Package</u>. The Disclosure Package, at the Closing Time and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (F) Status and Content of the Prospectus. The Prospectus, at the Closing Time, as of its date and at the time it is filed with the Commission and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations and, as of such respective dates, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Prospectus delivered to the Sales Agent in connection with the offering of the Shares, and any amendment or supplement thereto, will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table will be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (G) <u>Description and Filing of Contracts and Documents</u>. All contracts or documents that are required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement have been so described and filed as required.

The representations and warranties in this subsection (a)(i) shall not apply to any statements in or omissions from the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished to the Company in writing by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.

- (ii) <u>Incorporated Documents</u>. The documents incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, at the time they were or hereafter are filed with the Commission, complied or will comply, as applicable, in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and, when filed did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (iii) <u>Independent Accountants</u>. The accountants who audited the financial statements and financial statement schedules included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus are independent registered public accountants within the meaning of Regulation S-X of the Commission.
- (iv) <u>Financial Statements</u>. The financial statements, together with the respective schedules and notes relating thereto, included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, present fairly the financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries at the dates indicated and the results of operations and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the periods specified; such financial statements

have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved, except as otherwise stated therein. The selected financial data and the summary financial information included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus present fairly the information shown therein and have been compiled on a basis consistent with that of the audited financial statements included in the Registration Statement. The financial statements and other financial data included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus comply in all material respects with the requirements of paragraph (e) of Item 10 of Regulation S-K. The interactive data in eXtensible Business Reporting Language filed as exhibits to the documents incorporated by reference or deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement and the Prospectus fairly presents the information called for in all material respects and has been prepared in accordance with the Commission's rules and guidelines applicable thereto. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any off-balance sheet arrangements of the character contemplated by Item 303 of Regulation S-K or otherwise by Section 13G of the 1934 Act, or has any other contingent obligation or liability, which, in any case, is material, or is reasonably likely to be material, to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries considered as one enterprise.

- (v) <u>No Material Adverse Change</u>. Since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, there has been no material adverse change, or any development that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse change, in the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such change or development, a "Material Adverse Change").
- (vi) Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries. Each of the Company and each of the Designated Subsidiaries has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the corporate power and authority to own or lease and operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, and the Company has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Other Agreements; and the Company is duly qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is required, whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of business, except where the failure so to qualify or to be in good standing would not have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such effect, a "Material Adverse Effect").
- (vii) <u>No Significant Subsidiaries</u>. The Company has no "significant subsidiaries" as defined in Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X.
- (viii) <u>Capitalization</u>. The authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company is as set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus. All of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Designated Subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of any Liens.

- (ix) <u>Authorization of this Agreement</u>. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.
- (x) Authorization of the Shares. The Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and, when issued and delivered by the Company pursuant to this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements against payment of the consideration contemplated herein or therein, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable; no holder of the Shares will be subject to personal liability in respect of liabilities of the Company solely by reason of being a holder of the Shares; and the issuance of the Shares is not subject to the preemptive or other similar rights of any securityholder of the Company. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no outstanding options, warrants, conversion rights, subscription rights, rights of first refusal or other rights or agreements of any nature outstanding to subscribe for or to purchase any shares of Common Stock of the Company binding on the Company (except pursuant to dividend reinvestment, stock purchase or ownership, stock option or other director or employee benefit plans), and there are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company containing anti-dilution or similar provisions that will be triggered by the issuance of the Shares as described in this Agreement or the Other Agreements. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no restrictions upon the voting or transfer of any shares of the Company's Common Stock pursuant to the Company's Restated Articles of Incorporation or By-laws. There are no agreements or other obligations (contingent or otherwise) that may require the Company to repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of its Common Stock. No person or entity has the right, contractual or otherwise, to cause the Company to issue to it, or to register pursuant to the 1933 Act, any shares of Common Stock upon the filing of the Registration Statement or the issuance or sale of the Shares hereunder. Immediately after any sale of Shares by the Company under this Agreement and the Other Agreements, the aggregate number of Shares that have been issued and sold by the Company hereunder and thereunder will not exceed the aggregate amount of Common Stock (A) registered and available under the Registration Statement or (B) that shall be authorized by the PUC Orders from time to time.
- (x i) <u>Description of the Common Stock</u>. The description of the Common Stock in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus is accurate in all material respects.
- (xii) <u>Registration; Listing</u>. The Common Stock is registered as a class under Section 12(b) of the 1934 Act. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are listed, and the Shares are authorized for listing (subject to official notice of issuance), on the NYSE.
- (xiii) <u>Actively Traded Securities</u>. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are "actively traded securities" excepted from the provisions of Rule 101 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations by virtue of subsection (c)(1) of such rule.
- (xiv) Absence of Defaults. Neither the Company nor any Designated Subsidiary is in violation of its articles of incorporation or by-laws or in default in the performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any contract, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement, note, lease or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is a party or by which it or such Designated Subsidiary may be bound, or to which any of the property or assets of the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is subject (collectively, "Agreements and Instruments") except for such defaults as, singly or in the aggregate, would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

- (xv) No Conflict. The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Other Agreements and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated herein and therein (including the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares and the use of the proceeds from the sale of the Shares as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus) and compliance by the Company with its obligations hereunder and under the Other Agreements, do not and will not, whether with or without the giving of notice or passage of time or both, conflict with or constitute a breach of, or default or Repayment Event (as defined below) under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any property or assets of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary pursuant to, the Agreements and Instruments (except for such conflicts, breaches, defaults or Liens as, singly or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect), nor will such action result in any violation of the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or of any statute of any jurisdiction applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any rule, regulation or order applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary of any regulatory body, administrative agency or other governmental body or any court that, in any such case, has jurisdiction over the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any of their respective assets, properties or operations. As used herein, a "Repayment Event" means any event or condition that gives the holder of any note, debenture or other evidence of indebtedness (or any person acting on such holder's behalf) the right to require the repurchase, redemption or repayment of all or a portion of such indebtedness by the Company or any Designated Subsidiary.
- (xvi) Absence of Proceedings. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or brought by any court or governmental agency or body, domestic or foreign, now pending, or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, against or affecting the Company or any of its subsidiaries, that (A) is required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus and is not disclosed as required, (B) could materially and adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements or the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder or thereunder or (C) except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and the aggregate of all pending legal or governmental proceedings to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any of their respective properties or assets is the subject that are not described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, including ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xvii) Absence of Further Requirements. The Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (the "WUTC"), the Idaho Public Utilities Commission (the "IPUC") and the Public Utility Commission of Oregon (the "OPUC") have issued orders authorizing the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares on the terms contemplated in this Agreement and the Other Agreements; the Montana Public Service Commission (the "MPSC") has issued an order disclaiming jurisdiction over the issuance of securities and the creation of liens by the Company pursuant to, and on the terms set forth in such order (such order, collectively with the aforesaid orders of the WUTC, the IPUC and the OPUC, being hereinafter called the "PUC Orders"); the PUC Orders are in full force and effect as of the date hereof; and, except for informational filings required under the PUC Orders, no further consent, approval or authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any regulatory or other governmental body or agency is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Other Agreements or the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares.
- (xviii) <u>Title to Property</u>. The Company and each of its Designated Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to all real property owned by them and good title to all other property owned

by them, in each case subject only to such mortgages, pledges, security interests, claims and other liens and encumbrances (collectively "Liens") and such exceptions, defects and qualifications as (A) are described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (B) would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

- (xix) <u>Leases</u>. All of the leases and subleases material to the business of the Company and its Designated Subsidiaries, considered as one enterprise, and under which the Company or any of such subsidiaries holds properties, described in or required to be described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus are in full force and effect, and the Company has no notice of any claim of any sort asserted by anyone adverse to the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries under any of such leases or subleases, or affecting or questioning the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries to the continued possession of the premises leased or subleased thereunder, that would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xx) <u>Investment Company Act</u>. The Company is not, and upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as contemplated herein and in the Other Agreements and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus will not be, an "investment company" or an entity "controlled" by an "investment company" as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- (xxi) Environmental Laws. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of the Designated Subsidiaries (A) is in violation of any statute, rule, regulation, decision or order of any governmental body or any court, domestic or foreign, relating to the use, disposal or release of hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants, to the protection or restoration of the environment or to human or animal exposure to hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that have the potential to adversely impact human or animal health (collectively, "environmental laws"), (B) owns or operates any real property contaminated with any hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that is subject to clean-up or other responsive action under any environmental laws, (C) is liable for any off-site disposal or contamination pursuant to any environmental laws, (D) is subject to any claim of violation of or liability under any environmental laws, which violation, contamination, liability or claim would individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and the Company is not aware of any pending investigation or circumstances which would reasonably be expected to lead to such a claim.
- (xxii) <u>Internal Controls</u>. (A) The Company has devised and established and maintains the following, among other, internal controls (without duplication):
  - (I) a system of "internal accounting controls" as contemplated in Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the 1934 Act (the "Accounting Controls");
  - (II) "internal control over financial reporting" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
  - (III) "disclosure controls and procedures" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the 1934 Act Regulations (the "**Disclosure Controls**" and, together with the Accounting Controls and the Reporting Controls, the "**Internal Controls**"));
  - (B) The Internal Controls are evaluated by the Company's senior management periodically as appropriate and, in any event, as required by law;

- (C) Based on the most recent evaluations of the Internal Controls:
- (I) the Internal Controls are, individually and in the aggregate, effective in all material respects to perform the functions for which they were established; and
- (II) all material weaknesses, if any, and significant deficiencies, if any, in the design or operation of the Internal Controls which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Internal Controls have been disclosed to the audit committee of the Company's board of directors and the Company's independent auditors.
- (xxiii) <u>Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley</u>. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations of the Commission that have been adopted thereunder, to the extent that such act and such rules and regulations are in effect and applicable to the Company.
- (xxiv) Finder's Fees. The Company has not incurred (directly or indirectly) nor will it incur, directly or indirectly, any liability for any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or other similar fee, charge or commission in connection with this Agreement or the Other Agreements, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except as set forth in or contemplated by this Agreement and the Other Agreements.
- (xxv) Sanctions. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is currently the subject or the target of any sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or any other applicable sanctions laws or regulations ("Sanctions"), nor is the Company or any of its subsidiaries located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is the subject or the target of Sanctions, including, without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan and Syria (each, a "Sanctioned Country"); and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of the offering of the Shares hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any person or entity, (A) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business with any person that, at the time of such funding or facilitation, is the subject or the target of Sanctions or (B) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business in any Sanctioned Country or (C) in any other manner that will result in a violation by any person (including any person participating in the transaction, whether as sales agent, advisor, investor or otherwise) of Sanctions.
- (xxvi) Compliance with Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, the applicable money laundering statutes of all jurisdictions in which the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries conducts business, the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines issued, administered or enforced by any governmental or regulatory agency (collectively, the "Anti-Money Laundering Laws"); and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or

governmental or regulatory agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.

- (xxvii) No Unlawful Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has violated or is in violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the "FCPA") or any other applicable anti-corruption and/or anti-bribery laws and regulations. The Company and the and its subsidiaries have instituted and maintain policies and procedures designed to promote and provide reasonable assurance as to compliance with the FCPA.
- (b) Officer's Certificates. Any certificate signed by any officer of the Company delivered to the Sales Agent or to counsel for the Sales Agent in connection with the offer and sale of the Shares shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to the Sales Agent as to the matters covered thereby.

### SECTION 3. Offers and Sales of Shares.

- (a) Initiation of Sales Efforts. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, on any Trading Day during the Commitment Period the Company may deliver to the Sales Agent a Sales Notice, and, upon the commencement of the Selling Period specified in such Sales Notice, which shall not be earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the date of receipt by the Sales Agent of such Sales Notice, the Sales Agent shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell the number of Shares specified in such Sales Notice. The Company acknowledges that there can be no assurance that the Sales Agent will be successful in selling the Shares and agrees that the Sales Agent shall incur no liability or obligation to the Company if it does not sell Shares for any reason other than a failure by the Sales Agent to use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell such Shares in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (b) Manner of Offer and Sales. (i) The offering and sale of Shares under this Agreement (other than sales to or by the Sales Agent as principal) shall be made by such methods permitted by law as the Sales Agent shall determine from time to time that are deemed to be "at-the-market offerings" within the meaning of Rule 415(a)(4) of the 1933 Act Regulations, including sales made directly on the NYSE, through an "alternative trading system" as defined in Rule 300 of Regulation ATS under the 1934 Act or any other electronic communications network or to or through a market maker; provided, however, that, if the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in writing, sales may be made in privately negotiated transactions;
- (ii) If the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in a separate Terms Agreement (it being understood and agreed that neither party is under any obligation to do so), the Company may sell Shares to the Sales Agent acting as principal, and the Sales Agent may purchase such Shares acting as principal, it being understood that, in the event of any inconsistency between the terms and provisions of this Agreement and those of the Terms Agreement, those of the Terms Agreement shall control.
- (c) Sales Price. (i) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent acting as agent in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be made at prevailing market prices per Share or, if and to the extent so specified in the related Sales Notice, at prices per Share related to prevailing market prices. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, (a) in no event shall the Sales Price for any Shares so sold be less than the Floor Price set forth in the related Sales Notice and (b) the Company shall

not establish any Floor Price that would not be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.

- (ii) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent as agent in privately negotiated transactions, and the public offering of Shares purchased by the Sales Agent acting as principal, shall be made at such Sales Prices as shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case, such agreement by the Company to be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (iii) The Selling Commission in respect of Shares sold hereunder in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be such percentage (not to exceed 2%) of the Sales Price thereof, as agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent from time to time, provided, however, that the Selling Commission in respect of all sales hereunder that (A) are made under a Terms Agreement, (B) made in a transaction that constitutes a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (C) are otherwise not At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case.
- (d) Confirmation of Sales. The Sales Agent shall deliver to the Company, not later than the opening of the Trading Day next following each Trading Day on which it makes sales of Shares hereunder, a confirmation setting forth (i) the number of Shares sold in each transaction on such Trading Day, (ii) the applicable Sales Price for each such sale of Shares, (iii) the aggregate Sales Price for each such transaction and (iv) the Net Proceeds payable to the Company for each such transaction.
- (e) Settlement of Sales. Subject to the conditions set forth in Section 6, each sale of Shares hereunder shall be settled on the Settlement Date therefor. No later than 12:00 Noon (New York City time) on the Settlement Date, the Company shall cause its transfer agent, currently Computershare Shareholder Services LLC, to electronically transfer such Shares to the Sales Agent by crediting the account of the Sales Agent or its designee or nominee at the Depository Trust Company through its Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian System, or by such other means of delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in writing. Upon notification that the Shares have been issued, Sales Agent shall deliver the total Net Proceeds for the sale of all Shares to be settled on such Settlement Date by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Company in the related Sales Notice.
- (f) Suspension of Sales. The Company or the Sales Agent may, upon notice to the other party in writing or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable facsimile transmission, e-mail or other customary means of electronic communication), suspend the offering or sale of Shares, and the Selling Period shall immediately terminate; provided, however, that such suspension and termination shall not affect or impair either party's obligations with respect to any Shares sold hereunder prior to the prompt processing of such notice of suspension.
- (g) Proprietary Trading by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent has advised the Company that during the Commitment Period the Sales Agent and/or its affiliates may purchase and sell shares of Common Stock for their respective accounts and for the accounts of their respective customers; provided, however, that (i) no such purchase or sale shall violate any provision of applicable law (including particularly but without limitation the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act or any regulation under either thereof) and (ii) no sale of shares of Common Stock shall be made by the Sales Agent for the account of the Sales Agent during any Selling Period unless (A) such sale is made pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of a Terms Agreement, (B) such sale is a sale by the Sales Agent of shares purchased, or deemed to have been purchased, from the Company as a "riskless principal" or in a similar capacity, (C) such sale is made in trading transactions in the ordinary course of business but only if neither the Company nor the

Sales Agent is in violation of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (D) the Company shall have consented thereto.

- (h) Limitations. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding:
- (i) in no event shall the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement, together with the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to the Other Agreements (as disclosed to the Sales Agent from time to time by the Company), exceed the Maximum Number (the Company hereby acknowledging and agreeing that the Sales Agent shall have no responsibility for maintaining records with respect to the aggregate number of Shares sold (other than the Shares sold under this Agreement));
- (ii) in no event shall the Sales Agent be obligated to make any offer or sale of Shares during any period in which either party has reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
- (iii) in no event shall the Company sell Shares through both the Sales Agent and any Other Sales Agent on the same Trading Day; without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in no event shall the Selling Period designated in a Sales Notice delivered to the Sales Agent include a Trading Day that is included in a selling period that is in effect under one of the Other Agreements; and each of the Other Agreements shall contain the limitations sets forth in this clause (iii).

### SECTION 4. Covenants.

- (a) Preparation and Filing of the Prospectus. The Company will prepare the Prospectus and, after affording the Sales Agent the opportunity to comment thereon, file the Prospectus with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b) not later than the Commission's close of business on the second business day following the Closing Time.
- (b) Review of Amendments and Supplements. The Company will not amend the Registration Statement, or amend or supplement the Prospectus, without providing notice to the Sales Agent at least 24 hours, or such shorter period as is reasonably required by the circumstances, prior to the filing thereof with the Commission. Except in the case of any such amendment or supplement to be made by the filing under the 1934 Act of a document that will be incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus that would be made by the Company irrespective of the offer and sale of the Shares, the Company will not effect such amendment or supplement without the consent of the Sales Agent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Neither the consent of the Sales Agent, nor the delivery of any such amendment or supplement by the Sales Agent, shall constitute a waiver of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6 hereof.

The Company will notify the Sales Agent immediately, and confirm such notice in writing, when any post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement shall have been filed or shall become effective and when any supplement to the Prospectus or any amended Prospectus shall have been filed.

(c) Free Writing Prospectuses. (i) The Company has not made and, without the consent of the Sales Agent, will not make any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" as defined by Rule 405, including an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus.

- (ii) The Sales Agent has not made, and without the consent of the Company shall not make, any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" (as defined in Rule 405) that the Company would be required to file with the Commission under Rule 433.
- (d) Notification of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.. The Company will notify the Sales Agent of (i) the receipt of any comments from the Commission with respect to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus, including any request by the Commission for any amendment, supplement or additional information with respect thereto and (ii) the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose. The Company will make every reasonable effort to prevent the issuance of any stop order and, in the event of any stop order, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (e) Delivery of Registration Statements. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent and to counsel for the Sales Agent, upon request and without charge, one conformed copy of the Registration Statement as originally filed and of each amendment thereto (including, in each case, all exhibits filed therewith or incorporated by reference). Such copies of the Registration Statement and amendments thereto so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (f) Delivery of Prospectuses. The Company will furnish to the Sales Agent, without charge, during the period when the Prospectus (or, in lieu thereof, the notice referred to in Rule 173(a) of the 1933 Act Regulations) is required to be delivered of the 1933 Act Regulations, such number of copies of the Prospectus as the Sales Agent may reasonably request. Such copies of the Prospectus so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent, without charge, as many copies of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request, and the Company hereby consents to the use of such copies by the Sales Agent for purposes of the offer and sale of the Shares in a manner consistent with the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (g) Continued Compliance with Securities Laws. (i) The Company will file all reports and other documents that it is required to file with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act within the time periods required by the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and will otherwise comply with the 1933 Act, the 1933 Act Regulations, the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations so as to permit the offer, sale and distribution of the Shares as contemplated in this Agreement and the Prospectus; provided, however, that the Company may assume that the distribution of the Shares issued on any Settlement Date has been completed on the business day following such Settlement Date unless the Sales Agent shall have provided written notice to the contrary.
- (ii) During the distribution of the Shares, the Company will notify the Sales Agent promptly if (A) any filing is made by the Company of information relating to the offering of the Shares with any securities exchange or any other regulatory body in the United States or any other jurisdiction or (B) a Material Adverse Change shall have occurred that is not disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (C) any other event shall have occurred that causes (x) the Registration Statement to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or (y) the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

- (iii) Upon any notification pursuant to clause (ii)(B) or (C) above, or if at any time an event shall occur or other circumstances shall exist as a result of which it is necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Company or of the Sales Agent, (A) to amend the Registration Statement in order that it shall not, as of the Effective Time, include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations or (B) to amend or supplement the Prospectus in order that it shall not, as of any Initiation Date, any Applicable Time within any Selling Period or any Settlement Date, contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances existing at such time, not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations,
  - (A) the Company will promptly prepare and file with the Commission, subject to Section 4(b), such amendment or supplement as may be necessary to correct such statement or omission or to make the Registration Statement or the Prospectus comply with such requirements, and the Company will furnish to the Sales Agent such number of copies of such amendment or supplement as the Sales Agent may reasonably request;
  - (B) the Company shall not deliver to the Sales Agent any Sales Notice until such statement or omission is corrected; and
  - (C) if such time shall be during a Selling Period specified in a Sales Notice theretofore delivered to the Sales Agent, the Company shall promptly, by telephone (confirmed by electronic mail), cancel such Sales Notice and direct the Sales Agent to cease selling Shares and making offers for such sales.
- (h) Blue Sky Qualifications. The Company will use its best efforts, in cooperation with the Sales Agent, to take such action, if any, as may be required to qualify the Shares for offering and sale under the applicable securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions as the Sales Agent may reasonably designate and to maintain such qualifications in effect as long as required for the distribution of the Shares; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to file any general consent to service of process or to qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in which it is not so qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business in any jurisdiction in which it is not otherwise so subject. In the event that the Company becomes aware of the suspension of the qualification of the Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the initiation or threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes, the Company will so notify the Sales Agent and will cooperate with the Sales Agent to endeavor to prevent any such suspension and, in the event of any such suspension, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (i) Rule 158. The Company will timely file such reports pursuant to the 1934 Act as are necessary in order to make generally available to its securityholders as soon as practicable an earnings statement for the purposes of, and to provide the benefits contemplated by, the last paragraph of Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act and Rule 158 thereunder (which earnings statement need not be audited unless required so to be under Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act).
- (j) Filing Fees. The Company agrees to pay the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time required by Rule 456(b)(1) of the 1933 Act Regulations and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (k) Use of Proceeds. The Company will use the Net Proceeds received by it from the sale of the Shares in the manner specified in the Prospectus under "Use of Proceeds".

- (1) Restriction on Sale of Shares. The Company will not (A) at any time during any Selling Period without the prior written consent of the Sales Agent or (B) at any time during the term of this Agreement without giving the Sales Agent at least three Trading Days' prior written notice specifying the nature and timing of the proposed sale, directly or indirectly, offer to sell, contract to sell, sell, grant any option to buy or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock or warrants or rights to purchase or acquire shares of Common Stock. The foregoing restrictions shall not restrict the Company's issuance or sale of (i) shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement or the Other Sales Agreements, (ii) shares of Common Stock, options to purchase shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options, in any case pursuant to any employee or director stock option or benefit plan, stock purchase or ownership plan or dividend reinvestment plan of the Company, (iii) shares of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (iv) shares of Common Stock issuable as consideration in connection with acquisitions of business, assets or securities of other entities by merger or otherwise.
- (m) Maximum Number. The Company will promptly notify the Sales Agent and each of the Other Sales Agents when the Maximum Number of Shares has been sold.
- (n) Regulation M. If either the Company or the Sales Agent shall have reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, it shall promptly notify the other party and the Sales Agent may suspend sales of Shares under this Agreement or any Terms Agreement until, in the judgment of each party, the Common Stock is such an excepted security.
- (o) Diligence Cooperation. The Company shall reasonably cooperate with any reasonable due diligence review requested by the Sales Agent or its counsel from time to time in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or any Terms Agreement, including, without limitation, on or about each Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, providing information and making available appropriate documents and appropriate corporate officers of the Company and, upon reasonable request, representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

### SECTION 5. Payment of Expenses.

(a) Expenses Payable by the Company. The Company will pay all expenses incident to the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, including (i) the preparation, printing and filing of the Registration Statement (including financial statements and exhibits) as originally filed and of each amendment thereto, (ii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of this Agreement and such other documents as may be required in connection with the offering, purchase, sale, issuance or delivery of the Shares, (iii) the preparation, issuance and delivery of the certificate or certificates for the Shares, (iv) the fees and disbursements of the Company's counsel, accountants and other advisors, (v) the qualification of the Shares under securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 4(h) hereof, (vi) the printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and of the Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto, (vii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of any Blue Sky survey and any supplement thereto, (viii) the costs and expenses of the Company relating to investor presentations on any "road show" undertaken in connection with the marketing of the Shares, including without limitation, expenses associated with the production of road show slides and graphics, fees and expenses of any consultants engaged in connection with the road show presentations, travel and lodging expenses of the Sales Agent and officers of the Company and any such consultants, and the cost of aircraft and other transportation chartered in connection with the road show and (ix) the reasonable documented out-of-pocket expenses of the Sales Agent, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the Sales Agent, in connection with the negotiation,

execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations hereunder during the Commitment Period, it being understood that the Company shall be required to pay the fees and disbursements of only one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents.

- (b) Expenses Payable by the Sales Agent. Except as provided in subsection (a) above and subsection (c) below, the Sales Agent will pay all of its expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the fees and disbursements of any counsel for the Sales Agent (other than the one counsel for the Sales Agent and Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection (a)(ix) above).
- (c) Expenses Upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated by the Sales Agent in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 or Section 10(a)(i) hereof, the Company shall reimburse the Sales Agent for all of its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of the one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection a(ix) above.

### SECTION 6. Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Conditions. The obligations of the Sales Agent hereunder are subject to the accuracy, as of the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2(a) hereof and in all certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to the provisions hereof, to the performance by the Company of its covenants and other obligations hereunder to be performed at or prior to the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, and to the following further conditions:
  - ( i ) No Stop Order; Commission Filings. At the Closing Time and each subsequent Representation Date, the Registration Statement shall remain effective and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued under the 1933 Act or proceedings therefor initiated or threatened by the Commission and the Company shall not have received from the Commission any notice pursuant to Rule 401(g)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations objecting to use of the automatic shelf registration statement form, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information shall have been complied with to the reasonable satisfaction of counsel to the Sales Agent; the Prospectus shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b); any material required to be filed by the Company pursuant to Rule 433(d), shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with the applicable time period prescribed for such filing under Rule 433; and the Company shall have paid the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time period required by Rule 456(b)(l)(i) of the 1933 Act Regulations without regard to the proviso therein and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations and, if applicable, shall have updated the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in accordance with Rule 456(b)(1)(ii) of the 1933 Act Regulations either in a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or on the cover page of a prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b).
  - (ii) Opinions of Counsel for the Company. (A) At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall amend the Registration Statement and/or amend or supplement the Prospectus (in each case other than by means of the incorporation by reference of documents filed with the Commission) or the date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K (each such date being herein called a "**Primary Delivery Date**"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Marian M. Durkin, Esq., Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief

Compliance Officer of the Company, and Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP, counsel for the Company, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively.

- (B) Within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall file a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K (except to the extent that any such Current Report "furnishes" rather than "files" the information provided therein), and at any other time reasonably requested by the Sales Agent (each of such dates being herein called a "Secondary Delivery Date"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of counsel referred to in clause (A) above, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively; provided, however, that such counsel may deliver, in lieu of such opinions, a reliance letter to the effect that the Sales Agent may rely on the opinion delivered on the next preceding Primary Delivery Date to the same extent as if it were dated the date of such letter (except that the statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed to relate to the Registration Statement as amended and the Prospectus as amended and/or supplemented as of such Secondary Delivery Date).
- (iii) Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent. At the Closing Time and each other Primary Delivery Date, Secondary Delivery Date relating to a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and, if and to the extent reasonably requested by the Sales Agent, each other Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received the opinion, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, counsel for the Sales Agent, as to such matters as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request. In giving such opinion such counsel may rely, as to all matters governed by the laws of jurisdictions other than the law of the State of New York and the federal law of the United States upon the opinions of counsel to the Company. Such counsel may also state that, insofar as such opinion involves factual matters, they have relied, to the extent they deem proper, upon certificates of officers of the Company and certificates of public officials.
- (iv) No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate. (A) At the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, there shall not have been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, any Material Adverse Change and (B) at the Closing Time and at each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received a certificate of the President or a Vice President of the Company and of the chief financial or chief accounting officer of the Company, dated the date of delivery thereof, to the effect that (I) there has been no such Material Adverse Change, (II) the representations and warranties in Section 2(a) hereof are true and correct with the same force and effect as though expressly made at and as of such date, (III) the Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part required by this Agreement to be performed or satisfied at or prior to such date, and (IV) no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted or are pending or, to the knowledge of the signers, contemplated by the Commission.
- (v) Accountant's Comfort Letter. At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after each date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K, a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K that contains financial statements of the Company (other than any Current Report on Form 8-K that is "furnished" to and not "filed" with the Commission), the Sales Agent shall have received from Deloitte & Touche LLP a letter dated the date of delivery thereof, in form and scope consistent with the internal guidelines of such firm for the delivery of comfort letters and, in any event, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Sales Agent, containing statements and information of the type customarily included in accountants' "comfort letters" to underwriters with respect to the

financial statements of, and certain financial information relating to, the Company contained in the Registration Statement, Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.

- (vi) Additional Conditions. At the Closing Time and on each other Representation Date, none of the events enumerated in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Section 10(a) shall have occurred.
- (vii) Additional Documents. At the Closing Time and on each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent shall have been furnished with such additional documents and opinions as they may reasonably require for the purpose of enabling such counsel to pass upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated, or in order to evidence the accuracy of any of the representations or warranties, or the fulfillment of any of the conditions, herein contained; and all proceedings taken by the Company in connection with the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent. For the avoidance of doubt, it is understood and agreed that the Sales Agent shall not have any obligation to offer or sell any Shares during the period commencing on any Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, through the date on which all deliverables triggered by such Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, have been satisfactorily delivered to the Sales Agent.
- (viii) Additional Conditions for "Distributions". If the Company shall direct the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares in a transaction that would constitute a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, the Company will provide the Sales Agent: (A) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, the opinions of counsel and officers' certificates pursuant to Sections 6(a)(ii), (iii) and (iv) hereof, each dated such Settlement Date, (B) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, a customary "bringdown" comfort letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP and (C) such other documents and information as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request.
- (b) Termination of Agreement. If any condition specified in this Section shall not have been fulfilled when and as required to be fulfilled and shall not be waived by the Sales Agent, this Agreement may be terminated by the Sales Agent by notice to the Company, and such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party, except as provided in Section 5 and except that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive any such termination and remain in full force and effect.
- (c) Increase of Maximum Number. The Company may at any time increase the Maximum Number to any number by delivering to the Sales Agent:
  - (i) a notice executed by the President or a Senior Vice President of the Company stating that the Maximum Number shall be increased to the number specified in such notice;
  - (ii) a certificate signed by the individuals specified in Section 6(a)(iv) to the effect that the representations and warranties in Section 2(a)(x) and 2(a)(xvii) are true and correct with respect to the Maximum Number as to be increased;

- (iii) a certificate signed by the individuals and to the effect specified in Section 6(a)(iv), with the proposed Maximum Number being substituted for the existing Maximum Number;
- (iv) opinions of counsel for the Company, as specified in Section 6(a)(ii), reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased:
  - (v) a revised Prospectus reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased; and
- (vi) such additional documents as shall be reasonably required by the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent for purposes analogous to those specified in Section 6(a)(vi).

Upon the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, the Maximum Number shall be increased as specified, without further act, for all purposes of this Agreement.

## SECTION 7. Indemnification.

- (a) Indemnification of the Sales Agent. The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless the Sales Agent, its affiliates, directors and officers and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent, within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act as follows:
  - (i) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, (A) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (B) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
  - (ii) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or of any claim whatsoever based upon any untrue statement or omission of a material fact, or any alleged untrue statement or omission of a material fact, in either case of the nature described in clause (i) above; provided that any such settlement is effected with the written consent of the Company; and
  - (iii) against any and all expense whatsoever, as incurred (including the fees and disbursements of counsel chosen by the Sales Agent), reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue statement or omission, to the extent that any such expense is not paid under (i) or (ii) above;

provided, however, that this Section 7 shall not apply to any loss, liability, claim, damage or expense to the extent arising out of any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent

expressly for use in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto).

- (b) Indemnification of the Company. The Sales Agent shall indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors and officers, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense described in subsection (a) of this Section, as incurred, but only with respect to untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, or alleged untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, made in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto) or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.
- (c) Actions against Parties; Notification. Each indemnified party shall give notice as promptly as reasonably practicable to each indemnifying party of any action commenced against it in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, but failure to so notify an indemnifying party shall not relieve such indemnifying party from any liability hereunder to the extent it is not materially prejudiced as a result thereof and in any event shall not relieve it from any liability which it may have otherwise than on account of this Section 7. In the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(a), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Sales Agent, and, in the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(b), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Company. An indemnifying party may participate at its own expense in the defense of any such action; provided, however, that counsel to the indemnifying party shall not (except with the consent of the indemnified party) also be counsel to the indemnified party. In no event shall the indemnifying parties be liable for fees and expenses of more than one counsel (in addition to any local counsel) separate from their own counsel for all indemnified parties in connection with any one action or separate but similar or related actions in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the indemnified parties, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever in respect of which indemnification could be sought under this Section 7 or contribution could be sought under Section 8 hereof (whether or not the indemnified parties are actual or potential parties thereto), unless such settlement, compromise or consent (i) includes an unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability arising out of such litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

# SECTION 8. Contribution.

If the indemnification provided for in Section 7 hereof is for any reason unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party in respect of any losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses referred to therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the aggregate amount of such losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by such indemnified party, (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and of the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations.

The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed to be in the same respective proportions as the total net proceeds from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement (after the Sales Agent's commission or discount, but before expenses) received by the Company and the total commissions and/or discounts received by the Sales Agent, bear to the aggregate public offering price of the Shares.

The relative fault of the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or by the Sales Agent and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

The Company and the Sales Agent agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 8 were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above in this Section 8. The aggregate amount of losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by an indemnified party and referred to above in this Section 8 shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission of a material fact.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 8, the Sales Agent shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total amount in respect of commissions or underwriting discounts received by the Sales Agent pursuant to this Agreement exceeds the amount of any damages which the Sales Agent has otherwise been required to pay by reason of any such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission.

No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the 1933 Act) with respect to the offering of Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

For purposes of this Section 8, each affiliate, director and officer of the Sales Agent and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Sales Agent, and each director of the Company, each officer of the Company, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Company.

## SECTION 9. Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive.

All of the respective representations, warranties and agreements of the Company and the Sales Agent contained in this Agreement, or in certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to this Agreement, shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Sales Agent or controlling person of the Sales Agent, or by or on behalf of the Company, or any director, officer or controlling person of the Company, and shall survive delivery of and payment for the Shares.

#### SECTION 10. Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Termination by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement, at any time
- (i) if there has been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus any Material Adverse Change, or
- (ii) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or liquidation proceedings or other proceedings for relief under any other law for the relief of debtors shall have been instituted by or against the Company or any Designated Subsidiary, or
- (iii) the Company or any Designated Subsidiary shall have made an assignment for the benefit of creditors or shall have applied to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for such entity or for all or substantially all of its property or business, or such a receiver or trustee shall otherwise have been appointed, or
  - (iv) the Common Stock shall no longer be listed on the NYSE, or
- (v) if there has occurred any material adverse change in the financial markets in the United States or in the international financial markets, any outbreak of hostilities or escalation thereof or other calamity or crisis or any change or development involving a prospective change in national or international political, financial or economic conditions, in each case the effect of which is such as to make it, in the judgment of the Sales Agent, impracticable or inadvisable to offer, sell or deliver the Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Shares, or
- (vi) if trading in the Common Stock has been suspended or materially limited by the Commission or the New York Stock Exchange, or if trading generally on the New York Stock Exchange or the NYSE MKT. or in the NASDAQ Global Market or the NASDAQ Global Select Market has been suspended or materially limited, or minimum or maximum prices for trading have been fixed, or maximum ranges for prices have been required, by either of such exchanges or Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. with respect to such markets or by order of the Commission or any other governmental authority, or
- (vii) a material disruption has occurred in commercial banking or securities settlement or clearance services in the United States, or
  - (viii) if a banking moratorium has been declared by either federal or New York authorities.

The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement for any other reason, upon ten days' advance notice to the Company.

- (b) Termination by the Company. The Company may terminate this Agreement at any time, upon one Trading Day's advance notice to the Sales Agent.
- (c) Liabilities. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section, such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except as provided in Section 5 hereof; and provided, further, that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive such termination and remain in full force and effect.

# SECTION 11. Notices.

- (a) General. Except as hereinafter provided, all notices, requests and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if received by mail, electronic mail or transmitted by any standard form of telecommunication to the addresses set forth in this section or to such other address as such party shall have specified most recently by written notice. Notices to the Sales Agent shall be directed to it at BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC, Equity Capital Markets, 101 Barclay Street, 3W, New York, New York 10286, attention: Daniel C. de Menocal, Fax No. (212) 815-6403, with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to: BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC, Legal Dept., 101 Barclay Street, 3W, New York, New York 10286, attention: Michael Okon, Fax No. (212) 313-0040; BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC, Operations Department, 101 Barclay Street, 3W, New York 10286, Fax No. (724) 540-6311; and Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, Two International Place, Boston, MA 02110, attention: Andrew J. Hickey, Esq., Fax No. (617) 248-4000; and notices to the Company shall be directed to it at 1411 East Mission Avenue, Spokane, Washington 99202, attention: Treasurer, Fax No. (509) 777-5864, e-mail: Treasury@avistacorp.com.
- (b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales. All Sales Notices shall be executed by an individual named on Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company, and shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Any comments by the Sales Agent on any Sales Notice shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Company listed on Schedule A hereto. All notices and other correspondence to and from the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares or suspension of sales of Shares shall be delivered to the personnel of the Company and the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Either party may update its personnel listed on Schedule A by written notice to the other party.

#### SECTION 12. Parties in Interest.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors. Nothing expressed in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any person, firm or corporation, other than the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors and the controlling persons and officers and directors referred to in Sections 7 and 8 and their heirs and legal representatives, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Agreement or any provision herein contained. This Agreement and all conditions and provisions hereof are intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors, and said controlling persons and officers and directors and their heirs and legal representatives, and for the benefit of no other person, firm or corporation. No purchaser of Shares from the Sales Agent shall be deemed to be a successor by reason merely of such purchase.

# SECTION 13. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship.

The Company acknowledges and agrees that (a) the offering and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement, including the determination of the public offering price of the Shares and any related commissions and discounts, is an arm's-length commercial transaction between the Company, on the one hand, and the Sales Agent, on the other hand, (b) in connection with the offering contemplated hereby and the process leading to such transaction, the Sales Agent is and has been acting solely on its own behalf and is not the agent or fiduciary of the Company, or its shareholders, creditors, employees or any other party, (c) the Sales Agent has not assumed and will not assume an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby or the process leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Sales Agent has advised or is currently advising the Company on other matters) and the Sales Agent has no obligation to the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby except the

obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement, (d) the Sales Agent and its affiliates may be engaged in, and may in the future engage in, a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ from those of the Company and (e) the Sales Agent has not provided any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice with respect to the offering contemplated hereby, and the Company has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate.

## SECTION 14. Governing Law and Time.

This agreement and any claim, controversy or dispute relating to or arising out of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed within the State of New York without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws thereof. Specified times of day refer to New York City time. Any action, suit or proceeding to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought in any federal court located in the Southern District of the State of New York or any New York state court located in the Borough of Manhattan, and the Company agrees to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom), and each party waives (to the full extent permitted by law) any objection it may have to the laying of venue of any such suit, action or proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

# SECTION 15. Waiver of Jury Trial.

The Company and the Sales Agent each hereby irrevocably waives any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any claim based upon or arising out of this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby.

## SECTION 16. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement.

#### SECTION 17. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings (whether written or oral) between the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

## SECTION 18. Effect of Headings.

The Section headings herein and the Table of Contents are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

#### SECTION 19. No Assignment.

No party may assign its rights or delegate its duties or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of the other party. Any purported assignment or delegation of rights, duties or obligations hereunder shall be void and of no effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Sales Agent may assign its rights under this Agreement and/or may delegate some or all of its duties and obligations under this Agreement, without the consent of the Company, to an affiliate of the Sales Agent that is a registered broker-dealer, it being understood that no such assignment or delegation shall release the Sales Agent from any of its obligations hereunder.

# SECTION 20. Severability.

This Agreement and each Terms Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision hereof or thereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability hereof or thereof or of any term or provision hereof or thereof. Furthermore, if any term or provision of this Agreement or any Terms Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, there shall be deemed to be made to such term or provision such minor changes (and only such minor changes) as shall be necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding of our agreement, please sign and return to the Company a counterpart hereof, whereupon this instrument, along with all counterparts, will become a binding agreement between the Sales Agent and the Company in accordance with its terms.

Very truly yours,

AVISTA CORPORATION

By: /s/ Mark T. Thies

Name: Mark T. Thies

Title: Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and

Treasurer

Signature Page to Sales Agency Agreement

# CONFIRMED AND ACCEPTED, as of the date first above written

# BNY MELLON CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC

By: /s/ Daniel C. de Menocal, Jr.

Name: Daniel C. de Menocal, Jr. Title: Managing Director

 $Signature\ Page\ to\ Sales\ Agency\ Agreement$ 

## **Contact Persons**

# The Company

Mark T. Thies Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer Mark.Thies@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4639

Ryan L. Krasselt Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer Ryan.Krasselt@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-2273

Don M. Falkner Assistant Treasurer Don.Falkner@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4326

Richard N. Stevens Assistant Treasurer and Director of Finance Rich.Stevens@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4330

Lauren Pendergraft Senior Treasury Analyst Lauren.Pendergraft@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-2998

Solely for notices and other correspondence to the Company with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares, please include:

Denise Burns
Cash Management Analyst
Denise.Burns@avistacorp.com
T: 509-495-4725

Treasury Department <a href="mailto:treasury@avistacorp.com">treasury@avistacorp.com</a>

The Sales Agent

Daniel C. de Menocal, Jr.
Managing Director
Daniel.de.menocal@bnymellon.com

T: 212-815-4995 F: 212-815-6403

# SALES NOTICE

[Date]

BNY Mellon Capital Markets, LLC			
Attention: Daniel C. de Menocal, Jr. Tel. No. 212-815-4995 Fax No.: 212-815-6403 E-Mail:]			
Reference is made to the Sales Agency Agreement March 2, 2016 (capitalized terms herein having the delivery of this Sales Notice are satisfied as of the untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state under which they were made, not misleading.	ne meanings assigned thereto in such a date hereof. As of the date hereof,	Agreement). The Company confirms the neither the Prospectus nor the Disclosur	at all conditions to the re Package contains an
First date of Selling Period:			
Last date of Selling Period:			
Number of days in Selling Period:			
Settlement Date(s):		Third Trading Day after each sale	
Number of Shares:		\$	
Floor Price*:		\$per share	
Company Bank Account			
*The Floor Price shown above shall be applicable Company during such Selling Period. Notwithstar the last sale price at which the Company's Com Journal on the Trading Day immediately precedin	nding the foregoing, in no event shall mon Stock was quoted on the record	I the Sales Price for any Shares be less of composite transactions reported by	than \$ below
Additional Restrictions:			
Comments:			
	AVISTA CORPORATION		
	By: Name: ¹Title:		

<sup>1</sup> To be executed by the President, any Vice President, the Treasurer or any Assistant Treasurer of the Company.

# AVISTA CORPORATION

(a Washington corporation)

# **Common Stock**

# SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT

Dated: March 2, 2016

# **Table of Contents**

SECTION 1.	Certain Defin	nitions	<u>rage</u> 1
SECTION 2. Re			5
	Representations and Warranties (a) Representations and Warranties of the Company		5
	(i)	Compliance with Securities Law Requirements	5
	(ii)	Incorporated Documents	6
	(iii)	Independent Accountants	6
	(iv)	Financial Statements	6
	(v)	No Material Adverse Change	7
	(vi)	Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries	7
	(vii)	No Significant Subsidiaries	7
	(viii)	Capitalization	7
	(ix)	Authorization of this Agreement	8
	(x)	Authorization of the Shares	8
	(xi)	Description of the Common Stock	8
	(xii)	Registration; Listing	8
	(xiii)	Actively Traded Securities	8
	(xiv)	Absence of Defaults	8
	(xv)	No Conflict	9
	(xvi)	Absence of Proceedings	9
	(xvii)	Absence of Further Requirements	9
	(xviii)	Title to Property	10
	(xix)	Leases	10
	(xx)	Investment Company Act	10
	(xxi)	Environmental Laws	10
	(xxii)	Internal Controls	10
	(xxiii)	Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley	11
	(xxiv)	Finder's Fees	11
	(xxv)	Sanctions	11
	(xxvi)	Compliance with Money Laundering Laws	11
	(xxvii)	No Unlawful Payments	12
	(b) Officer's	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	12
SECTION 3. (6) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7) (7		ales of Shares	12
	(a) Initiation	n of Sales Efforts	12
		(b) Manner of Offer and Sales	
	(c) Sales Pri		12
	(d) Confirma	(d) Confirmation of Sales	
	(e) Settlemen	(e) Settlement of Sales	
	(f) Suspension	(f) Suspension of Sales	
	(g) Proprieto	(g) Proprietary Trading by the Sales Agent	
	(h) Limitations		14
SECTION 4.	Covenants		14
	(a) Preparation and Filing of the Prospectus		14
		·	
		i	

	(b) Review of Amendments and Supplements	14	
	(c) Free Writing Prospectuses	14	
	(d) Notification of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.	15	
(e) Delivery of Registration Statements		15	
	(f) Delivery of Prospectuses	15	
	(g) Continued Compliance with Securities Laws	15	
	(h) Blue Sky Qualifications		
	(i) Rule 158	16	
	(j) Filing Fees	16	
	(k) Use of Proceeds	16	
	(1) Restriction on Sale of Shares	17	
	(m) Maximum Number	17	
	(n) Regulation M	17	
	(o) Diligence Cooperation	17	
SECTION 5.	Payment of Expenses	17	
	(a) Expenses Payable by the Company	17	
	(b) Expenses Payable by the Sales Agent	18	
	(c) Expenses Upon Termination	18	
SECTION 6.	Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement	18	
	(a) Conditions	18	
	(i) No Stop Order; Commission Filings	18	
	(ii) Opinions of Counsel for the Company	19	
	(iii) Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent	19	
	(iv) No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate	19	
	(v) Accountant's Comfort Letter	19	
	(vi) Additional Conditions	20	
	(vii) Additional Documents	20	
	(viii) Additional Conditions for "Distributions"	20	
	(b) Termination of Agreement	20	
	(c) Increase of Maximum Number	20	
SECTION 7.	Indemnification	21	
	(a) Indemnification of the Sales Agent	21	
	(b) Indemnification of the Company	22	
	(c) Actions against Parties; Notification	22	
SECTION 8.	Contribution	22	
SECTION 9.	Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive	23	
SECTION 10.	Termination of Agreement	24	
	(a) Termination by the Sales Agent		
	(b) Termination by the Company	24	
	(c) Liabilities	24	
SECTION 11.	Notices	25	

	(a) General	25
	(b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales	25
SECTION 12.	Parties in Interest	25
SECTION 13.	No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship	25
SECTION 14.	Governing Law and Time	26
SECTION 15.	Waiver of Jury Trial	26
SECTION 16.	Counterparts	26
SECTION 17.	Entire Agreement	26
SECTION 18.	Effect of Headings	26
SECTION 19.	No Assignment	26
SECTION 20.	Severability	27
SCHEDULES		
Schedule A	Contact Persons	Sch A
EXHIBITS		
Exhibit A	Form of Sales Notice	A-1
	iii	

#### **AVISTA CORPORATION**

(a Washington corporation)

Common Stock

# SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT

March 2, 2016

CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC Eleven Madison Avenue New York, NY 10010

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Avista Corporation, a Washington corporation (the "Company"), confirms its agreement (the "Agreement") with Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (the "Sales Agent"), whereby the Company, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, may from time to time offer shares ("Shares") of its Common Stock, without nominal or par value ("Common Stock"), and the Sales Agent, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and the Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The Company may enter into one or more agreements substantially identical to this Agreement (each an "Other Agreement") with other investment banking firms as sales agents (each an "Other Sales Agent") whereby, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and therein, the Company may from time to time offer Shares and the Other Sales Agent party thereto, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and such Other Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The maximum number of Shares that the Company may issue and sell under this Agreement and all the Other Agreements, collectively, is the Maximum Number (as hereinafter defined).

On February 25, 2016, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") a registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), for the registration of securities, including the Shares, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act"), and the offer and sale thereof from time to time in accordance with Rule 415 of the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1933 Act (the "1933 Act Regulations").

# SECTION 1. Certain Definitions

When used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

- "Accounting Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(I).
- "Agreements and Instruments" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xiv).
- "Applicable Time" means the time of each sale of Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

"Base Prospectus" means the base prospectus relating to the Shares filed as part of the Registration Statement, in the form in which it has been most recently filed with the Commission prior to the Closing Time.

- "Closing Time" means the time and date of the execution and delivery of this Agreement.
- "Commercially Reasonable Efforts" means, with respect to the obligation of the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares, commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and in compliance with applicable law.
  - "Commission" has the meaning forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Commitment Period" means the period commencing on March 2, 2016 and expiring on the earliest to occur of (a) the first date on which the Maximum Number of Shares shall have been sold under this Agreement and/or the Other Agreements, (b) the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 6 or Section 10 and (c) February 29, 2020.
  - "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "Company" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Designated Subsidiary" means each of Avista Capital, Inc., Alaska Energy and Resources Company and Alaska Electric Light and Power Company.
  - "Disclosure Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Disclosure Package" means, collectively, (i) the Prospectus as of any particular time and (ii) any other Issuer Free Writing Prospectus relating to the offer and sale of the Shares (to the extent not superseded or modified by the Prospectus or by a subsequent Issuer Free Writing Prospectus).
  - "EDGAR" has the meaning set forth below in this Section 1.
- "Effective Time" means the date and time of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement for purposes of paragraph (f)(2) of Rule 430B of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 430B"), as applied to the Sales Agent.
- "Floor Price" means the minimum Sales Price set by the Company in a Sales Notice for any Selling Period, as such Sales Notice may be amended from time to time during such Selling Period. The Floor Price may, in addition to setting an absolute minimum dollar amount per Share, also be limited by reference to recent or prevailing market prices.
  - "Initiation Date" means each date of delivery of a Sales Notice pursuant to Section 3(a).
  - "Internal Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Issuer Free Writing Prospectus" means any "issuer free writing prospectus" (as defined by Rule 433 of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 433")) with respect to the Shares.
  - "Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xviii).
  - "Material Adverse Change" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(v).
  - "Material Adverse Effect" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(vi).
  - "Maximum Number" means 3,795,199 or such higher number as shall be established pursuant to Section 6(c).

"Net Proceeds", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the aggregate Sales Prices for such Shares less the Selling Commission in respect of the sale of such Shares (but before other expenses).

"NYSE" means the New York Stock Exchange.

"Other Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Other Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Primary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii).

"Prospectus" means, as of any particular time, the Base Prospectus, as supplemented by the final prospectus supplement relating to the offer and sale of the Shares, as filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), together with any further supplements or amendments thereto at such time.

"PUC Orders" has the meaning forth in Section 2(a)(xvii).

"Registration Statement" means, as of any particular time, the Company's registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), including (a) any amendments thereto at such time, (b) the exhibits and schedules thereto at such time (other than the Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1) and (c) any prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) that, in accordance with Rule 430B, is deemed to be a part thereof; provided, however, that, if a new registration statement shall have been filed and shall have become effective on or about the third anniversary of the initial effective date of registration statement No. 333-209714, the term "Registration Statement" shall mean, at and after the time of the effectiveness of such new registration statement, such new registration statement, including amendments, exhibits and any prospectus as aforesaid.

"Regulation S-T" means Regulation S-T of the Commission.

"Repayment Event" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xv).

"Representation Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).

"Rule 405" means Rule 405 of the 1933 Act Regulations.

"Rule 424(b)" means Rule 424(b) of the 1933 Act Regulations.

"Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Sales Notice" means a written notice, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, executed by an individual named in Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company and delivered to the Sales Agent in accordance with this Agreement. Any Sales Notice may be amended by the Company and the Sales Agent and, from and after the time of such amendment, the term "Sales Notice" shall mean the original Sales Notice as amended. Any Sales Notice or amendment to a Sales Notice shall be deemed acceptable to the Sales Agent unless the Sales Agent shall promptly notify the Company to the contrary. Each Sales Notice shall be delivered, and may be amended, by facsimile transmission, email or other customary means of electronic communication.

"Sales Price", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the price per Share paid to the Sales Agent for such Shares.

- "Secondary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii)(B).
- "Selling Commission", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the commission, discount or other compensation to be received by the Sales Agent in connection with the sale of such Shares.
- "Selling Period" means a period of one to 20 consecutive Trading Days specified by the Company in a Sales Notice, commencing no earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the Trading Day on which such Sales Notice is delivered to the Sales Agent.
- "Settlement Date" means, with respect to the sale of any Shares, the third business day following the Trading Day on which an offer to sell such Shares was accepted.
  - "Shares" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Terms Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Sales Agent that relates to the issuance and sale by the Company, and the purchase by the Sales Agent as principal (and not as agent), of a specific number of Shares and otherwise incorporates the terms and provisions of, and is deemed a part of, this Agreement.
- "Trading Day" means any day on which the NYSE is open for trading (other than a day on which trading is scheduled to close prior to its regular weekday closing time).
  - "1933 Act" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1933 Act Regulations" has meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1934 Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
  - "1934 Act Regulations" means the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1934 Act.

The foregoing definitions are subject to the following qualifications:

- (a) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to any of the financial statements, schedules or other information that is "contained", "included" or "stated" (or other words of like import) therein shall be deemed to include the information contained in documents filed with the Commission under the 1934 Act that (i) are incorporated, or deemed incorporated, therein by reference pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act, to the extent such information has not been superseded or modified in accordance with Rule 412 of the 1933 Act Regulations (as qualified by Rule 430B(g) of the 1933 Act Regulations) and (ii)(A) in the case of references to the "Registration Statement", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the Effective Time and (B) in the case of references to the "Prospectus", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the date thereof;
- (b) all references in this Agreement to an amendment to the Registration Statement shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act;
- (c) all references in this Agreement to an amendment or supplement to the Prospectus shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act; and

(d) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to include the copy filed with the Commission pursuant to its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system ("EDGAR").

## SECTION 2. Representations and Warranties.

(a) Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to the Sales Agent as of the Closing Time, each Initiation Date, each Trading Day and each Applicable Time within each Selling Period, each Settlement Date, each date as of which the Registration Statement shall be amended and each date as of which the Prospectus shall be amended or supplemented (each such date a "Representation Date") as follows:

## (i) Compliance with Securities Law Requirements.

- (A) <u>Well-Known Seasoned Issuer Status</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission, at all relevant determination dates, and at the date hereof, the Company was and is a "well-known seasoned issuer" (as defined in Rule 405).
- (B) <u>Eligibility to Use Form S-3</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission and at the time of the most recent amendment, if any, to the Registration Statement for purposes of complying with Section 10(a)(3) of the 1933 Act, the Company met the requirements for use of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act.
- ( C ) <u>Status and Content of the Registration Statement.</u> The Registration Statement became effective automatically upon the filing thereof with the Commission under the 1933 Act. No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued under the 1933 Act and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted by the Commission or are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, have been threatened or are contemplated by the Commission, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information with respect to the Registration Statement has been complied with. At the time the Registration Statement became effective, and at the Effective Time, the Registration Statement complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations. At the Effective Time, the Registration Statement did not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
- (D) <u>Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses</u>. At the earliest time after the filing of the Registration Statement that the Company or another offering participant made a bona fide offer (within the meaning of Rule 164(h)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations) of the Shares, the Company was not an "ineligible issuer" as defined in Rule 405. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, at the time it was filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 433 or, if it was not required to be so filed, at the time of each use thereof (i) did not include any information that conflicts with (A) information contained in the Registration Statement, including any prospectus or prospectus supplement that is part of the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, or (B) information contained in the Company's periodic and current reports filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act that are incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, and (ii)

complied in all other respects with the requirements of Rule 164 and Rule 433 (without reliance on subsections (b), (c) and (d) of Rule 164 of the 1933 Act Regulations). No order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus has been issued by the Commission.

- (E) <u>Content of the Disclosure Package</u>. The Disclosure Package, at the Closing Time and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (F) Status and Content of the Prospectus. The Prospectus, at the Closing Time, as of its date and at the time it is filed with the Commission and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations and, as of such respective dates, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Prospectus delivered to the Sales Agent in connection with the offering of the Shares, and any amendment or supplement thereto, will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table will be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (G) <u>Description and Filing of Contracts and Documents</u>. All contracts or documents that are required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement have been so described and filed as required.

The representations and warranties in this subsection (a)(i) shall not apply to any statements in or omissions from the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished to the Company in writing by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.

- (ii) <u>Incorporated Documents</u>. The documents incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, at the time they were or hereafter are filed with the Commission, complied or will comply, as applicable, in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and, when filed did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (iii) <u>Independent Accountants</u>. The accountants who audited the financial statements and financial statement schedules included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus are independent registered public accountants within the meaning of Regulation S-X of the Commission.
- (iv) <u>Financial Statements</u>. The financial statements, together with the respective schedules and notes relating thereto, included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, present fairly the financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries at the dates indicated and the results of operations and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the periods specified; such financial statements

have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved, except as otherwise stated therein. The selected financial data and the summary financial information included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus present fairly the information shown therein and have been compiled on a basis consistent with that of the audited financial statements included in the Registration Statement. The financial statements and other financial data included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus comply in all material respects with the requirements of paragraph (e) of Item 10 of Regulation S-K. The interactive data in eXtensible Business Reporting Language filed as exhibits to the documents incorporated by reference or deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement and the Prospectus fairly presents the information called for in all material respects and has been prepared in accordance with the Commission's rules and guidelines applicable thereto. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any off-balance sheet arrangements of the character contemplated by Item 303 of Regulation S-K or otherwise by Section 13G of the 1934 Act, or has any other contingent obligation or liability, which, in any case, is material, or is reasonably likely to be material, to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries considered as one enterprise.

- (v) <u>No Material Adverse Change</u>. Since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, there has been no material adverse change, or any development that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse change, in the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such change or development, a "Material Adverse Change").
- (vi) Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries. Each of the Company and each of the Designated Subsidiaries has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the corporate power and authority to own or lease and operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, and the Company has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Other Agreements; and the Company is duly qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is required, whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of business, except where the failure so to qualify or to be in good standing would not have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such effect, a "Material Adverse Effect").
- (vii) <u>No Significant Subsidiaries</u>. The Company has no "significant subsidiaries" as defined in Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X.
- (viii) <u>Capitalization</u>. The authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company is as set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus. All of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Designated Subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of any Liens.

- (ix) <u>Authorization of this Agreement</u>. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.
- (x) Authorization of the Shares. The Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and, when issued and delivered by the Company pursuant to this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements against payment of the consideration contemplated herein or therein, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable; no holder of the Shares will be subject to personal liability in respect of liabilities of the Company solely by reason of being a holder of the Shares; and the issuance of the Shares is not subject to the preemptive or other similar rights of any securityholder of the Company. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no outstanding options, warrants, conversion rights, subscription rights, rights of first refusal or other rights or agreements of any nature outstanding to subscribe for or to purchase any shares of Common Stock of the Company binding on the Company (except pursuant to dividend reinvestment, stock purchase or ownership, stock option or other director or employee benefit plans), and there are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company containing anti-dilution or similar provisions that will be triggered by the issuance of the Shares as described in this Agreement or the Other Agreements. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no restrictions upon the voting or transfer of any shares of the Company's Common Stock pursuant to the Company's Restated Articles of Incorporation or By-laws. There are no agreements or other obligations (contingent or otherwise) that may require the Company to repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of its Common Stock. No person or entity has the right, contractual or otherwise, to cause the Company to issue to it, or to register pursuant to the 1933 Act, any shares of Common Stock upon the filing of the Registration Statement or the issuance or sale of the Shares hereunder. Immediately after any sale of Shares by the Company under this Agreement and the Other Agreements, the aggregate number of Shares that have been issued and sold by the Company hereunder and thereunder will not exceed the aggregate amount of Common Stock (A) registered and available under the Registration Statement or (B) that shall be authorized by the PUC Orders from time to time.
- (x i) <u>Description of the Common Stock</u>. The description of the Common Stock in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus is accurate in all material respects.
- (xii) <u>Registration; Listing</u>. The Common Stock is registered as a class under Section 12(b) of the 1934 Act. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are listed, and the Shares are authorized for listing (subject to official notice of issuance), on the NYSE.
- (xiii) <u>Actively Traded Securities</u>. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are "actively traded securities" excepted from the provisions of Rule 101 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations by virtue of subsection (c)(1) of such rule.
- (xiv) Absence of Defaults. Neither the Company nor any Designated Subsidiary is in violation of its articles of incorporation or by-laws or in default in the performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any contract, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement, note, lease or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is a party or by which it or such Designated Subsidiary may be bound, or to which any of the property or assets of the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is subject (collectively, "Agreements and Instruments") except for such defaults as, singly or in the aggregate, would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

- (xv) No Conflict. The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Other Agreements and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated herein and therein (including the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares and the use of the proceeds from the sale of the Shares as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus) and compliance by the Company with its obligations hereunder and under the Other Agreements, do not and will not, whether with or without the giving of notice or passage of time or both, conflict with or constitute a breach of, or default or Repayment Event (as defined below) under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any property or assets of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary pursuant to, the Agreements and Instruments (except for such conflicts, breaches, defaults or Liens as, singly or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect), nor will such action result in any violation of the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or of any statute of any jurisdiction applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any rule, regulation or order applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary of any regulatory body, administrative agency or other governmental body or any court that, in any such case, has jurisdiction over the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any of their respective assets, properties or operations. As used herein, a "Repayment Event" means any event or condition that gives the holder of any note, debenture or other evidence of indebtedness (or any person acting on such holder's behalf) the right to require the repurchase, redemption or repayment of all or a portion of such indebtedness by the Company or any Designated Subsidiary.
- (xvi) Absence of Proceedings. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or brought by any court or governmental agency or body, domestic or foreign, now pending, or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, against or affecting the Company or any of its subsidiaries, that (A) is required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus and is not disclosed as required, (B) could materially and adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements or the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder or thereunder or (C) except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and the aggregate of all pending legal or governmental proceedings to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any of their respective properties or assets is the subject that are not described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, including ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xvii) Absence of Further Requirements. The Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (the "WUTC"), the Idaho Public Utilities Commission (the "IPUC") and the Public Utility Commission of Oregon (the "OPUC") have issued orders authorizing the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares on the terms contemplated in this Agreement and the Other Agreements; the Montana Public Service Commission (the "MPSC") has issued an order disclaiming jurisdiction over the issuance of securities and the creation of liens by the Company pursuant to, and on the terms set forth in such order (such order, collectively with the aforesaid orders of the WUTC, the IPUC and the OPUC, being hereinafter called the "PUC Orders"); the PUC Orders are in full force and effect as of the date hereof; and, except for informational filings required under the PUC Orders, no further consent, approval or authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any regulatory or other governmental body or agency is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Other Agreements or the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares.

- (xviii) <u>Title to Property</u>. The Company and each of its Designated Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to all real property owned by them and good title to all other property owned by them, in each case subject only to such mortgages, pledges, security interests, claims and other liens and encumbrances (collectively "Liens") and such exceptions, defects and qualifications as (A) are described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (B) would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xix) <u>Leases</u>. All of the leases and subleases material to the business of the Company and its Designated Subsidiaries, considered as one enterprise, and under which the Company or any of such subsidiaries holds properties, described in or required to be described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus are in full force and effect, and the Company has no notice of any claim of any sort asserted by anyone adverse to the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries under any of such leases or subleases, or affecting or questioning the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries to the continued possession of the premises leased or subleased thereunder, that would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xx) <u>Investment Company Act</u>. The Company is not, and upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as contemplated herein and in the Other Agreements and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus will not be, an "investment company" or an entity "controlled" by an "investment company" as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- (xxi) Environmental Laws. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of the Designated Subsidiaries (A) is in violation of any statute, rule, regulation, decision or order of any governmental body or any court, domestic or foreign, relating to the use, disposal or release of hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants, to the protection or restoration of the environment or to human or animal exposure to hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that have the potential to adversely impact human or animal health (collectively, "environmental laws"), (B) owns or operates any real property contaminated with any hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that is subject to clean-up or other responsive action under any environmental laws, (C) is liable for any off-site disposal or contamination pursuant to any environmental laws, (D) is subject to any claim of violation of or liability under any environmental laws, which violation, contamination, liability or claim would individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and the Company is not aware of any pending investigation or circumstances which would reasonably be expected to lead to such a claim.
- (xxii) <u>Internal Controls</u>. (A) The Company has devised and established and maintains the following, among other, internal controls (without duplication):
  - (I) a system of "internal accounting controls" as contemplated in Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the 1934 Act (the "Accounting Controls");
  - (II) "internal control over financial reporting" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
  - (III) "disclosure controls and procedures" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the 1934 Act Regulations (the "**Disclosure Controls**" and, together with the Accounting Controls and the Reporting Controls, the "**Internal Controls**"));

- (B) The Internal Controls are evaluated by the Company's senior management periodically as appropriate and, in any event, as required by law;
  - (C) Based on the most recent evaluations of the Internal Controls:
  - (I) the Internal Controls are, individually and in the aggregate, effective in all material respects to perform the functions for which they were established; and
  - (II) all material weaknesses, if any, and significant deficiencies, if any, in the design or operation of the Internal Controls which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Internal Controls have been disclosed to the audit committee of the Company's board of directors and the Company's independent auditors.
- (xxiii) <u>Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley</u>. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations of the Commission that have been adopted thereunder, to the extent that such act and such rules and regulations are in effect and applicable to the Company.
- (xxiv) <u>Finder's Fees</u>. The Company has not incurred (directly or indirectly) nor will it incur, directly or indirectly, any liability for any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or other similar fee, charge or commission in connection with this Agreement or the Other Agreements, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except as set forth in or contemplated by this Agreement and the Other Agreements.
- (xxv) <u>Sanctions</u>. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is currently the subject or the target of any sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or any other applicable sanctions laws or regulations ("Sanctions"), nor is the Company or any of its subsidiaries located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is the subject or the target of Sanctions, including, without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan and Syria (each, a "Sanctioned Country"); and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of the offering of the Shares hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any person or entity, (A) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business with any person that, at the time of such funding or facilitation, is the subject or the target of Sanctions or (B) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business in any Sanctioned Country or (C) in any other manner that will result in a violation by any person (including any person participating in the transaction, whether as sales agent, advisor, investor or otherwise) of Sanctions.
- (xxvi) Compliance with Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, the applicable money laundering statutes of all jurisdictions in which the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries conducts business, the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines issued, administered or enforced by any governmental or regulatory agency (collectively, the "Anti-Money Laundering Laws"); and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or

governmental or regulatory agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.

- (xxvii) No Unlawful Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has violated or is in violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the "FCPA") or any other applicable anti-corruption and/or anti-bribery laws and regulations. The Company and the and its subsidiaries have instituted and maintain policies and procedures designed to promote and provide reasonable assurance as to compliance with the FCPA.
- (b) Officer's Certificates. Any certificate signed by any officer of the Company delivered to the Sales Agent or to counsel for the Sales Agent in connection with the offer and sale of the Shares shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to the Sales Agent as to the matters covered thereby.

## SECTION 3. Offers and Sales of Shares.

- (a) Initiation of Sales Efforts. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, on any Trading Day during the Commitment Period the Company may deliver to the Sales Agent a Sales Notice, and, upon the commencement of the Selling Period specified in such Sales Notice, which shall not be earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the date of receipt by the Sales Agent of such Sales Notice, the Sales Agent shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell the number of Shares specified in such Sales Notice. The Company acknowledges that there can be no assurance that the Sales Agent will be successful in selling the Shares and agrees that the Sales Agent shall incur no liability or obligation to the Company if it does not sell Shares for any reason other than a failure by the Sales Agent to use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell such Shares in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (b) Manner of Offer and Sales. (i) The offering and sale of Shares under this Agreement (other than sales to or by the Sales Agent as principal) shall be made by such methods permitted by law as the Sales Agent shall determine from time to time that are deemed to be "at-the-market offerings" within the meaning of Rule 415(a)(4) of the 1933 Act Regulations, including sales made directly on the NYSE, through an "alternative trading system" as defined in Rule 300 of Regulation ATS under the 1934 Act or any other electronic communications network or to or through a market maker; provided, however, that, if the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in writing, sales may be made in privately negotiated transactions;
- (ii) If the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in a separate Terms Agreement (it being understood and agreed that neither party is under any obligation to do so), the Company may sell Shares to the Sales Agent acting as principal, and the Sales Agent may purchase such Shares acting as principal, it being understood that, in the event of any inconsistency between the terms and provisions of this Agreement and those of the Terms Agreement, those of the Terms Agreement shall control.
- (c) Sales Price. (i) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent acting as agent in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be made at prevailing market prices per Share or, if and to the extent so specified in the related Sales Notice, at prices per Share related to prevailing market prices. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, (a) in no event shall the Sales Price for any Shares so sold be less than the Floor Price set forth in the related Sales Notice and (b) the Company shall

not establish any Floor Price that would not be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.

- (ii) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent as agent in privately negotiated transactions, and the public offering of Shares purchased by the Sales Agent acting as principal, shall be made at such Sales Prices as shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case, such agreement by the Company to be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (iii) The Selling Commission in respect of Shares sold hereunder in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be such percentage (not to exceed 2%) of the Sales Price thereof, as agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent from time to time, provided, however, that the Selling Commission in respect of all sales hereunder that (A) are made under a Terms Agreement, (B) made in a transaction that constitutes a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (C) are otherwise not At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case.
- (d) Confirmation of Sales. The Sales Agent shall deliver to the Company, not later than the opening of the Trading Day next following each Trading Day on which it makes sales of Shares hereunder, a confirmation setting forth (i) the number of Shares sold in each transaction on such Trading Day, (ii) the applicable Sales Price for each such sale of Shares, (iii) the aggregate Sales Price for each such transaction and (iv) the Net Proceeds payable to the Company for each such transaction.
- (e) Settlement of Sales. Subject to the conditions set forth in Section 6, each sale of Shares hereunder shall be settled on the Settlement Date therefor. No later than 12:00 Noon (New York City time) on the Settlement Date, the Company shall cause its transfer agent, currently Computershare Shareholder Services LLC, to electronically transfer such Shares to the Sales Agent by crediting the account of the Sales Agent or its designee or nominee at the Depository Trust Company through its Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian System, or by such other means of delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in writing. Upon notification that the Shares have been issued, Sales Agent shall deliver the total Net Proceeds for the sale of all Shares to be settled on such Settlement Date by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Company in the related Sales Notice.
- (f) Suspension of Sales. The Company or the Sales Agent may, upon notice to the other party in writing or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable facsimile transmission, e-mail or other customary means of electronic communication), suspend the offering or sale of Shares, and the Selling Period shall immediately terminate; provided, however, that such suspension and termination shall not affect or impair either party's obligations with respect to any Shares sold hereunder prior to the prompt processing of such notice of suspension.
- (g) Proprietary Trading by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent has advised the Company that during the Commitment Period the Sales Agent and/or its affiliates may purchase and sell shares of Common Stock for their respective accounts and for the accounts of their respective customers; provided, however, that (i) no such purchase or sale shall violate any provision of applicable law (including particularly but without limitation the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act or any regulation under either thereof) and (ii) no sale of shares of Common Stock shall be made by the Sales Agent for the account of the Sales Agent during any Selling Period unless (A) such sale is made pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of a Terms Agreement, (B) such sale is a sale by the Sales Agent of shares purchased, or deemed to have been purchased, from the Company as a "riskless principal" or in a similar capacity, (C) such sale is made in trading transactions in the ordinary course of business but only if neither the Company nor the

Sales Agent is in violation of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (D) the Company shall have consented thereto.

- (h) Limitations. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding:
- (i) in no event shall the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement, together with the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to the Other Agreements (as disclosed to the Sales Agent from time to time by the Company), exceed the Maximum Number (the Company hereby acknowledging and agreeing that the Sales Agent shall have no responsibility for maintaining records with respect to the aggregate number of Shares sold (other than the Shares sold under this Agreement));
- (ii) in no event shall the Sales Agent be obligated to make any offer or sale of Shares during any period in which either party has reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
- (iii) in no event shall the Company sell Shares through both the Sales Agent and any Other Sales Agent on the same Trading Day; without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in no event shall the Selling Period designated in a Sales Notice delivered to the Sales Agent include a Trading Day that is included in a selling period that is in effect under one of the Other Agreements; and each of the Other Agreements shall contain the limitations sets forth in this clause (iii).

#### SECTION 4. Covenants.

- (a) Preparation and Filing of the Prospectus. The Company will prepare the Prospectus and, after affording the Sales Agent the opportunity to comment thereon, file the Prospectus with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b) not later than the Commission's close of business on the second business day following the Closing Time.
- (b) Review of Amendments and Supplements. The Company will not amend the Registration Statement, or amend or supplement the Prospectus, without providing notice to the Sales Agent at least 24 hours, or such shorter period as is reasonably required by the circumstances, prior to the filing thereof with the Commission. Except in the case of any such amendment or supplement to be made by the filing under the 1934 Act of a document that will be incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus that would be made by the Company irrespective of the offer and sale of the Shares, the Company will not effect such amendment or supplement without the consent of the Sales Agent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Neither the consent of the Sales Agent, nor the delivery of any such amendment or supplement by the Sales Agent, shall constitute a waiver of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6 hereof.

The Company will notify the Sales Agent immediately, and confirm such notice in writing, when any post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement shall have been filed or shall become effective and when any supplement to the Prospectus or any amended Prospectus shall have been filed.

(c) Free Writing Prospectuses. (i) The Company has not made and, without the consent of the Sales Agent, will not make any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" as defined by Rule 405, including an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus.

- (ii) The Sales Agent has not made, and without the consent of the Company shall not make, any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" (as defined in Rule 405) that the Company would be required to file with the Commission under Rule 433.
- (d) Notification of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.. The Company will notify the Sales Agent of (i) the receipt of any comments from the Commission with respect to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus, including any request by the Commission for any amendment, supplement or additional information with respect thereto and (ii) the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose. The Company will make every reasonable effort to prevent the issuance of any stop order and, in the event of any stop order, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (e) Delivery of Registration Statements. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent and to counsel for the Sales Agent, upon request and without charge, one conformed copy of the Registration Statement as originally filed and of each amendment thereto (including, in each case, all exhibits filed therewith or incorporated by reference). Such copies of the Registration Statement and amendments thereto so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (f) Delivery of Prospectuses. The Company will furnish to the Sales Agent, without charge, during the period when the Prospectus (or, in lieu thereof, the notice referred to in Rule 173(a) of the 1933 Act Regulations) is required to be delivered of the 1933 Act Regulations, such number of copies of the Prospectus as the Sales Agent may reasonably request. Such copies of the Prospectus so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent, without charge, as many copies of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request, and the Company hereby consents to the use of such copies by the Sales Agent for purposes of the offer and sale of the Shares in a manner consistent with the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (g) Continued Compliance with Securities Laws. (i) The Company will file all reports and other documents that it is required to file with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act within the time periods required by the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and will otherwise comply with the 1933 Act, the 1933 Act Regulations, the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations so as to permit the offer, sale and distribution of the Shares as contemplated in this Agreement and the Prospectus; provided, however, that the Company may assume that the distribution of the Shares issued on any Settlement Date has been completed on the business day following such Settlement Date unless the Sales Agent shall have provided written notice to the contrary.
- (ii) During the distribution of the Shares, the Company will notify the Sales Agent promptly if (A) any filing is made by the Company of information relating to the offering of the Shares with any securities exchange or any other regulatory body in the United States or any other jurisdiction or (B) a Material Adverse Change shall have occurred that is not disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (C) any other event shall have occurred that causes (x) the Registration Statement to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or (y) the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

- (iii) Upon any notification pursuant to clause (ii)(B) or (C) above, or if at any time an event shall occur or other circumstances shall exist as a result of which it is necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Company or of the Sales Agent, (A) to amend the Registration Statement in order that it shall not, as of the Effective Time, include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations or (B) to amend or supplement the Prospectus in order that it shall not, as of any Initiation Date, any Applicable Time within any Selling Period or any Settlement Date, contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances existing at such time, not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations,
  - (A) the Company will promptly prepare and file with the Commission, subject to Section 4(b), such amendment or supplement as may be necessary to correct such statement or omission or to make the Registration Statement or the Prospectus comply with such requirements, and the Company will furnish to the Sales Agent such number of copies of such amendment or supplement as the Sales Agent may reasonably request;
  - (B) the Company shall not deliver to the Sales Agent any Sales Notice until such statement or omission is corrected; and
  - (C) if such time shall be during a Selling Period specified in a Sales Notice theretofore delivered to the Sales Agent, the Company shall promptly, by telephone (confirmed by electronic mail), cancel such Sales Notice and direct the Sales Agent to cease selling Shares and making offers for such sales.
- (h) Blue Sky Qualifications. The Company will use its best efforts, in cooperation with the Sales Agent, to take such action, if any, as may be required to qualify the Shares for offering and sale under the applicable securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions as the Sales Agent may reasonably designate and to maintain such qualifications in effect as long as required for the distribution of the Shares; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to file any general consent to service of process or to qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in which it is not so qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business in any jurisdiction in which it is not otherwise so subject. In the event that the Company becomes aware of the suspension of the qualification of the Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the initiation or threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes, the Company will so notify the Sales Agent and will cooperate with the Sales Agent to endeavor to prevent any such suspension and, in the event of any such suspension, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (i) Rule 158. The Company will timely file such reports pursuant to the 1934 Act as are necessary in order to make generally available to its securityholders as soon as practicable an earnings statement for the purposes of, and to provide the benefits contemplated by, the last paragraph of Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act and Rule 158 thereunder (which earnings statement need not be audited unless required so to be under Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act).
- (j) Filing Fees. The Company agrees to pay the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time required by Rule 456(b)(1) of the 1933 Act Regulations and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (k) Use of Proceeds. The Company will use the Net Proceeds received by it from the sale of the Shares in the manner specified in the Prospectus under "Use of Proceeds".

- (1) Restriction on Sale of Shares. The Company will not (A) at any time during any Selling Period without the prior written consent of the Sales Agent or (B) at any time during the term of this Agreement without giving the Sales Agent at least three Trading Days' prior written notice specifying the nature and timing of the proposed sale, directly or indirectly, offer to sell, contract to sell, sell, grant any option to buy or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock or warrants or rights to purchase or acquire shares of Common Stock. The foregoing restrictions shall not restrict the Company's issuance or sale of (i) shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement or the Other Sales Agreements, (ii) shares of Common Stock, options to purchase shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options, in any case pursuant to any employee or director stock option or benefit plan, stock purchase or ownership plan or dividend reinvestment plan of the Company, (iii) shares of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (iv) shares of Common Stock issuable as consideration in connection with acquisitions of business, assets or securities of other entities by merger or otherwise.
- (m) Maximum Number. The Company will promptly notify the Sales Agent and each of the Other Sales Agents when the Maximum Number of Shares has been sold.
- (n) Regulation M. If either the Company or the Sales Agent shall have reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, it shall promptly notify the other party and the Sales Agent may suspend sales of Shares under this Agreement or any Terms Agreement until, in the judgment of each party, the Common Stock is such an excepted security.
- (o) Diligence Cooperation. The Company shall reasonably cooperate with any reasonable due diligence review requested by the Sales Agent or its counsel from time to time in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or any Terms Agreement, including, without limitation, on or about each Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, providing information and making available appropriate documents and appropriate corporate officers of the Company and, upon reasonable request, representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

#### SECTION 5. Payment of Expenses.

(a) Expenses Payable by the Company. The Company will pay all expenses incident to the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, including (i) the preparation, printing and filing of the Registration Statement (including financial statements and exhibits) as originally filed and of each amendment thereto, (ii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of this Agreement and such other documents as may be required in connection with the offering, purchase, sale, issuance or delivery of the Shares, (iii) the preparation, issuance and delivery of the certificate or certificates for the Shares, (iv) the fees and disbursements of the Company's counsel, accountants and other advisors, (v) the qualification of the Shares under securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 4(h) hereof, (vi) the printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and of the Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto, (vii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of any Blue Sky survey and any supplement thereto, (viii) the costs and expenses of the Company relating to investor presentations on any "road show" undertaken in connection with the marketing of the Shares, including without limitation, expenses associated with the production of road show slides and graphics, fees and expenses of any consultants engaged in connection with the road show presentations, travel and lodging expenses of the Sales Agent and officers of the Company and any such consultants, and the cost of aircraft and other transportation chartered in connection with the road show and (ix) the reasonable documented out-of-pocket expenses of the Sales Agent, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the Sales Agent, in connection with the negotiation,

execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations hereunder during the Commitment Period, it being understood that the Company shall be required to pay the fees and disbursements of only one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents.

- (b) Expenses Payable by the Sales Agent. Except as provided in subsection (a) above and subsection (c) below, the Sales Agent will pay all of its expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the fees and disbursements of any counsel for the Sales Agent (other than the one counsel for the Sales Agent and Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection (a)(ix) above).
- (c) Expenses Upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated by the Sales Agent in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 or Section 10(a)(i) hereof, the Company shall reimburse the Sales Agent for all of its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of the one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection a(ix) above.

#### SECTION 6. Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Conditions. The obligations of the Sales Agent hereunder are subject to the accuracy, as of the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2(a) hereof and in all certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to the provisions hereof, to the performance by the Company of its covenants and other obligations hereunder to be performed at or prior to the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, and to the following further conditions:
  - ( i ) No Stop Order; Commission Filings. At the Closing Time and each subsequent Representation Date, the Registration Statement shall remain effective and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued under the 1933 Act or proceedings therefor initiated or threatened by the Commission and the Company shall not have received from the Commission any notice pursuant to Rule 401(g)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations objecting to use of the automatic shelf registration statement form, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information shall have been complied with to the reasonable satisfaction of counsel to the Sales Agent; the Prospectus shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b); any material required to be filed by the Company pursuant to Rule 433(d), shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with the applicable time period prescribed for such filing under Rule 433; and the Company shall have paid the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time period required by Rule 456(b)(l)(i) of the 1933 Act Regulations without regard to the proviso therein and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations and, if applicable, shall have updated the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in accordance with Rule 456(b)(1)(ii) of the 1933 Act Regulations either in a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or on the cover page of a prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b).
  - (ii) Opinions of Counsel for the Company. (A) At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall amend the Registration Statement and/or amend or supplement the Prospectus (in each case other than by means of the incorporation by reference of documents filed with the Commission) or the date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K (each such date being herein called a "**Primary Delivery Date**"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Marian M. Durkin, Esq., Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief

Compliance Officer of the Company, and Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP, counsel for the Company, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively.

- (B) Within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall file a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K (except to the extent that any such Current Report "furnishes" rather than "files" the information provided therein), and at any other time reasonably requested by the Sales Agent (each of such dates being herein called a "Secondary Delivery Date"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of counsel referred to in clause (A) above, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively; provided, however, that such counsel may deliver, in lieu of such opinions, a reliance letter to the effect that the Sales Agent may rely on the opinion delivered on the next preceding Primary Delivery Date to the same extent as if it were dated the date of such letter (except that the statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed to relate to the Registration Statement as amended and the Prospectus as amended and/or supplemented as of such Secondary Delivery Date).
- (iii) Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent. At the Closing Time and each other Primary Delivery Date, Secondary Delivery Date relating to a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and, if and to the extent reasonably requested by the Sales Agent, each other Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received the opinion, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, counsel for the Sales Agent, as to such matters as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request. In giving such opinion such counsel may rely, as to all matters governed by the laws of jurisdictions other than the law of the State of New York and the federal law of the United States upon the opinions of counsel to the Company. Such counsel may also state that, insofar as such opinion involves factual matters, they have relied, to the extent they deem proper, upon certificates of officers of the Company and certificates of public officials.
- (iv) No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate. (A) At the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, there shall not have been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, any Material Adverse Change and (B) at the Closing Time and at each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received a certificate of the President or a Vice President of the Company and of the chief financial or chief accounting officer of the Company, dated the date of delivery thereof, to the effect that (I) there has been no such Material Adverse Change, (II) the representations and warranties in Section 2(a) hereof are true and correct with the same force and effect as though expressly made at and as of such date, (III) the Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part required by this Agreement to be performed or satisfied at or prior to such date, and (IV) no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted or are pending or, to the knowledge of the signers, contemplated by the Commission.
- (v) Accountant's Comfort Letter. At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after each date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K, a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K that contains financial statements of the Company (other than any Current Report on Form 8-K that is "furnished" to and not "filed" with the Commission), the Sales Agent shall have received from Deloitte & Touche LLP a letter dated the date of delivery thereof, in form and scope consistent with the internal guidelines of such firm for the delivery of comfort letters and, in any event, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Sales Agent, containing statements and information of the type customarily included in accountants' "comfort letters" to underwriters with respect to the

financial statements of, and certain financial information relating to, the Company contained in the Registration Statement, Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.

- (vi) Additional Conditions. At the Closing Time and on each other Representation Date, none of the events enumerated in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Section 10(a) shall have occurred.
- (vii) Additional Documents. At the Closing Time and on each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent shall have been furnished with such additional documents and opinions as they may reasonably require for the purpose of enabling such counsel to pass upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated, or in order to evidence the accuracy of any of the representations or warranties, or the fulfillment of any of the conditions, herein contained; and all proceedings taken by the Company in connection with the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent. For the avoidance of doubt, it is understood and agreed that the Sales Agent shall not have any obligation to offer or sell any Shares during the period commencing on any Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, through the date on which all deliverables triggered by such Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, have been satisfactorily delivered to the Sales Agent.
- (viii) Additional Conditions for "Distributions". If the Company shall direct the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares in a transaction that would constitute a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, the Company will provide the Sales Agent: (A) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, the opinions of counsel and officers' certificates pursuant to Sections 6(a)(ii), (iii) and (iv) hereof, each dated such Settlement Date, (B) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, a customary "bringdown" comfort letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP and (C) such other documents and information as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request.
- (b) Termination of Agreement. If any condition specified in this Section shall not have been fulfilled when and as required to be fulfilled and shall not be waived by the Sales Agent, this Agreement may be terminated by the Sales Agent by notice to the Company, and such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party, except as provided in Section 5 and except that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive any such termination and remain in full force and effect.
- (c) Increase of Maximum Number. The Company may at any time increase the Maximum Number to any number by delivering to the Sales Agent:
  - (i) a notice executed by the President or a Senior Vice President of the Company stating that the Maximum Number shall be increased to the number specified in such notice;
  - (ii) a certificate signed by the individuals specified in Section 6(a)(iv) to the effect that the representations and warranties in Section 2(a)(x) and 2(a)(xvii) are true and correct with respect to the Maximum Number as to be increased;

- (iii) a certificate signed by the individuals and to the effect specified in Section 6(a)(iv), with the proposed Maximum Number being substituted for the existing Maximum Number;
- (iv) opinions of counsel for the Company, as specified in Section 6(a)(ii), reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased:
  - (v) a revised Prospectus reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased; and
- (vi) such additional documents as shall be reasonably required by the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent for purposes analogous to those specified in Section 6(a)(vi).

Upon the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, the Maximum Number shall be increased as specified, without further act, for all purposes of this Agreement.

## SECTION 7. Indemnification.

- (a) Indemnification of the Sales Agent. The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless the Sales Agent, its affiliates, directors and officers and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent, within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act as follows:
  - (i) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, (A) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (B) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
  - (ii) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or of any claim whatsoever based upon any untrue statement or omission of a material fact, or any alleged untrue statement or omission of a material fact, in either case of the nature described in clause (i) above; provided that any such settlement is effected with the written consent of the Company; and
  - (iii) against any and all expense whatsoever, as incurred (including the fees and disbursements of counsel chosen by the Sales Agent), reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue statement or omission, to the extent that any such expense is not paid under (i) or (ii) above;

provided, however, that this Section 7 shall not apply to any loss, liability, claim, damage or expense to the extent arising out of any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent

expressly for use in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto).

- (b) Indemnification of the Company. The Sales Agent shall indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors and officers, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense described in subsection (a) of this Section, as incurred, but only with respect to untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, or alleged untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, made in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto) or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.
- (c) Actions against Parties; Notification. Each indemnified party shall give notice as promptly as reasonably practicable to each indemnifying party of any action commenced against it in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, but failure to so notify an indemnifying party shall not relieve such indemnifying party from any liability hereunder to the extent it is not materially prejudiced as a result thereof and in any event shall not relieve it from any liability which it may have otherwise than on account of this Section 7. In the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(a), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Sales Agent, and, in the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(b), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Company. An indemnifying party may participate at its own expense in the defense of any such action; provided, however, that counsel to the indemnifying party shall not (except with the consent of the indemnified party) also be counsel to the indemnified party. In no event shall the indemnifying parties be liable for fees and expenses of more than one counsel (in addition to any local counsel) separate from their own counsel for all indemnified parties in connection with any one action or separate but similar or related actions in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the indemnified parties, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever in respect of which indemnification could be sought under this Section 7 or contribution could be sought under Section 8 hereof (whether or not the indemnified parties are actual or potential parties thereto), unless such settlement, compromise or consent (i) includes an unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability arising out of such litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

## SECTION 8. Contribution.

If the indemnification provided for in Section 7 hereof is for any reason unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party in respect of any losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses referred to therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the aggregate amount of such losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by such indemnified party, (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and of the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations.

The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed to be in the same respective proportions as the total net proceeds from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement (after the Sales Agent's commission or discount, but before expenses) received by the Company and the total commissions and/or discounts received by the Sales Agent, bear to the aggregate public offering price of the Shares.

The relative fault of the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or by the Sales Agent and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

The Company and the Sales Agent agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 8 were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above in this Section 8. The aggregate amount of losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by an indemnified party and referred to above in this Section 8 shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission of a material fact.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 8, the Sales Agent shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total amount in respect of commissions or underwriting discounts received by the Sales Agent pursuant to this Agreement exceeds the amount of any damages which the Sales Agent has otherwise been required to pay by reason of any such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission.

No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the 1933 Act) with respect to the offering of Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

For purposes of this Section 8, each affiliate, director and officer of the Sales Agent and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Sales Agent, and each director of the Company, each officer of the Company, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Company.

## SECTION 9. Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive.

All of the respective representations, warranties and agreements of the Company and the Sales Agent contained in this Agreement, or in certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to this Agreement, shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Sales Agent or controlling person of the Sales Agent, or by or on behalf of the Company, or any director, officer or controlling person of the Company, and shall survive delivery of and payment for the Shares.

### SECTION 10. Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Termination by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement, at any time
- (i) if there has been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus any Material Adverse Change, or
- (ii) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or liquidation proceedings or other proceedings for relief under any other law for the relief of debtors shall have been instituted by or against the Company or any Designated Subsidiary, or
- (iii) the Company or any Designated Subsidiary shall have made an assignment for the benefit of creditors or shall have applied to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for such entity or for all or substantially all of its property or business, or such a receiver or trustee shall otherwise have been appointed, or
  - (iv) the Common Stock shall no longer be listed on the NYSE, or
- (v) if there has occurred any material adverse change in the financial markets in the United States or in the international financial markets, any outbreak of hostilities or escalation thereof or other calamity or crisis or any change or development involving a prospective change in national or international political, financial or economic conditions, in each case the effect of which is such as to make it, in the judgment of the Sales Agent, impracticable or inadvisable to offer, sell or deliver the Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Shares, or
- (vi) if trading in the Common Stock has been suspended or materially limited by the Commission or the New York Stock Exchange, or if trading generally on the New York Stock Exchange or the NYSE MKT. or in the NASDAQ Global Market or the NASDAQ Global Select Market has been suspended or materially limited, or minimum or maximum prices for trading have been fixed, or maximum ranges for prices have been required, by either of such exchanges or Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. with respect to such markets or by order of the Commission or any other governmental authority, or
- (vii) a material disruption has occurred in commercial banking or securities settlement or clearance services in the United States, or
  - (viii) if a banking moratorium has been declared by either federal or New York authorities.

The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement for any other reason, upon ten days' advance notice to the Company.

- (b) Termination by the Company. The Company may terminate this Agreement at any time, upon one Trading Day's advance notice to the Sales Agent.
- (c) Liabilities. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section, such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except as provided in Section 5 hereof; and provided, further, that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive such termination and remain in full force and effect.

## SECTION 11. Notices.

- (a) General. Except as hereinafter provided, all notices, requests and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if received by mail, electronic mail or transmitted by any standard form of telecommunication to the addresses set forth in this section or to such other address as such party shall have specified most recently by written notice. Notices to the Sales Agent shall be directed to it at Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, New York, New York 10010-3629, attention: LCID-IBD, Fax No. (212) 325-4296, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, Two International Place, Boston, MA 02110, attention: Andrew J. Hickey, Esq., Fax No. (617) 248-4000; and notices to the Company shall be directed to it at 1411 East Mission Avenue, Spokane, Washington 99202, attention: Treasurer, Fax No. (509) 777-5864, e-mail: Treasury@avistacorp.com.
- (b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales. All Sales Notices shall be executed by an individual named on Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company, and shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Any comments by the Sales Agent on any Sales Notice shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Company listed on Schedule A hereto. All notices and other correspondence to and from the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares or suspension of sales of Shares shall be delivered to the personnel of the Company and the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Either party may update its personnel listed on Schedule A by written notice to the other party.

## SECTION 12. Parties in Interest.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors. Nothing expressed in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any person, firm or corporation, other than the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors and the controlling persons and officers and directors referred to in Sections 7 and 8 and their heirs and legal representatives, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Agreement or any provision herein contained. This Agreement and all conditions and provisions hereof are intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors, and said controlling persons and officers and directors and their heirs and legal representatives, and for the benefit of no other person, firm or corporation. No purchaser of Shares from the Sales Agent shall be deemed to be a successor by reason merely of such purchase.

## SECTION 13. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship.

The Company acknowledges and agrees that (a) the offering and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement, including the determination of the public offering price of the Shares and any related commissions and discounts, is an arm's-length commercial transaction between the Company, on the one hand, and the Sales Agent, on the other hand, (b) in connection with the offering contemplated hereby and the process leading to such transaction, the Sales Agent is and has been acting solely on its own behalf and is not the agent or fiduciary of the Company, or its shareholders, creditors, employees or any other party, (c) the Sales Agent has not assumed and will not assume an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby or the process leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Sales Agent has advised or is currently advising the Company on other matters) and the Sales Agent has no obligation to the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby except the obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement, (d) the Sales Agent and its affiliates may be engaged in, and may in the future engage in, a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ from those of the Company and (e) the Sales Agent has not provided any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice

with respect to the offering contemplated hereby, and the Company has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate.

#### SECTION 14. Governing Law and Time.

This agreement and any claim, controversy or dispute relating to or arising out of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed within the State of New York without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws thereof. Specified times of day refer to New York City time. Any action, suit or proceeding to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought in any federal court located in the Southern District of the State of New York or any New York state court located in the Borough of Manhattan, and the Company agrees to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom), and each party waives (to the full extent permitted by law) any objection it may have to the laying of venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

## SECTION 15. Waiver of Jury Trial.

The Company and the Sales Agent each hereby irrevocably waives any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any claim based upon or arising out of this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby.

### SECTION 16. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement.

#### SECTION 17. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings (whether written or oral) between the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

#### SECTION 18. Effect of Headings.

The Section headings herein and the Table of Contents are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

## SECTION 19. No Assignment.

No party may assign its rights or delegate its duties or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of the other party. Any purported assignment or delegation of rights, duties or obligations hereunder shall be void and of no effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Sales Agent may assign its rights under this Agreement and/or may delegate some or all of its duties and obligations under this Agreement, without the consent of the Company, to an affiliate of the Sales Agent that is a registered broker-dealer, it being understood that no such assignment or delegation shall release the Sales Agent from any of its obligations hereunder.

# SECTION 20. Severability.

This Agreement and each Terms Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision hereof or thereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability hereof or thereof or of any term or provision hereof or thereof. Furthermore, if any term or provision of this Agreement or any Terms Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, there shall be deemed to be made to such term or provision such minor changes (and only such minor changes) as shall be necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding of our agreement, please sign and return to the Company a counterpart hereof, whereupon this instrument, along with all counterparts, will become a binding agreement between the Sales Agent and the Company in accordance with its terms.

Very truly yours,

AVISTA CORPORATION

By: /s/ Mark T. Thies

Name: Mark T. Thies

Title: Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and

Treasurer

Signature Page to Sales Agency Agreement

# CONFIRMED AND ACCEPTED, as of the date first above written

# CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC

By: /s/ Craig Wiele

Name: Craig Wiele
Title: Managing Director

 $Signature\ Page\ to\ Sales\ Agency\ Agreement$ 

## **Contact Persons**

# The Company

Mark T. Thies Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer Mark.Thies@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4639

Ryan L. Krasselt
Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer
Ryan.Krasselt@avistacorp.com
T: 509-495-2273

Don M. Falkner Assistant Treasurer Don.Falkner@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4326

Richard N. Stevens Assistant Treasurer and Director of Finance Rich.Stevens@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4330

Lauren Pendergraft
Senior Treasury Analyst
Lauren.Pendergraft@avistacorp.com
T. 500 405 2008

T: 509-495-2998

Solely for notices and other correspondence to the Company with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares, please include:

Denise Burns Cash Management Analyst Denise.Burns@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4725

Treasury Department <a href="mailto:treasury@avistacorp.com">treasury@avistacorp.com</a>

The Sales Agent

Craig Wiele Managing Director Craig.wiele@credit-suisse.com

T: 212-325-8766 F: 212-743-3764

## SALES NOTICE

[Date]

Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC

Attention: Craig Wiele Tel. No. 212-325-8766 Fax No.: 212-743-3764

E-Mail: <a href="mailto:craig.wiele@credit-suisse.com">craig.wiele@credit-suisse.com</a>

Reference is made to the Sales Agency Agreement between Avista Corporation (the "Company") and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, dated as of March 2, 2016 (capitalized terms herein having the meanings assigned thereto in such Agreement). The Company confirms that all conditions to the delivery of this Sales Notice are satisfied as of the date hereof. As of the date hereof, neither the Prospectus nor the Disclosure Package contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

First date of Selling Period:				
Last date of Selling Period:				
Number of days in Selling Period:				
Settlement Date(s):		Third Trading	Day after each sale	
Number of Shares:		\$		
Floor Price*:		\$	per share	
Company Bank Account				
*The Floor Price shown above shall be applicable Company during such Selling Period. Notwithstar the last sale price at which the Company's Compournal on the Trading Day immediately preceding Additional Restrictions:	nding the foregoing, in no event shall non Stock was quoted on the record	the Sales Price of composite	e for any Shares be less than	\$ below
Comments:				
	AVISTA CORPORATION			
	By: Name:  ¹Title:			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>To be executed by the President, any Vice President, the Treasurer or any Assistant Treasurer of the Company.

# AVISTA CORPORATION

(a Washington corporation)

# **Common Stock**

# SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT

Dated: March 2, 2016

# **Table of Contents**

SECTION 1.	Certain Defin	nitions	<u>rage</u> 1
SECTION 2.			5
	Representations and Warranties (a) Representations and Warranties of the Company		5
	(i)	Compliance with Securities Law Requirements	5
	(ii)	Incorporated Documents	6
	(iii)	Independent Accountants	6
	(iv)	Financial Statements	6
	(v)	No Material Adverse Change	7
	(vi)	Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries	7
	(vii)	No Significant Subsidiaries	7
	(viii)	Capitalization	7
	(ix)	Authorization of this Agreement	8
	(x)	Authorization of the Shares	8
	(xi)	Description of the Common Stock	8
	(xii)	Registration; Listing	8
	(xiii)	Actively Traded Securities	8
	(xiv)	Absence of Defaults	8
	(xv)	No Conflict	9
	(xvi)	Absence of Proceedings	9
	(xvii)	Absence of Further Requirements	9
	(xviii)	Title to Property	10
	(xix)	Leases	10
	(xx)	Investment Company Act	10
	(xxi)	Environmental Laws	10
	(xxii)	Internal Controls	10
	(xxiii)	Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley	11
	(xxiv)	Finder's Fees	11
	(xxv)	Sanctions	11
	(xxvi)	Compliance with Money Laundering Laws	11
	(xxvii)	No Unlawful Payments	12
	(b) Officer's	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	12
SECTION 3.	Offers and Sales of Shares		12
	(a) Initiation	n of Sales Efforts	12
		(b) Manner of Offer and Sales	
		(c) Sales Price	
	(d) Confirma	(d) Confirmation of Sales	
	(e) Settlement of Sales		13
	(f) Suspension	(f) Suspension of Sales	
	(g) Proprietary Trading by the Sales Agent		13
	(h) Limitations		14
SECTION 4.	Covenants		14
	(a) Preparation and Filing of the Prospectus		14
		·	
		i	

	(b) Review of Amendments and Supplements	14	
	(c) Free Writing Prospectuses	14	
	(d) Notification of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.	15	
	(e) Delivery of Registration Statements		
	(f) Delivery of Prospectuses	15	
	(g) Continued Compliance with Securities Laws (h) Blue Sky Qualifications		
	(i) Rule 158	16	
	(j) Filing Fees	16	
	(k) Use of Proceeds	16	
	(1) Restriction on Sale of Shares	17	
	(m) Maximum Number	17	
	(n) Regulation M	17	
	(o) Diligence Cooperation	17	
SECTION 5.	Payment of Expenses	17	
	(a) Expenses Payable by the Company	17	
	(b) Expenses Payable by the Sales Agent	18	
	(c) Expenses Upon Termination	18	
SECTION 6.	Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement	18	
	(a) Conditions	18	
	(i) No Stop Order; Commission Filings	18	
	(ii) Opinions of Counsel for the Company	19	
	(iii) Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent	19	
	(iv) No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate	19	
	(v) Accountant's Comfort Letter	19	
	(vi) Additional Conditions	20	
	(vii) Additional Documents	20	
	(viii) Additional Conditions for "Distributions"	20	
	(b) Termination of Agreement	20	
	(c) Increase of Maximum Number	20	
SECTION 7.	Indemnification	21	
	(a) Indemnification of the Sales Agent	21	
	(b) Indemnification of the Company	22	
	(c) Actions against Parties; Notification	22	
SECTION 8.	Contribution	22	
SECTION 9.	Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive	23	
SECTION 10.	Termination of Agreement	24	
	(a) Termination by the Sales Agent		
	(b) Termination by the Company	24	
	(c) Liabilities		
SECTION 11.	Notices	25	

	(a) General	25
	(b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales	25
SECTION 12.	Parties in Interest	25
SECTION 13.	No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship	25
SECTION 14.	Governing Law and Time	26
SECTION 15.	Waiver of Jury Trial	26
SECTION 16.	Counterparts	26
SECTION 17.	Entire Agreement	26
SECTION 18.	Effect of Headings	26
SECTION 19.	No Assignment	26
SECTION 20.	Severability	27
SCHEDULES		
Schedule A	Contact Persons	Sch A
EXHIBITS		
Exhibit A	Form of Sales Notice	A-1
	iii	

#### **AVISTA CORPORATION**

(a Washington corporation)

Common Stock

# **SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT**

March 2, 2016

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC 383 Madison Avenue New York, New York 10179

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Avista Corporation, a Washington corporation (the "Company"), confirms its agreement (the "Agreement") with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (the "Sales Agent"), whereby the Company, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, may from time to time offer shares ("Shares") of its Common Stock, without nominal or par value ("Common Stock"), and the Sales Agent, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and the Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The Company may enter into one or more agreements substantially identical to this Agreement (each an "Other Agreement") with other investment banking firms as sales agents (each an "Other Sales Agent") whereby, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and therein, the Company may from time to time offer Shares and the Other Sales Agent party thereto, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and such Other Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The maximum number of Shares that the Company may issue and sell under this Agreement and all the Other Agreements, collectively, is the Maximum Number (as hereinafter defined).

On February 25, 2016, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") a registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), for the registration of securities, including the Shares, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act"), and the offer and sale thereof from time to time in accordance with Rule 415 of the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1933 Act (the "1933 Act Regulations").

## SECTION 1. Certain Definitions

When used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

- "Accounting Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(I).
- "Agreements and Instruments" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xiv).
- "Applicable Time" means the time of each sale of Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

"Base Prospectus" means the base prospectus relating to the Shares filed as part of the Registration Statement, in the form in which it has been most recently filed with the Commission prior to the Closing Time.

- "Closing Time" means the time and date of the execution and delivery of this Agreement.
- "Commercially Reasonable Efforts" means, with respect to the obligation of the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares, commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and in compliance with applicable law.
  - "Commission" has the meaning forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Commitment Period" means the period commencing on March 2, 2016 and expiring on the earliest to occur of (a) the first date on which the Maximum Number of Shares shall have been sold under this Agreement and/or the Other Agreements, (b) the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 6 or Section 10 and (c) February 29, 2020.
  - "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "Company" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Designated Subsidiary" means each of Avista Capital, Inc., Alaska Energy and Resources Company and Alaska Electric Light and Power Company.
  - "Disclosure Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Disclosure Package" means, collectively, (i) the Prospectus as of any particular time and (ii) any other Issuer Free Writing Prospectus relating to the offer and sale of the Shares (to the extent not superseded or modified by the Prospectus or by a subsequent Issuer Free Writing Prospectus).
  - "EDGAR" has the meaning set forth below in this Section 1.
- "Effective Time" means the date and time of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement for purposes of paragraph (f)(2) of Rule 430B of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 430B"), as applied to the Sales Agent.
- "Floor Price" means the minimum Sales Price set by the Company in a Sales Notice for any Selling Period, as such Sales Notice may be amended from time to time during such Selling Period. The Floor Price may, in addition to setting an absolute minimum dollar amount per Share, also be limited by reference to recent or prevailing market prices.
  - "Initiation Date" means each date of delivery of a Sales Notice pursuant to Section 3(a).
  - "Internal Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Issuer Free Writing Prospectus" means any "issuer free writing prospectus" (as defined by Rule 433 of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 433")) with respect to the Shares.
  - "Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xviii).
  - "Material Adverse Change" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(v).
  - "Material Adverse Effect" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(vi).
  - "Maximum Number" means 3,795,199 or such higher number as shall be established pursuant to Section 6(c).

"Net Proceeds", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the aggregate Sales Prices for such Shares less the Selling Commission in respect of the sale of such Shares (but before other expenses).

"NYSE" means the New York Stock Exchange.

"Other Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Other Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Primary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii).

"Prospectus" means, as of any particular time, the Base Prospectus, as supplemented by the final prospectus supplement relating to the offer and sale of the Shares, as filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), together with any further supplements or amendments thereto at such time.

"PUC Orders" has the meaning forth in Section 2(a)(xvii).

"Registration Statement" means, as of any particular time, the Company's registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), including (a) any amendments thereto at such time, (b) the exhibits and schedules thereto at such time (other than the Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1) and (c) any prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) that, in accordance with Rule 430B, is deemed to be a part thereof; provided, however, that, if a new registration statement shall have been filed and shall have become effective on or about the third anniversary of the initial effective date of registration statement No. 333-209714, the term "Registration Statement" shall mean, at and after the time of the effectiveness of such new registration statement, such new registration statement, including amendments, exhibits and any prospectus as aforesaid.

"Regulation S-T" means Regulation S-T of the Commission.

"Repayment Event" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xv).

"Representation Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).

"Rule 405" means Rule 405 of the 1933 Act Regulations.

"Rule 424(b)" means Rule 424(b) of the 1933 Act Regulations.

"Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

"Sales Notice" means a written notice, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, executed by an individual named in Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company and delivered to the Sales Agent in accordance with this Agreement. Any Sales Notice may be amended by the Company and the Sales Agent and, from and after the time of such amendment, the term "Sales Notice" shall mean the original Sales Notice as amended. Any Sales Notice or amendment to a Sales Notice shall be deemed acceptable to the Sales Agent unless the Sales Agent shall promptly notify the Company to the contrary. Each Sales Notice shall be delivered, and may be amended, by facsimile transmission, email or other customary means of electronic communication.

"Sales Price", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the price per Share paid to the Sales Agent for such Shares.

- "Secondary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii)(B).
- "Selling Commission", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the commission, discount or other compensation to be received by the Sales Agent in connection with the sale of such Shares.
- "Selling Period" means a period of one to 20 consecutive Trading Days specified by the Company in a Sales Notice, commencing no earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the Trading Day on which such Sales Notice is delivered to the Sales Agent.
- "Settlement Date" means, with respect to the sale of any Shares, the third business day following the Trading Day on which an offer to sell such Shares was accepted.
  - "Shares" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Terms Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Sales Agent that relates to the issuance and sale by the Company, and the purchase by the Sales Agent as principal (and not as agent), of a specific number of Shares and otherwise incorporates the terms and provisions of, and is deemed a part of, this Agreement.
- "Trading Day" means any day on which the NYSE is open for trading (other than a day on which trading is scheduled to close prior to its regular weekday closing time).
  - "1933 Act" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1933 Act Regulations" has meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1934 Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
  - "1934 Act Regulations" means the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1934 Act.

The foregoing definitions are subject to the following qualifications:

- (a) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to any of the financial statements, schedules or other information that is "contained", "included" or "stated" (or other words of like import) therein shall be deemed to include the information contained in documents filed with the Commission under the 1934 Act that (i) are incorporated, or deemed incorporated, therein by reference pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act, to the extent such information has not been superseded or modified in accordance with Rule 412 of the 1933 Act Regulations (as qualified by Rule 430B(g) of the 1933 Act Regulations) and (ii)(A) in the case of references to the "Registration Statement", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the Effective Time and (B) in the case of references to the "Prospectus", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the date thereof;
- (b) all references in this Agreement to an amendment to the Registration Statement shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act;
- (c) all references in this Agreement to an amendment or supplement to the Prospectus shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act; and

(d) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to include the copy filed with the Commission pursuant to its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system ("EDGAR").

## SECTION 2. Representations and Warranties.

(a) Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to the Sales Agent as of the Closing Time, each Initiation Date, each Trading Day and each Applicable Time within each Selling Period, each Settlement Date, each date as of which the Registration Statement shall be amended and each date as of which the Prospectus shall be amended or supplemented (each such date a "Representation Date") as follows:

## (i) Compliance with Securities Law Requirements.

- (A) <u>Well-Known Seasoned Issuer Status</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission, at all relevant determination dates, and at the date hereof, the Company was and is a "well-known seasoned issuer" (as defined in Rule 405).
- (B) <u>Eligibility to Use Form S-3</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission and at the time of the most recent amendment, if any, to the Registration Statement for purposes of complying with Section 10(a)(3) of the 1933 Act, the Company met the requirements for use of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act.
- ( C ) <u>Status and Content of the Registration Statement.</u> The Registration Statement became effective automatically upon the filing thereof with the Commission under the 1933 Act. No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued under the 1933 Act and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted by the Commission or are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, have been threatened or are contemplated by the Commission, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information with respect to the Registration Statement has been complied with. At the time the Registration Statement became effective, and at the Effective Time, the Registration Statement complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations. At the Effective Time, the Registration Statement did not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
- (D) <u>Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses</u>. At the earliest time after the filing of the Registration Statement that the Company or another offering participant made a bona fide offer (within the meaning of Rule 164(h)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations) of the Shares, the Company was not an "ineligible issuer" as defined in Rule 405. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, at the time it was filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 433 or, if it was not required to be so filed, at the time of each use thereof (i) did not include any information that conflicts with (A) information contained in the Registration Statement, including any prospectus or prospectus supplement that is part of the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, or (B) information contained in the Company's periodic and current reports filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act that are incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, and (ii)

complied in all other respects with the requirements of Rule 164 and Rule 433 (without reliance on subsections (b), (c) and (d) of Rule 164 of the 1933 Act Regulations). No order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus has been issued by the Commission.

- (E) <u>Content of the Disclosure Package</u>. The Disclosure Package, at the Closing Time and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (F) Status and Content of the Prospectus. The Prospectus, at the Closing Time, as of its date and at the time it is filed with the Commission and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations and, as of such respective dates, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Prospectus delivered to the Sales Agent in connection with the offering of the Shares, and any amendment or supplement thereto, will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table will be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (G) <u>Description and Filing of Contracts and Documents</u>. All contracts or documents that are required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement have been so described and filed as required.

The representations and warranties in this subsection (a)(i) shall not apply to any statements in or omissions from the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished to the Company in writing by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.

- (ii) <u>Incorporated Documents</u>. The documents incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, at the time they were or hereafter are filed with the Commission, complied or will comply, as applicable, in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and, when filed did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (iii) <u>Independent Accountants</u>. The accountants who audited the financial statements and financial statement schedules included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus are independent registered public accountants within the meaning of Regulation S-X of the Commission.
- (iv) <u>Financial Statements</u>. The financial statements, together with the respective schedules and notes relating thereto, included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, present fairly the financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries at the dates indicated and the results of operations and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the periods specified; such financial statements

have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved, except as otherwise stated therein. The selected financial data and the summary financial information included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus present fairly the information shown therein and have been compiled on a basis consistent with that of the audited financial statements included in the Registration Statement. The financial statements and other financial data included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus comply in all material respects with the requirements of paragraph (e) of Item 10 of Regulation S-K. The interactive data in eXtensible Business Reporting Language filed as exhibits to the documents incorporated by reference or deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement and the Prospectus fairly presents the information called for in all material respects and has been prepared in accordance with the Commission's rules and guidelines applicable thereto. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any off-balance sheet arrangements of the character contemplated by Item 303 of Regulation S-K or otherwise by Section 13G of the 1934 Act, or has any other contingent obligation or liability, which, in any case, is material, or is reasonably likely to be material, to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries considered as one enterprise.

- (v) <u>No Material Adverse Change</u>. Since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, there has been no material adverse change, or any development that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse change, in the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such change or development, a "Material Adverse Change").
- (vi) Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries. Each of the Company and each of the Designated Subsidiaries has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the corporate power and authority to own or lease and operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, and the Company has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Other Agreements; and the Company is duly qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is required, whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of business, except where the failure so to qualify or to be in good standing would not have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such effect, a "Material Adverse Effect").
- (vii) <u>No Significant Subsidiaries</u>. The Company has no "significant subsidiaries" as defined in Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X.
- (viii) <u>Capitalization</u>. The authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company is as set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus. All of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Designated Subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of any Liens.

- (ix) <u>Authorization of this Agreement</u>. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.
- (x) Authorization of the Shares. The Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and, when issued and delivered by the Company pursuant to this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements against payment of the consideration contemplated herein or therein, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable; no holder of the Shares will be subject to personal liability in respect of liabilities of the Company solely by reason of being a holder of the Shares; and the issuance of the Shares is not subject to the preemptive or other similar rights of any securityholder of the Company. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no outstanding options, warrants, conversion rights, subscription rights, rights of first refusal or other rights or agreements of any nature outstanding to subscribe for or to purchase any shares of Common Stock of the Company binding on the Company (except pursuant to dividend reinvestment, stock purchase or ownership, stock option or other director or employee benefit plans), and there are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company containing anti-dilution or similar provisions that will be triggered by the issuance of the Shares as described in this Agreement or the Other Agreements. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no restrictions upon the voting or transfer of any shares of the Company's Common Stock pursuant to the Company's Restated Articles of Incorporation or By-laws. There are no agreements or other obligations (contingent or otherwise) that may require the Company to repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of its Common Stock. No person or entity has the right, contractual or otherwise, to cause the Company to issue to it, or to register pursuant to the 1933 Act, any shares of Common Stock upon the filing of the Registration Statement or the issuance or sale of the Shares hereunder. Immediately after any sale of Shares by the Company under this Agreement and the Other Agreements, the aggregate number of Shares that have been issued and sold by the Company hereunder and thereunder will not exceed the aggregate amount of Common Stock (A) registered and available under the Registration Statement or (B) that shall be authorized by the PUC Orders from time to time.
- (x i) <u>Description of the Common Stock</u>. The description of the Common Stock in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus is accurate in all material respects.
- (xii) <u>Registration; Listing</u>. The Common Stock is registered as a class under Section 12(b) of the 1934 Act. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are listed, and the Shares are authorized for listing (subject to official notice of issuance), on the NYSE.
- (xiii) <u>Actively Traded Securities</u>. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are "actively traded securities" excepted from the provisions of Rule 101 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations by virtue of subsection (c)(1) of such rule.
- (xiv) Absence of Defaults. Neither the Company nor any Designated Subsidiary is in violation of its articles of incorporation or by-laws or in default in the performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any contract, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement, note, lease or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is a party or by which it or such Designated Subsidiary may be bound, or to which any of the property or assets of the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is subject (collectively, "Agreements and Instruments") except for such defaults as, singly or in the aggregate, would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

- (xv) No Conflict. The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Other Agreements and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated herein and therein (including the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares and the use of the proceeds from the sale of the Shares as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus) and compliance by the Company with its obligations hereunder and under the Other Agreements, do not and will not, whether with or without the giving of notice or passage of time or both, conflict with or constitute a breach of, or default or Repayment Event (as defined below) under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any property or assets of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary pursuant to, the Agreements and Instruments (except for such conflicts, breaches, defaults or Liens as, singly or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect), nor will such action result in any violation of the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or of any statute of any jurisdiction applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any rule, regulation or order applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary of any regulatory body, administrative agency or other governmental body or any court that, in any such case, has jurisdiction over the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any of their respective assets, properties or operations. As used herein, a "Repayment Event" means any event or condition that gives the holder of any note, debenture or other evidence of indebtedness (or any person acting on such holder's behalf) the right to require the repurchase, redemption or repayment of all or a portion of such indebtedness by the Company or any Designated Subsidiary.
- (xvi) Absence of Proceedings. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or brought by any court or governmental agency or body, domestic or foreign, now pending, or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, against or affecting the Company or any of its subsidiaries, that (A) is required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus and is not disclosed as required, (B) could materially and adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements or the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder or thereunder or (C) except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and the aggregate of all pending legal or governmental proceedings to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any of their respective properties or assets is the subject that are not described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, including ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xvii) Absence of Further Requirements. The Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (the "WUTC"), the Idaho Public Utilities Commission (the "IPUC") and the Public Utility Commission of Oregon (the "OPUC") have issued orders authorizing the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares on the terms contemplated in this Agreement and the Other Agreements; the Montana Public Service Commission (the "MPSC") has issued an order disclaiming jurisdiction over the issuance of securities and the creation of liens by the Company pursuant to, and on the terms set forth in such order (such order, collectively with the aforesaid orders of the WUTC, the IPUC and the OPUC, being hereinafter called the "PUC Orders"); the PUC Orders are in full force and effect as of the date hereof; and, except for informational filings required under the PUC Orders, no further consent, approval or authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any regulatory or other governmental body or agency is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Other Agreements or the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares.

- (xviii) <u>Title to Property</u>. The Company and each of its Designated Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to all real property owned by them and good title to all other property owned by them, in each case subject only to such mortgages, pledges, security interests, claims and other liens and encumbrances (collectively "Liens") and such exceptions, defects and qualifications as (A) are described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (B) would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xix) <u>Leases</u>. All of the leases and subleases material to the business of the Company and its Designated Subsidiaries, considered as one enterprise, and under which the Company or any of such subsidiaries holds properties, described in or required to be described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus are in full force and effect, and the Company has no notice of any claim of any sort asserted by anyone adverse to the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries under any of such leases or subleases, or affecting or questioning the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries to the continued possession of the premises leased or subleased thereunder, that would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xx) <u>Investment Company Act</u>. The Company is not, and upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as contemplated herein and in the Other Agreements and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus will not be, an "investment company" or an entity "controlled" by an "investment company" as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- (xxi) Environmental Laws. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of the Designated Subsidiaries (A) is in violation of any statute, rule, regulation, decision or order of any governmental body or any court, domestic or foreign, relating to the use, disposal or release of hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants, to the protection or restoration of the environment or to human or animal exposure to hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that have the potential to adversely impact human or animal health (collectively, "environmental laws"), (B) owns or operates any real property contaminated with any hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that is subject to clean-up or other responsive action under any environmental laws, (C) is liable for any off-site disposal or contamination pursuant to any environmental laws, (D) is subject to any claim of violation of or liability under any environmental laws, which violation, contamination, liability or claim would individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and the Company is not aware of any pending investigation or circumstances which would reasonably be expected to lead to such a claim.
- (xxii) <u>Internal Controls</u>. (A) The Company has devised and established and maintains the following, among other, internal controls (without duplication):
  - (I) a system of "internal accounting controls" as contemplated in Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the 1934 Act (the "Accounting Controls");
  - (II) "internal control over financial reporting" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
  - (III) "disclosure controls and procedures" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the 1934 Act Regulations (the "**Disclosure Controls**" and, together with the Accounting Controls and the Reporting Controls, the "**Internal Controls**"));

- (B) The Internal Controls are evaluated by the Company's senior management periodically as appropriate and, in any event, as required by law;
  - (C) Based on the most recent evaluations of the Internal Controls:
  - (I) the Internal Controls are, individually and in the aggregate, effective in all material respects to perform the functions for which they were established; and
  - (II) all material weaknesses, if any, and significant deficiencies, if any, in the design or operation of the Internal Controls which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Internal Controls have been disclosed to the audit committee of the Company's board of directors and the Company's independent auditors.
- (xxiii) <u>Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley</u>. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations of the Commission that have been adopted thereunder, to the extent that such act and such rules and regulations are in effect and applicable to the Company.
- (xxiv) <u>Finder's Fees</u>. The Company has not incurred (directly or indirectly) nor will it incur, directly or indirectly, any liability for any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or other similar fee, charge or commission in connection with this Agreement or the Other Agreements, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except as set forth in or contemplated by this Agreement and the Other Agreements.
- (xxv) <u>Sanctions</u>. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is currently the subject or the target of any sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or any other applicable sanctions laws or regulations ("Sanctions"), nor is the Company or any of its subsidiaries located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is the subject or the target of Sanctions, including, without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan and Syria (each, a "Sanctioned Country"); and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of the offering of the Shares hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any person or entity, (A) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business with any person that, at the time of such funding or facilitation, is the subject or the target of Sanctions or (B) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business in any Sanctioned Country or (C) in any other manner that will result in a violation by any person (including any person participating in the transaction, whether as sales agent, advisor, investor or otherwise) of Sanctions.
- (xxvi) Compliance with Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, the applicable money laundering statutes of all jurisdictions in which the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries conducts business, the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines issued, administered or enforced by any governmental or regulatory agency (collectively, the "Anti-Money Laundering Laws"); and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or

governmental or regulatory agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.

- (xxvii) No Unlawful Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has violated or is in violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the "FCPA") or any other applicable anti-corruption and/or anti-bribery laws and regulations. The Company and the and its subsidiaries have instituted and maintain policies and procedures designed to promote and provide reasonable assurance as to compliance with the FCPA.
- (b) Officer's Certificates. Any certificate signed by any officer of the Company delivered to the Sales Agent or to counsel for the Sales Agent in connection with the offer and sale of the Shares shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to the Sales Agent as to the matters covered thereby.

## SECTION 3. Offers and Sales of Shares.

- (a) Initiation of Sales Efforts. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, on any Trading Day during the Commitment Period the Company may deliver to the Sales Agent a Sales Notice, and, upon the commencement of the Selling Period specified in such Sales Notice, which shall not be earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the date of receipt by the Sales Agent of such Sales Notice, the Sales Agent shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell the number of Shares specified in such Sales Notice. The Company acknowledges that there can be no assurance that the Sales Agent will be successful in selling the Shares and agrees that the Sales Agent shall incur no liability or obligation to the Company if it does not sell Shares for any reason other than a failure by the Sales Agent to use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell such Shares in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (b) Manner of Offer and Sales. (i) The offering and sale of Shares under this Agreement (other than sales to or by the Sales Agent as principal) shall be made by such methods permitted by law as the Sales Agent shall determine from time to time that are deemed to be "at-the-market offerings" within the meaning of Rule 415(a)(4) of the 1933 Act Regulations, including sales made directly on the NYSE, through an "alternative trading system" as defined in Rule 300 of Regulation ATS under the 1934 Act or any other electronic communications network or to or through a market maker; provided, however, that, if the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in writing, sales may be made in privately negotiated transactions;
- (ii) If the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in a separate Terms Agreement (it being understood and agreed that neither party is under any obligation to do so), the Company may sell Shares to the Sales Agent acting as principal, and the Sales Agent may purchase such Shares acting as principal, it being understood that, in the event of any inconsistency between the terms and provisions of this Agreement and those of the Terms Agreement, those of the Terms Agreement shall control.
- (c) Sales Price. (i) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent acting as agent in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be made at prevailing market prices per Share or, if and to the extent so specified in the related Sales Notice, at prices per Share related to prevailing market prices. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, (a) in no event shall the Sales Price for any Shares so sold be less than the Floor Price set forth in the related Sales Notice and (b) the Company shall

not establish any Floor Price that would not be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.

- (ii) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent as agent in privately negotiated transactions, and the public offering of Shares purchased by the Sales Agent acting as principal, shall be made at such Sales Prices as shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case, such agreement by the Company to be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (iii) The Selling Commission in respect of Shares sold hereunder in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be such percentage (not to exceed 2%) of the Sales Price thereof, as agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent from time to time, provided, however, that the Selling Commission in respect of all sales hereunder that (A) are made under a Terms Agreement, (B) made in a transaction that constitutes a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (C) are otherwise not At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case.
- (d) Confirmation of Sales. The Sales Agent shall deliver to the Company, not later than the opening of the Trading Day next following each Trading Day on which it makes sales of Shares hereunder, a confirmation setting forth (i) the number of Shares sold in each transaction on such Trading Day, (ii) the applicable Sales Price for each such sale of Shares, (iii) the aggregate Sales Price for each such transaction and (iv) the Net Proceeds payable to the Company for each such transaction.
- (e) Settlement of Sales. Subject to the conditions set forth in Section 6, each sale of Shares hereunder shall be settled on the Settlement Date therefor. No later than 12:00 Noon (New York City time) on the Settlement Date, the Company shall cause its transfer agent, currently Computershare Shareholder Services LLC, to electronically transfer such Shares to the Sales Agent by crediting the account of the Sales Agent or its designee or nominee at the Depository Trust Company through its Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian System, or by such other means of delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in writing. Upon notification that the Shares have been issued, Sales Agent shall deliver the total Net Proceeds for the sale of all Shares to be settled on such Settlement Date by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Company in the related Sales Notice.
- (f) Suspension of Sales. The Company or the Sales Agent may, upon notice to the other party in writing or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable facsimile transmission, e-mail or other customary means of electronic communication), suspend the offering or sale of Shares, and the Selling Period shall immediately terminate; provided, however, that such suspension and termination shall not affect or impair either party's obligations with respect to any Shares sold hereunder prior to the prompt processing of such notice of suspension.
- (g) Proprietary Trading by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent has advised the Company that during the Commitment Period the Sales Agent and/or its affiliates may purchase and sell shares of Common Stock for their respective accounts and for the accounts of their respective customers; provided, however, that (i) no such purchase or sale shall violate any provision of applicable law (including particularly but without limitation the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act or any regulation under either thereof) and (ii) no sale of shares of Common Stock shall be made by the Sales Agent for the account of the Sales Agent during any Selling Period unless (A) such sale is made pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of a Terms Agreement, (B) such sale is a sale by the Sales Agent of shares purchased, or deemed to have been purchased, from the Company as a "riskless principal" or in a similar capacity, (C) such sale is made in trading transactions in the ordinary course of business but only if neither the Company nor the

Sales Agent is in violation of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (D) the Company shall have consented thereto.

- (h) Limitations. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding:
- (i) in no event shall the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement, together with the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to the Other Agreements (as disclosed to the Sales Agent from time to time by the Company), exceed the Maximum Number (the Company hereby acknowledging and agreeing that the Sales Agent shall have no responsibility for maintaining records with respect to the aggregate number of Shares sold (other than the Shares sold under this Agreement));
- (ii) in no event shall the Sales Agent be obligated to make any offer or sale of Shares during any period in which either party has reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
- (iii) in no event shall the Company sell Shares through both the Sales Agent and any Other Sales Agent on the same Trading Day; without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in no event shall the Selling Period designated in a Sales Notice delivered to the Sales Agent include a Trading Day that is included in a selling period that is in effect under one of the Other Agreements; and each of the Other Agreements shall contain the limitations sets forth in this clause (iii).

#### SECTION 4. Covenants.

- (a) Preparation and Filing of the Prospectus. The Company will prepare the Prospectus and, after affording the Sales Agent the opportunity to comment thereon, file the Prospectus with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b) not later than the Commission's close of business on the second business day following the Closing Time.
- (b) Review of Amendments and Supplements. The Company will not amend the Registration Statement, or amend or supplement the Prospectus, without providing notice to the Sales Agent at least 24 hours, or such shorter period as is reasonably required by the circumstances, prior to the filing thereof with the Commission. Except in the case of any such amendment or supplement to be made by the filing under the 1934 Act of a document that will be incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus that would be made by the Company irrespective of the offer and sale of the Shares, the Company will not effect such amendment or supplement without the consent of the Sales Agent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Neither the consent of the Sales Agent, nor the delivery of any such amendment or supplement by the Sales Agent, shall constitute a waiver of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6 hereof.

The Company will notify the Sales Agent immediately, and confirm such notice in writing, when any post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement shall have been filed or shall become effective and when any supplement to the Prospectus or any amended Prospectus shall have been filed.

(c) Free Writing Prospectuses. (i) The Company has not made and, without the consent of the Sales Agent, will not make any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" as defined by Rule 405, including an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus.

- (ii) The Sales Agent has not made, and without the consent of the Company shall not make, any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" (as defined in Rule 405) that the Company would be required to file with the Commission under Rule 433.
- (d) Notification of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.. The Company will notify the Sales Agent of (i) the receipt of any comments from the Commission with respect to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus, including any request by the Commission for any amendment, supplement or additional information with respect thereto and (ii) the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose. The Company will make every reasonable effort to prevent the issuance of any stop order and, in the event of any stop order, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (e) Delivery of Registration Statements. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent and to counsel for the Sales Agent, upon request and without charge, one conformed copy of the Registration Statement as originally filed and of each amendment thereto (including, in each case, all exhibits filed therewith or incorporated by reference). Such copies of the Registration Statement and amendments thereto so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (f) Delivery of Prospectuses. The Company will furnish to the Sales Agent, without charge, during the period when the Prospectus (or, in lieu thereof, the notice referred to in Rule 173(a) of the 1933 Act Regulations) is required to be delivered of the 1933 Act Regulations, such number of copies of the Prospectus as the Sales Agent may reasonably request. Such copies of the Prospectus so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent, without charge, as many copies of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request, and the Company hereby consents to the use of such copies by the Sales Agent for purposes of the offer and sale of the Shares in a manner consistent with the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (g) Continued Compliance with Securities Laws. (i) The Company will file all reports and other documents that it is required to file with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act within the time periods required by the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and will otherwise comply with the 1933 Act, the 1933 Act Regulations, the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations so as to permit the offer, sale and distribution of the Shares as contemplated in this Agreement and the Prospectus; provided, however, that the Company may assume that the distribution of the Shares issued on any Settlement Date has been completed on the business day following such Settlement Date unless the Sales Agent shall have provided written notice to the contrary.
- (ii) During the distribution of the Shares, the Company will notify the Sales Agent promptly if (A) any filing is made by the Company of information relating to the offering of the Shares with any securities exchange or any other regulatory body in the United States or any other jurisdiction or (B) a Material Adverse Change shall have occurred that is not disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (C) any other event shall have occurred that causes (x) the Registration Statement to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or (y) the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

- (iii) Upon any notification pursuant to clause (ii)(B) or (C) above, or if at any time an event shall occur or other circumstances shall exist as a result of which it is necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Company or of the Sales Agent, (A) to amend the Registration Statement in order that it shall not, as of the Effective Time, include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations or (B) to amend or supplement the Prospectus in order that it shall not, as of any Initiation Date, any Applicable Time within any Selling Period or any Settlement Date, contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances existing at such time, not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations,
  - (A) the Company will promptly prepare and file with the Commission, subject to Section 4(b), such amendment or supplement as may be necessary to correct such statement or omission or to make the Registration Statement or the Prospectus comply with such requirements, and the Company will furnish to the Sales Agent such number of copies of such amendment or supplement as the Sales Agent may reasonably request;
  - (B) the Company shall not deliver to the Sales Agent any Sales Notice until such statement or omission is corrected; and
  - (C) if such time shall be during a Selling Period specified in a Sales Notice theretofore delivered to the Sales Agent, the Company shall promptly, by telephone (confirmed by electronic mail), cancel such Sales Notice and direct the Sales Agent to cease selling Shares and making offers for such sales.
- (h) Blue Sky Qualifications. The Company will use its best efforts, in cooperation with the Sales Agent, to take such action, if any, as may be required to qualify the Shares for offering and sale under the applicable securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions as the Sales Agent may reasonably designate and to maintain such qualifications in effect as long as required for the distribution of the Shares; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to file any general consent to service of process or to qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in which it is not so qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business in any jurisdiction in which it is not otherwise so subject. In the event that the Company becomes aware of the suspension of the qualification of the Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the initiation or threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes, the Company will so notify the Sales Agent and will cooperate with the Sales Agent to endeavor to prevent any such suspension and, in the event of any such suspension, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (i) Rule 158. The Company will timely file such reports pursuant to the 1934 Act as are necessary in order to make generally available to its securityholders as soon as practicable an earnings statement for the purposes of, and to provide the benefits contemplated by, the last paragraph of Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act and Rule 158 thereunder (which earnings statement need not be audited unless required so to be under Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act).
- (j) Filing Fees. The Company agrees to pay the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time required by Rule 456(b)(1) of the 1933 Act Regulations and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (k) Use of Proceeds. The Company will use the Net Proceeds received by it from the sale of the Shares in the manner specified in the Prospectus under "Use of Proceeds".

- (1) Restriction on Sale of Shares. The Company will not (A) at any time during any Selling Period without the prior written consent of the Sales Agent or (B) at any time during the term of this Agreement without giving the Sales Agent at least three Trading Days' prior written notice specifying the nature and timing of the proposed sale, directly or indirectly, offer to sell, contract to sell, sell, grant any option to buy or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock or warrants or rights to purchase or acquire shares of Common Stock. The foregoing restrictions shall not restrict the Company's issuance or sale of (i) shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement or the Other Sales Agreements, (ii) shares of Common Stock, options to purchase shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options, in any case pursuant to any employee or director stock option or benefit plan, stock purchase or ownership plan or dividend reinvestment plan of the Company, (iii) shares of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (iv) shares of Common Stock issuable as consideration in connection with acquisitions of business, assets or securities of other entities by merger or otherwise.
- (m) Maximum Number. The Company will promptly notify the Sales Agent and each of the Other Sales Agents when the Maximum Number of Shares has been sold.
- (n) Regulation M. If either the Company or the Sales Agent shall have reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, it shall promptly notify the other party and the Sales Agent may suspend sales of Shares under this Agreement or any Terms Agreement until, in the judgment of each party, the Common Stock is such an excepted security.
- (o) Diligence Cooperation. The Company shall reasonably cooperate with any reasonable due diligence review requested by the Sales Agent or its counsel from time to time in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or any Terms Agreement, including, without limitation, on or about each Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, providing information and making available appropriate documents and appropriate corporate officers of the Company and, upon reasonable request, representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

#### SECTION 5. Payment of Expenses.

(a) Expenses Payable by the Company. The Company will pay all expenses incident to the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, including (i) the preparation, printing and filing of the Registration Statement (including financial statements and exhibits) as originally filed and of each amendment thereto, (ii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of this Agreement and such other documents as may be required in connection with the offering, purchase, sale, issuance or delivery of the Shares, (iii) the preparation, issuance and delivery of the certificate or certificates for the Shares, (iv) the fees and disbursements of the Company's counsel, accountants and other advisors, (v) the qualification of the Shares under securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 4(h) hereof, (vi) the printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and of the Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto, (vii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of any Blue Sky survey and any supplement thereto, (viii) the costs and expenses of the Company relating to investor presentations on any "road show" undertaken in connection with the marketing of the Shares, including without limitation, expenses associated with the production of road show slides and graphics, fees and expenses of any consultants engaged in connection with the road show presentations, travel and lodging expenses of the Sales Agent and officers of the Company and any such consultants, and the cost of aircraft and other transportation chartered in connection with the road show and (ix) the reasonable documented out-of-pocket expenses of the Sales Agent, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the Sales Agent, in connection with the negotiation,

execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations hereunder during the Commitment Period, it being understood that the Company shall be required to pay the fees and disbursements of only one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents.

- (b) Expenses Payable by the Sales Agent. Except as provided in subsection (a) above and subsection (c) below, the Sales Agent will pay all of its expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the fees and disbursements of any counsel for the Sales Agent (other than the one counsel for the Sales Agent and Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection (a)(ix) above).
- (c) Expenses Upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated by the Sales Agent in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 or Section 10(a)(i) hereof, the Company shall reimburse the Sales Agent for all of its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of the one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection a(ix) above.

#### SECTION 6. Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Conditions. The obligations of the Sales Agent hereunder are subject to the accuracy, as of the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2(a) hereof and in all certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to the provisions hereof, to the performance by the Company of its covenants and other obligations hereunder to be performed at or prior to the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, and to the following further conditions:
  - ( i ) No Stop Order; Commission Filings. At the Closing Time and each subsequent Representation Date, the Registration Statement shall remain effective and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued under the 1933 Act or proceedings therefor initiated or threatened by the Commission and the Company shall not have received from the Commission any notice pursuant to Rule 401(g)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations objecting to use of the automatic shelf registration statement form, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information shall have been complied with to the reasonable satisfaction of counsel to the Sales Agent; the Prospectus shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b); any material required to be filed by the Company pursuant to Rule 433(d), shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with the applicable time period prescribed for such filing under Rule 433; and the Company shall have paid the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time period required by Rule 456(b)(l)(i) of the 1933 Act Regulations without regard to the proviso therein and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations and, if applicable, shall have updated the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in accordance with Rule 456(b)(1)(ii) of the 1933 Act Regulations either in a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or on the cover page of a prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b).
  - (ii) Opinions of Counsel for the Company. (A) At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall amend the Registration Statement and/or amend or supplement the Prospectus (in each case other than by means of the incorporation by reference of documents filed with the Commission) or the date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K (each such date being herein called a "**Primary Delivery Date**"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Marian M. Durkin, Esq., Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief

Compliance Officer of the Company, and Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP, counsel for the Company, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively.

- (B) Within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall file a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K (except to the extent that any such Current Report "furnishes" rather than "files" the information provided therein), and at any other time reasonably requested by the Sales Agent (each of such dates being herein called a "Secondary Delivery Date"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of counsel referred to in clause (A) above, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively; provided, however, that such counsel may deliver, in lieu of such opinions, a reliance letter to the effect that the Sales Agent may rely on the opinion delivered on the next preceding Primary Delivery Date to the same extent as if it were dated the date of such letter (except that the statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed to relate to the Registration Statement as amended and the Prospectus as amended and/or supplemented as of such Secondary Delivery Date).
- (iii) Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent. At the Closing Time and each other Primary Delivery Date, Secondary Delivery Date relating to a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and, if and to the extent reasonably requested by the Sales Agent, each other Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received the opinion, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, counsel for the Sales Agent, as to such matters as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request. In giving such opinion such counsel may rely, as to all matters governed by the laws of jurisdictions other than the law of the State of New York and the federal law of the United States upon the opinions of counsel to the Company. Such counsel may also state that, insofar as such opinion involves factual matters, they have relied, to the extent they deem proper, upon certificates of officers of the Company and certificates of public officials.
- (iv) No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate. (A) At the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, there shall not have been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, any Material Adverse Change and (B) at the Closing Time and at each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received a certificate of the President or a Vice President of the Company and of the chief financial or chief accounting officer of the Company, dated the date of delivery thereof, to the effect that (I) there has been no such Material Adverse Change, (II) the representations and warranties in Section 2(a) hereof are true and correct with the same force and effect as though expressly made at and as of such date, (III) the Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part required by this Agreement to be performed or satisfied at or prior to such date, and (IV) no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted or are pending or, to the knowledge of the signers, contemplated by the Commission.
- (v) Accountant's Comfort Letter. At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after each date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K, a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K that contains financial statements of the Company (other than any Current Report on Form 8-K that is "furnished" to and not "filed" with the Commission), the Sales Agent shall have received from Deloitte & Touche LLP a letter dated the date of delivery thereof, in form and scope consistent with the internal guidelines of such firm for the delivery of comfort letters and, in any event, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Sales Agent, containing statements and information of the type customarily included in accountants' "comfort letters" to underwriters with respect to the

financial statements of, and certain financial information relating to, the Company contained in the Registration Statement, Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.

- (vi) Additional Conditions. At the Closing Time and on each other Representation Date, none of the events enumerated in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Section 10(a) shall have occurred.
- (vii) Additional Documents. At the Closing Time and on each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent shall have been furnished with such additional documents and opinions as they may reasonably require for the purpose of enabling such counsel to pass upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated, or in order to evidence the accuracy of any of the representations or warranties, or the fulfillment of any of the conditions, herein contained; and all proceedings taken by the Company in connection with the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent. For the avoidance of doubt, it is understood and agreed that the Sales Agent shall not have any obligation to offer or sell any Shares during the period commencing on any Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, through the date on which all deliverables triggered by such Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, have been satisfactorily delivered to the Sales Agent.
- (viii) Additional Conditions for "Distributions". If the Company shall direct the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares in a transaction that would constitute a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, the Company will provide the Sales Agent: (A) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, the opinions of counsel and officers' certificates pursuant to Sections 6(a)(ii), (iii) and (iv) hereof, each dated such Settlement Date, (B) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, a customary "bringdown" comfort letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP and (C) such other documents and information as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request.
- (b) Termination of Agreement. If any condition specified in this Section shall not have been fulfilled when and as required to be fulfilled and shall not be waived by the Sales Agent, this Agreement may be terminated by the Sales Agent by notice to the Company, and such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party, except as provided in Section 5 and except that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive any such termination and remain in full force and effect.
- (c) Increase of Maximum Number. The Company may at any time increase the Maximum Number to any number by delivering to the Sales Agent:
  - (i) a notice executed by the President or a Senior Vice President of the Company stating that the Maximum Number shall be increased to the number specified in such notice;
  - (ii) a certificate signed by the individuals specified in Section 6(a)(iv) to the effect that the representations and warranties in Section 2(a)(x) and 2(a)(xvii) are true and correct with respect to the Maximum Number as to be increased;

- (iii) a certificate signed by the individuals and to the effect specified in Section 6(a)(iv), with the proposed Maximum Number being substituted for the existing Maximum Number;
- (iv) opinions of counsel for the Company, as specified in Section 6(a)(ii), reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased:
  - (v) a revised Prospectus reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased; and
- (vi) such additional documents as shall be reasonably required by the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent for purposes analogous to those specified in Section 6(a)(vi).

Upon the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, the Maximum Number shall be increased as specified, without further act, for all purposes of this Agreement.

## SECTION 7. Indemnification.

- (a) *Indemnification of the Sales Agent.* The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless the Sales Agent, its affiliates, directors and officers and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent, within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act as follows:
  - (i) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, (A) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (B) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
  - (ii) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or of any claim whatsoever based upon any untrue statement or omission of a material fact, or any alleged untrue statement or omission of a material fact, in either case of the nature described in clause (i) above; provided that any such settlement is effected with the written consent of the Company; and
  - (iii) against any and all expense whatsoever, as incurred (including the fees and disbursements of counsel chosen by the Sales Agent), reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue statement or omission, to the extent that any such expense is not paid under (i) or (ii) above;

provided, however, that this Section 7 shall not apply to any loss, liability, claim, damage or expense to the extent arising out of any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent

expressly for use in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto).

- (b) Indemnification of the Company. The Sales Agent shall indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors and officers, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense described in subsection (a) of this Section, as incurred, but only with respect to untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, or alleged untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, made in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto) or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.
- (c) Actions against Parties; Notification. Each indemnified party shall give notice as promptly as reasonably practicable to each indemnifying party of any action commenced against it in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, but failure to so notify an indemnifying party shall not relieve such indemnifying party from any liability hereunder to the extent it is not materially prejudiced as a result thereof and in any event shall not relieve it from any liability which it may have otherwise than on account of this Section 7. In the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(a), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Sales Agent, and, in the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(b), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Company. An indemnifying party may participate at its own expense in the defense of any such action; provided, however, that counsel to the indemnifying party shall not (except with the consent of the indemnified party) also be counsel to the indemnified party. In no event shall the indemnifying parties be liable for fees and expenses of more than one counsel (in addition to any local counsel) separate from their own counsel for all indemnified parties in connection with any one action or separate but similar or related actions in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the indemnified parties, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever in respect of which indemnification could be sought under this Section 7 or contribution could be sought under Section 8 hereof (whether or not the indemnified parties are actual or potential parties thereto), unless such settlement, compromise or consent (i) includes an unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability arising out of such litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

## SECTION 8. Contribution.

If the indemnification provided for in Section 7 hereof is for any reason unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party in respect of any losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses referred to therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the aggregate amount of such losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by such indemnified party, (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and of the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations.

The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed to be in the same respective proportions as the total net proceeds from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement (after the Sales Agent's commission or discount, but before expenses) received by the Company and the total commissions and/or discounts received by the Sales Agent, bear to the aggregate public offering price of the Shares.

The relative fault of the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or by the Sales Agent and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

The Company and the Sales Agent agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 8 were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above in this Section 8. The aggregate amount of losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by an indemnified party and referred to above in this Section 8 shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission of a material fact.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 8, the Sales Agent shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total amount in respect of commissions or underwriting discounts received by the Sales Agent pursuant to this Agreement exceeds the amount of any damages which the Sales Agent has otherwise been required to pay by reason of any such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission.

No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the 1933 Act) with respect to the offering of Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

For purposes of this Section 8, each affiliate, director and officer of the Sales Agent and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Sales Agent, and each director of the Company, each officer of the Company, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Company.

## SECTION 9. Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive.

All of the respective representations, warranties and agreements of the Company and the Sales Agent contained in this Agreement, or in certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to this Agreement, shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Sales Agent or controlling person of the Sales Agent, or by or on behalf of the Company, or any director, officer or controlling person of the Company, and shall survive delivery of and payment for the Shares.

### SECTION 10. Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Termination by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement, at any time
- (i) if there has been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus any Material Adverse Change, or
- (ii) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or liquidation proceedings or other proceedings for relief under any other law for the relief of debtors shall have been instituted by or against the Company or any Designated Subsidiary, or
- (iii) the Company or any Designated Subsidiary shall have made an assignment for the benefit of creditors or shall have applied to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for such entity or for all or substantially all of its property or business, or such a receiver or trustee shall otherwise have been appointed, or
  - (iv) the Common Stock shall no longer be listed on the NYSE, or
- (v) if there has occurred any material adverse change in the financial markets in the United States or in the international financial markets, any outbreak of hostilities or escalation thereof or other calamity or crisis or any change or development involving a prospective change in national or international political, financial or economic conditions, in each case the effect of which is such as to make it, in the judgment of the Sales Agent, impracticable or inadvisable to offer, sell or deliver the Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Shares, or
- (vi) if trading in the Common Stock has been suspended or materially limited by the Commission or the New York Stock Exchange, or if trading generally on the New York Stock Exchange or the NYSE MKT. or in the NASDAQ Global Market or the NASDAQ Global Select Market has been suspended or materially limited, or minimum or maximum prices for trading have been fixed, or maximum ranges for prices have been required, by either of such exchanges or Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. with respect to such markets or by order of the Commission or any other governmental authority, or
- (vii) a material disruption has occurred in commercial banking or securities settlement or clearance services in the United States, or
  - (viii) if a banking moratorium has been declared by either federal or New York authorities.

The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement for any other reason, upon ten days' advance notice to the Company.

- (b) Termination by the Company. The Company may terminate this Agreement at any time, upon one Trading Day's advance notice to the Sales Agent.
- (c) Liabilities. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section, such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except as provided in Section 5 hereof; and provided, further, that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive such termination and remain in full force and effect.

# SECTION 11. Notices.

- (a) General. Except as hereinafter provided, all notices, requests and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if received by mail, electronic mail or transmitted by any standard form of telecommunication to the addresses set forth in this section or to such other address as such party shall have specified most recently by written notice. Notices to the Sales Agent shall be directed to it at J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, 383 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10179, attention: Adam S, Rosenbluth, Email: <a href="mailto:adam.s.rosenbluth@ipmorgan.com">adam.s.rosenbluth@ipmorgan.com</a> and Brett Chalmers, Email: <a href="mailto:brett.chalmers@ipmorgan.com">brett.chalmers@ipmorgan.com</a>, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, Two International Place, Boston, MA 02110, attention: Andrew J. Hickey, Esq., Fax No. (617) 248-4000; and notices to the Company shall be directed to it at 1411 East Mission Avenue, Spokane, Washington 99202, attention: Treasurer, Fax No. (509) 777-5864, e-mail: Treasury@avistacorp.com.
- (b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales. All Sales Notices shall be executed by an individual named on Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company, and shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Any comments by the Sales Agent on any Sales Notice shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Company listed on Schedule A hereto. All notices and other correspondence to and from the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares or suspension of sales of Shares shall be delivered to the personnel of the Company and the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Either party may update its personnel listed on Schedule A by written notice to the other party.

## SECTION 12. Parties in Interest.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors. Nothing expressed in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any person, firm or corporation, other than the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors and the controlling persons and officers and directors referred to in Sections 7 and 8 and their heirs and legal representatives, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Agreement or any provision herein contained. This Agreement and all conditions and provisions hereof are intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors, and said controlling persons and officers and directors and their heirs and legal representatives, and for the benefit of no other person, firm or corporation. No purchaser of Shares from the Sales Agent shall be deemed to be a successor by reason merely of such purchase.

## SECTION 13. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship.

The Company acknowledges and agrees that (a) the offering and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement, including the determination of the public offering price of the Shares and any related commissions and discounts, is an arm's-length commercial transaction between the Company, on the one hand, and the Sales Agent, on the other hand, (b) in connection with the offering contemplated hereby and the process leading to such transaction, the Sales Agent is and has been acting solely on its own behalf and is not the agent or fiduciary of the Company, or its shareholders, creditors, employees or any other party, (c) the Sales Agent has not assumed and will not assume an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby or the process leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Sales Agent has advised or is currently advising the Company on other matters) and the Sales Agent has no obligation to the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby except the obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement, (d) the Sales Agent and its affiliates may be engaged in, and may in the future engage in, a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ from those

of the Company and (e) the Sales Agent has not provided any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice with respect to the offering contemplated hereby, and the Company has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate.

#### SECTION 14. Governing Law and Time.

This agreement and any claim, controversy or dispute relating to or arising out of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed within the State of New York without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws thereof. Specified times of day refer to New York City time. Any action, suit or proceeding to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought in any federal court located in the Southern District of the State of New York or any New York state court located in the Borough of Manhattan, and the Company agrees to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom), and each party waives (to the full extent permitted by law) any objection it may have to the laying of venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

# SECTION 15. Waiver of Jury Trial.

The Company and the Sales Agent each hereby irrevocably waives any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any claim based upon or arising out of this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby.

#### SECTION 16. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement.

## SECTION 17. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings (whether written or oral) between the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

#### SECTION 18. Effect of Headings.

The Section headings herein and the Table of Contents are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

#### SECTION 19. No Assignment.

No party may assign its rights or delegate its duties or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of the other party. Any purported assignment or delegation of rights, duties or obligations hereunder shall be void and of no effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Sales Agent may assign its rights under this Agreement and/or may delegate some or all of its duties and obligations under this Agreement, without the consent of the Company, to an affiliate of the Sales Agent that is a registered broker-dealer, it being understood that no such assignment or delegation shall release the Sales Agent from any of its obligations hereunder.

# SECTION 20. Severability.

This Agreement and each Terms Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision hereof or thereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability hereof or thereof or of any term or provision hereof or thereof. Furthermore, if any term or provision of this Agreement or any Terms Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, there shall be deemed to be made to such term or provision such minor changes (and only such minor changes) as shall be necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding of our agreement, please sign and return to the Company a counterpart hereof, whereupon this instrument, along with all counterparts, will become a binding agreement between the Sales Agent and the Company in accordance with its terms.

Very truly yours,

AVISTA CORPORATION

By: /s/ Mark T. Thies

Name: Mark T. Thies

Title: Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and

Treasurer

Signature Page to Sales Agency Agreement

# CONFIRMED AND ACCEPTED, as of the date first above written

# J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC

By: /s/ Adam S. Rosenbluth

Name: Adam S. Rosenbluth Title: Executive Director

Signature Page to Sales Agency Agreement

## **Contact Persons**

# The Company

Mark T. Thies Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer Mark.Thies@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4639

Ryan L. Krasselt Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer Ryan.Krasselt@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-2273

Don M. Falkner Assistant Treasurer Don.Falkner@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4326

Richard N. Stevens Assistant Treasurer and Director of Finance Rich.Stevens@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4330

Lauren Pendergraft
Senior Treasury Analyst
Lauren.Pendergraft@avistacorp.com

T: 509-495-2998

Solely for notices and other correspondence to the Company with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares, please include:

Denise Burns Cash Management Analyst Denise.Burns@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4725

Treasury Department treasury@avistacorp.com

Schedule A-1

# The Sales Agent

Adam S. Rosenbluth
Executive Director
adam.s.rosenbluth@jpmorgan.com
T: 212-622-7027

Brett Chalmers Associate brett.chalmers@jpmorgan.com T: 212-622-2252

Jemil D. Salih Executive Director jemil.d.salih@jpmorgan.com T: 212-662-2723

Ara H. Movsesian Executive Director ara.movsesian@jpmorgan.com

T: 212-622-2619

# SALES NOTICE

[Date]

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC			
Attention:			
Геl. No			
Fax No.:			
E-Mail:]			
Reference is made to the Sales Agency Agreement 2, 2016 (capitalized terms herein having the meaning of this Sales Notice are satisfied as of the date he statement of a material fact or omits to state a material they were made, not misleading.	ings assigned thereto in such Agreem ereof. As of the date hereof, neither	ent). The Company confirms that the Prospectus nor the Disclosur	t all conditions to the delivery re Package contains an untrue
First date of Selling Period:			
Last date of Selling Period:			
East date of Sching Ferrod.			
Number of days in Selling Period:			
Settlement Date(s):		Third Trading Day after each sa	ale
Number of Shares:		\$	
Floor Price*:		\$per share	
Company Bank Account			
*The Floor Price shown above shall be applicable Company during such Selling Period. Notwithstar the last sale price at which the Company's Comp Journal on the Trading Day immediately preceding	nding the foregoing, in no event shall non Stock was quoted on the record	If the Sales Price for any Shares of of composite transactions report	be less than \$ below
Additional Restrictions:			
Comments:			
	AVISTA CORPORATION		
	By:		
	Name:		
	¹Title:		

<sup>1</sup> To be executed by the President, any Vice President, the Treasurer or any Assistant Treasurer of the Company.

# AVISTA CORPORATION

(a Washington corporation)

# **Common Stock**

# SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT

Dated: March 2, 2016

# **Table of Contents**

an amra			<u>Page</u>
SECTION 1.	Certain Defi		1
		ions and Warranties	5
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		ntations and Warranties of the Company	5
	(i)	Compliance with Securities Law Requirements	5
	(ii)	Incorporated Documents	6
	(iii)	Independent Accountants	6
	(iv)	Financial Statements	7
	(v)	No Material Adverse Change	7
	(vi)	Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries	7
	(vii)	No Significant Subsidiaries	7
	(viii)	Capitalization	8
	(ix)	Authorization of this Agreement	8
	(x)	Authorization of the Shares	8
	(xi)	Description of the Common Stock	8
	(xii)	Registration; Listing	8
	(xiii)	Actively Traded Securities	8
	(xiv)	Absence of Defaults	8
	(xv)	No Conflict	9
	(xvi)	Absence of Proceedings	9
	(xvii)	Absence of Further Requirements	9
	(xviii)	Title to Property	10
	(xix)	Leases	10
	(xx)	Investment Company Act	10
	(xxi)	Environmental Laws	10
	(xxii)	Internal Controls	10
	(xxiii)	Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley	11
	(xxiv)	Finder's Fees	11
	(xxv)	Sanctions	11
	(xxvi)	Compliance with Money Laundering Laws	12
	(xxvii)	No Unlawful Payments	12
	(b) Officer's	Certificates	12
<ul> <li>(a) Initiation</li> <li>(b) Manner of</li> <li>(c) Sales Price</li> <li>(d) Confirma</li> <li>(e) Settlemen</li> <li>(f) Suspensio</li> </ul>	Offers and Sa	ales of Shares	12
	n of Sales Efforts	12	
	(b) Manner of	of Offer and Sales	12
	ce	13	
	ation of Sales	13	
	nt of Sales	13	
	on of Sales	13	
	ary Trading by the Sales Agent	14	
	(h) Limitatio	ons	14
SECTION 4.	Covenants		14
	(a) Preparat	tion and Filing of the Prospectus	14
		i	

	(b) Review of	Amendments and Supplements	14
	(c) Free Writi	ing Prospectuses	15
	(d) Notificati	on of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.	15
	(e) Delivery o	f Registration Statements	15
	(f) Delivery o	f Prospectuses	15
	(g) Continued	d Compliance with Securities Laws	15
	(h) Blue Sky (	Qualifications	16
	(i) Rule 158		16
	(j) Filing Fee	S	17
	(k) Use of Pro	oceeds	17
	(l) Restriction	on Sale of Shares	17
	(m) Maximum	n Number	17
	(n) Regulatio	n M	17
	(o) Diligence	Cooperation	17
SECTION 5.	Payment of E	xpenses	17
	(a) Expenses	Payable by the Company	17
	(b) Expenses	Payable by the Sales Agent	18
	(c) Expenses	Upon Termination	18
SECTION 6.	Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement		t 18
	(a) Condition	S	18
	(i)	No Stop Order; Commission Filings	18
	(ii)	Opinions of Counsel for the Company	19
	(iii)	Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent	19
	(iv)	No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate	19
	(v)	Accountant's Comfort Letter	20
	(vi)	Additional Conditions	20
	(vii)	Additional Documents	20
	(viii)	Additional Conditions for "Distributions"	20
	(b) Terminati	on of Agreement	20
	(c) Increase o	f Maximum Number	20
SECTION 7.	Indemnificati	ion	21
	(a) Indemnific	cation of the Sales Agent	21
	(b) Indemnific	cation of the Company	22
	(c) Actions ag	gainst Parties; Notification	22
SECTION 8.	Contribution		22
SECTION 9.	Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive		24
SECTION 10.	Termination of Agreement		24
	(a) Termination	on by the Sales Agent	24
(b) 7	(b) Terminati	on by the Company	25
	(c) Liabilities		25
SECTION 11.	Notices		25

	(a) General	25
	(b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales	25
SECTION 12.	Parties in Interest	25
SECTION 13.	No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship	25
SECTION 14.	Governing Law and Time	26
SECTION 15.	Waiver of Jury Trial	26
SECTION 16.	Counterparts	26
SECTION 17.	Entire Agreement	26
SECTION 18.	Effect of Headings	26
SECTION 19.	No Assignment	26
SECTION 20.	Severability	27
SCHEDULES		
Schedule A	Contact Persons	Sch A
EXHIBITS		
Exhibit A	Form of Sales Notice	A-1
	iii	

#### **AVISTA CORPORATION**

(a Washington corporation)

Common Stock

## SALES AGENCY AGREEMENT

March 2, 2016

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

One Bryant Park

New York, NY 10036

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Avista Corporation, a Washington corporation (the "Company"), confirms its agreement (the "Agreement") with Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (the "Sales Agent"), whereby the Company, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, may from time to time offer shares ("Shares") of its Common Stock, without nominal or par value ("Common Stock"), and the Sales Agent, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and the Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The Company may enter into one or more agreements substantially identical to this Agreement (each an "Other Agreement") with other investment banking firms as sales agents (each an "Other Sales Agent") whereby, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and therein, the Company may from time to time offer Shares and the Other Sales Agent party thereto, subject to such terms and conditions, shall offer Shares for sale as the Company's sales agent or, in limited circumstances with the agreement of both the Company and such Other Sales Agent, may purchase Shares as principal.

The maximum number of Shares that the Company may issue and sell under this Agreement and all the Other Agreements, collectively, is the Maximum Number (as hereinafter defined).

On February 25, 2016, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") a registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), for the registration of securities, including the Shares, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act"), and the offer and sale thereof from time to time in accordance with Rule 415 of the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1933 Act (the "1933 Act Regulations").

# SECTION 1. <u>Certain Definitions</u>

When used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

- "Accounting Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(I).
- "Agreements and Instruments" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xiv).
- "Applicable Time" means the time of each sale of Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

- "Base Prospectus" means the base prospectus relating to the Shares filed as part of the Registration Statement, in the form in which it has been most recently filed with the Commission prior to the Closing Time.
  - "Closing Time" means the time and date of the execution and delivery of this Agreement.
- "Commercially Reasonable Efforts" means, with respect to the obligation of the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares, commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and in compliance with applicable law.
  - "Commission" has the meaning forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Commitment Period" means the period commencing on March 2, 2016 and expiring on the earliest to occur of (a) the first date on which the Maximum Number of Shares shall have been sold under this Agreement and/or the Other Agreements, (b) the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 6 or Section 10 and (c) February 29, 2020.
  - "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "Company" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Designated Subsidiary" means each of Avista Capital, Inc., Alaska Energy and Resources Company and Alaska Electric Light and Power Company.
  - "Disclosure Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Disclosure Package" means, collectively, (i) the Prospectus as of any particular time and (ii) any other Issuer Free Writing Prospectus relating to the offer and sale of the Shares (to the extent not superseded or modified by the Prospectus or by a subsequent Issuer Free Writing Prospectus).
  - "EDGAR" has the meaning set forth below in this Section 1.
- "Effective Time" means the date and time of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement for purposes of paragraph (f)(2) of Rule 430B of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 430B"), as applied to the Sales Agent.
- "Floor Price" means the minimum Sales Price set by the Company in a Sales Notice for any Selling Period, as such Sales Notice may be amended from time to time during such Selling Period. The Floor Price may, in addition to setting an absolute minimum dollar amount per Share, also be limited by reference to recent or prevailing market prices.
  - "Initiation Date" means each date of delivery of a Sales Notice pursuant to Section 3(a).
  - "Internal Controls" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xxii)(III).
- "Issuer Free Writing Prospectus" means any "issuer free writing prospectus" (as defined by Rule 433 of the 1933 Act Regulations ("Rule 433")) with respect to the Shares.
  - "Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xviii).
  - "Material Adverse Change" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(v).

- "Material Adverse Effect" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(vi).
- "Maximum Number" means 3,795,199 or such higher number as shall be established pursuant to Section 6(c).
- "Net Proceeds", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the aggregate Sales Prices for such Shares less the Selling Commission in respect of the sale of such Shares (but before other expenses).
  - "NYSE" means the New York Stock Exchange.
  - "Other Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "Other Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "Primary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii).
- "Prospectus" means, as of any particular time, the Base Prospectus, as supplemented by the final prospectus supplement relating to the offer and sale of the Shares, as filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), together with any further supplements or amendments thereto at such time.
  - "PUC Orders" has the meaning forth in Section 2(a)(xvii).
- "Registration Statement" means, as of any particular time, the Company's registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-209714), including (a) any amendments thereto at such time, (b) the exhibits and schedules thereto at such time (other than the Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1) and (c) any prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) that, in accordance with Rule 430B, is deemed to be a part thereof; provided, however, that, if a new registration statement shall have been filed and shall have become effective on or about the third anniversary of the initial effective date of registration statement No. 333-209714, the term "Registration Statement" shall mean, at and after the time of the effectiveness of such new registration statement, such new registration statement, including amendments, exhibits and any prospectus as aforesaid.
  - "Regulation S-T" means Regulation S-T of the Commission.
  - "Repayment Event" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(xv).
  - "Representation Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).
  - "Rule 405" means Rule 405 of the 1933 Act Regulations.
  - "Rule 424(b)" means Rule 424(b) of the 1933 Act Regulations.
  - "Sales Agent" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Sales Notice" means a written notice, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, executed by an individual named in Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company and delivered to the Sales Agent in accordance with this Agreement. Any Sales Notice may be amended by the Company and the Sales Agent and, from and after the time of such amendment, the term "Sales Notice" shall mean the original Sales Notice as amended. Any Sales Notice or amendment to a Sales Notice shall be deemed acceptable to the Sales Agent unless the Sales Agent shall promptly notify the Company to the contrary. Each Sales Notice shall

be delivered, and may be amended, by facsimile transmission, e-mail or other customary means of electronic communication.

- "Sales Price", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the price per Share paid to the Sales Agent for such Shares.
- "Secondary Delivery Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a)(ii)(B).
- "Selling Commission", with respect to any Shares sold hereunder, means the commission, discount or other compensation to be received by the Sales Agent in connection with the sale of such Shares.
- "Selling Period" means a period of one to 20 consecutive Trading Days specified by the Company in a Sales Notice, commencing no earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the Trading Day on which such Sales Notice is delivered to the Sales Agent.
- "Settlement Date" means, with respect to the sale of any Shares, the third business day following the Trading Day on which an offer to sell such Shares was accepted.
  - "Shares" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
- "Terms Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Sales Agent that relates to the issuance and sale by the Company, and the purchase by the Sales Agent as principal (and not as agent), of a specific number of Shares and otherwise incorporates the terms and provisions of, and is deemed a part of, this Agreement.
- "Trading Day" means any day on which the NYSE is open for trading (other than a day on which trading is scheduled to close prior to its regular weekday closing time).
  - "1933 Act" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1933 Act Regulations" has meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
  - "1934 Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
  - "1934 Act Regulations" means the rules and regulations of the Commission under the 1934 Act.

The foregoing definitions are subject to the following qualifications:

(a) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to any of the financial statements, schedules or other information that is "contained", "included" or "stated" (or other words of like import) therein shall be deemed to include the information contained in documents filed with the Commission under the 1934 Act that (i) are incorporated, or deemed incorporated, therein by reference pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act, to the extent such information has not been superseded or modified in accordance with Rule 412 of the 1933 Act Regulations (as qualified by Rule 430B(g) of the 1933 Act Regulations) and (ii)(A) in the case of references to the "Registration Statement", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the Effective Time and (B) in the case of references to the "Prospectus", are filed with the Commission at or prior to the date thereof;

- (b) all references in this Agreement to an amendment to the Registration Statement shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act:
- (c) all references in this Agreement to an amendment or supplement to the Prospectus shall be deemed to include any document filed under the 1934 Act subsequent to the date thereof that is deemed incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act; and
- (d) all references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to include the copy filed with the Commission pursuant to its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system ("EDGAR").

#### SECTION 2. Representations and Warranties.

(a) Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to the Sales Agent as of the Closing Time, each Initiation Date, each Trading Day and each Applicable Time within each Selling Period, each Settlement Date, each date as of which the Registration Statement shall be amended and each date as of which the Prospectus shall be amended or supplemented (each such date a "Representation Date") as follows:

## (i) Compliance with Securities Law Requirements.

- (A) <u>Well-Known Seasoned Issuer Status</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission, at all relevant determination dates, and at the date hereof, the Company was and is a "well-known seasoned issuer" (as defined in Rule 405).
- (B) <u>Eligibility to Use Form S-3</u>. At the time the Registration Statement was filed with the Commission and at the time of the most recent amendment, if any, to the Registration Statement for purposes of complying with Section 10(a)(3) of the 1933 Act, the Company met the requirements for use of Form S-3 under the 1933 Act.
- ( C ) <u>Status and Content of the Registration Statement.</u> The Registration Statement became effective automatically upon the filing thereof with the Commission under the 1933 Act. No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued under the 1933 Act and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted by the Commission or are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, have been threatened or are contemplated by the Commission, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information with respect to the Registration Statement has been complied with. At the time the Registration Statement became effective, and at the Effective Time, the Registration Statement complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations. At the Effective Time, the Registration Statement did not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
- (D) <u>Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses</u>. At the earliest time after the filing of the Registration Statement that the Company or another offering participant made a bona fide offer (within the meaning of Rule 164(h)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations) of the Shares, the Company was not an "ineligible issuer" as defined in Rule 405. Each Issuer

Free Writing Prospectus, at the time it was filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 433 or, if it was not required to be so filed, at the time of each use thereof (i) did not include any information that conflicts with (A) information contained in the Registration Statement, including any prospectus or prospectus supplement that is part of the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, or (B) information contained in the Company's periodic and current reports filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act that are incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, and not superseded or modified, and (ii) complied in all other respects with the requirements of Rule 164 and Rule 433 (without reliance on subsections (b), (c) and (d) of Rule 164 of the 1933 Act Regulations). No order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus has been issued by the Commission.

- (E) <u>Content of the Disclosure Package</u>. The Disclosure Package, at the Closing Time and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (F) Status and Content of the Prospectus. The Prospectus, at the Closing Time, as of its date and at the time it is filed with the Commission and at each Initiation Date, each Applicable Time within each Selling Period and each Settlement Date, will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations and, as of such respective dates, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Prospectus delivered to the Sales Agent in connection with the offering of the Shares, and any amendment or supplement thereto, will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table will be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (G) <u>Description and Filing of Contracts and Documents</u>. All contracts or documents that are required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement have been so described and filed as required.

The representations and warranties in this subsection (a)(i) shall not apply to any statements in or omissions from the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished to the Company in writing by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.

- (ii) <u>Incorporated Documents</u>. The documents incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, at the time they were or hereafter are filed with the Commission, complied or will comply, as applicable, in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and, when filed did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (iii) <u>Independent Accountants</u>. The accountants who audited the financial statements and financial statement schedules included in the Registration Statement, the

Disclosure Package and the Prospectus are independent registered public accountants within the meaning of Regulation S-X of the Commission.

- (iv) Financial Statements. The financial statements, together with the respective schedules and notes relating thereto, included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, present fairly the financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries at the dates indicated and the results of operations and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the periods specified; such financial statements have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved, except as otherwise stated therein. The selected financial data and the summary financial information included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus present fairly the information shown therein and have been compiled on a basis consistent with that of the audited financial statements included in the Registration Statement. The financial statements and other financial data included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus comply in all material respects with the requirements of paragraph (e) of Item 10 of Regulation S-K. The interactive data in eXtensible Business Reporting Language filed as exhibits to the documents incorporated by reference or deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement and the Prospectus fairly presents the information called for in all material respects and has been prepared in accordance with the Commission's rules and guidelines applicable thereto. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has any off-balance sheet arrangements of the character contemplated by Item 303 of Regulation S-K or otherwise by Section 13G of the 1934 Act, or has any other contingent obligation or liability, which, in any case, is material, or is reasonably likely to be material, to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries considered as one enterprise.
- (v) <u>No Material Adverse Change</u>. Since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, there has been no material adverse change, or any development that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse change, in the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such change or development, a "Material Adverse Change").
- (vi) Good Standing of the Company and Designated Subsidiaries. Each of the Company and each of the Designated Subsidiaries has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the corporate power and authority to own or lease and operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, and the Company has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Other Agreements; and the Company is duly qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is required, whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of business, except where the failure so to qualify or to be in good standing would not have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries considered as one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business (any such effect, a "Material Adverse Effect").
- (vii) No Significant Subsidiaries. The Company has no "significant subsidiaries" as defined in Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X.

- (viii) <u>Capitalization</u>. The authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company is as set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus. All of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Designated Subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of any Liens.
- (ix) <u>Authorization of this Agreement</u>. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.
- (x) Authorization of the Shares. The Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and, when issued and delivered by the Company pursuant to this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements against payment of the consideration contemplated herein or therein, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable; no holder of the Shares will be subject to personal liability in respect of liabilities of the Company solely by reason of being a holder of the Shares; and the issuance of the Shares is not subject to the preemptive or other similar rights of any securityholder of the Company. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no outstanding options, warrants, conversion rights, subscription rights, rights of first refusal or other rights or agreements of any nature outstanding to subscribe for or to purchase any shares of Common Stock of the Company binding on the Company (except pursuant to dividend reinvestment, stock purchase or ownership, stock option or other director or employee benefit plans), and there are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company containing anti-dilution or similar provisions that will be triggered by the issuance of the Shares as described in this Agreement or the Other Agreements. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no restrictions upon the voting or transfer of any shares of the Company's Common Stock pursuant to the Company's Restated Articles of Incorporation or By-laws. There are no agreements or other obligations (contingent or otherwise) that may require the Company to repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of its Common Stock. No person or entity has the right, contractual or otherwise, to cause the Company to issue to it, or to register pursuant to the 1933 Act, any shares of Common Stock upon the filing of the Registration Statement or the issuance or sale of the Shares hereunder. Immediately after any sale of Shares by the Company under this Agreement and the Other Agreements, the aggregate number of Shares that have been issued and sold by the Company hereunder and thereunder will not exceed the aggregate amount of Common Stock (A) registered and available under the Registration Statement or (B) that shall be authorized by the PUC Orders from time to time.
- (x i) <u>Description of the Common Stock</u>. The description of the Common Stock in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus is accurate in all material respects.
- (xii) <u>Registration; Listing</u>. The Common Stock is registered as a class under Section 12(b) of the 1934 Act. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are listed, and the Shares are authorized for listing (subject to official notice of issuance), on the NYSE.
- (xiii) <u>Actively Traded Securities</u>. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are "actively traded securities" excepted from the provisions of Rule 101 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations by virtue of subsection (c)(1) of such rule.
- (xiv) <u>Absence of Defaults</u>. Neither the Company nor any Designated Subsidiary is in violation of its articles of incorporation or by-laws or in default in the

performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any contract, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement, note, lease or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is a party or by which it or such Designated Subsidiary may be bound, or to which any of the property or assets of the Company or such Designated Subsidiary is subject (collectively, "Agreements and Instruments") except for such defaults as, singly or in the aggregate, would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

- (xv) No Conflict. The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the Other Agreements and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated herein and therein (including the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares and the use of the proceeds from the sale of the Shares as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus) and compliance by the Company with its obligations hereunder and under the Other Agreements, do not and will not, whether with or without the giving of notice or passage of time or both, conflict with or constitute a breach of, or default or Repayment Event (as defined below) under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any property or assets of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary pursuant to, the Agreements and Instruments (except for such conflicts, breaches, defaults or Liens as, singly or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect), nor will such action result in any violation of the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or of any statute of any jurisdiction applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any rule, regulation or order applicable to the Company or any Designated Subsidiary of any regulatory body, administrative agency or other governmental body or any court that, in any such case, has jurisdiction over the Company or any Designated Subsidiary or any of their respective assets, properties or operations. As used herein, a "Repayment Event" means any event or condition that gives the holder of any note, debenture or other evidence of indebtedness (or any person acting on such holder's behalf) the right to require the repurchase, redemption or repayment of all or a portion of such indebtedness by the Company or any Designated Subsidiary.
- (xvi) Absence of Proceedings. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or brought by any court or governmental agency or body, domestic or foreign, now pending, or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, against or affecting the Company or any of its subsidiaries, that (A) is required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus and is not disclosed as required, (B) could materially and adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement or any of the Other Agreements or the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder or thereunder or (C) except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and the aggregate of all pending legal or governmental proceedings to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any of their respective properties or assets is the subject that are not described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, including ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xvii) <u>Absence of Further Requirements</u>. The Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (the "WUTC"), the Idaho Public Utilities Commission (the "IPUC") and the Public Utility Commission of Oregon (the "OPUC") have issued orders authorizing the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares on the terms contemplated in this Agreement and the Other Agreements; the Montana Public Service Commission (the "MPSC") has issued an order disclaiming jurisdiction over the issuance of securities and the creation of liens by the

Company pursuant to, and on the terms set forth in such order (such order, collectively with the aforesaid orders of the WUTC, the IPUC and the OPUC, being hereinafter called the "PUC Orders"); the PUC Orders are in full force and effect as of the date hereof; and, except for informational filings required under the PUC Orders, no further consent, approval or authorization of, or registration, filing or declaration with, any regulatory or other governmental body or agency is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Other Agreements or the issuance and sale by the Company of the Shares.

- (xviii) <u>Title to Property</u>. The Company and each of its Designated Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to all real property owned by them and good title to all other property owned by them, in each case subject only to such mortgages, pledges, security interests, claims and other liens and encumbrances (collectively "**Liens**") and such exceptions, defects and qualifications as (A) are described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (B) would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xix) <u>Leases</u>. All of the leases and subleases material to the business of the Company and its Designated Subsidiaries, considered as one enterprise, and under which the Company or any of such subsidiaries holds properties, described in or required to be described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus are in full force and effect, and the Company has no notice of any claim of any sort asserted by anyone adverse to the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries under any of such leases or subleases, or affecting or questioning the rights of the Company or any of such subsidiaries to the continued possession of the premises leased or subleased thereunder, that would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (xx) <u>Investment Company Act</u>. The Company is not, and upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as contemplated herein and in the Other Agreements and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus will not be, an "investment company" or an entity "controlled" by an "investment company" as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- (x x i) Environmental Laws. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of the Designated Subsidiaries (A) is in violation of any statute, rule, regulation, decision or order of any governmental body or any court, domestic or foreign, relating to the use, disposal or release of hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants, to the protection or restoration of the environment or to human or animal exposure to hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that have the potential to adversely impact human or animal health (collectively, "environmental laws"), (B) owns or operates any real property contaminated with any hazardous or toxic substances or other pollutants or contaminants that is subject to clean-up or other responsive action under any environmental laws, (C) is liable for any off-site disposal or contamination pursuant to any environmental laws, (D) is subject to any claim of violation of or liability under any environmental laws, which violation, contamination, liability or claim would individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and the Company is not aware of any pending investigation or circumstances which would reasonably be expected to lead to such a claim.
- (xxii) <u>Internal Controls</u>. (A) The Company has devised and established and maintains the following, among other, internal controls (without duplication):

- (I) a system of "internal accounting controls" as contemplated in Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the 1934 Act (the "Accounting Controls");
- (II) "internal control over financial reporting" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
- (III) "disclosure controls and procedures" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the 1934 Act Regulations (the "**Disclosure Controls**" and, together with the Accounting Controls and the Reporting Controls, the "**Internal Controls**"));
- (B) The Internal Controls are evaluated by the Company's senior management periodically as appropriate and, in any event, as required by law;
  - (C) Based on the most recent evaluations of the Internal Controls:
  - (I) the Internal Controls are, individually and in the aggregate, effective in all material respects to perform the functions for which they were established; and
  - (II) all material weaknesses, if any, and significant deficiencies, if any, in the design or operation of the Internal Controls which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Internal Controls have been disclosed to the audit committee of the Company's board of directors and the Company's independent auditors.
- (xxiii) <u>Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley</u>. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations of the Commission that have been adopted thereunder, to the extent that such act and such rules and regulations are in effect and applicable to the Company.
- (xxiv) <u>Finder's Fees</u>. The Company has not incurred (directly or indirectly) nor will it incur, directly or indirectly, any liability for any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or other similar fee, charge or commission in connection with this Agreement or the Other Agreements, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except as set forth in or contemplated by this Agreement and the Other Agreements.
- (xxv) Sanctions. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is currently the subject or the target of any sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or any other applicable sanctions laws or regulations ("Sanctions"), nor is the Company or any of its subsidiaries located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is the subject or the target of Sanctions, including, without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan and Syria (each, a "Sanctioned Country"); and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of the offering of the Shares hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any person or entity, (A) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business with any person that, at the time of such funding or facilitation, is the subject or the target of Sanctions or (B) to fund or facilitate any activities of or business in any Sanctioned Country or (C) in any other manner that will result in

violation by any person (including any person participating in the transaction, whether as sales agent, advisor, investor or otherwise) of Sanctions.

- (xxvi) Compliance with Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, the applicable money laundering statutes of all jurisdictions in which the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries conducts business, the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines issued, administered or enforced by any governmental or regulatory agency (collectively, the "Anti-Money Laundering Laws"); and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental or regulatory agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.
- (xxvii) No Unlawful Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has violated or is in violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the "FCPA") or any other applicable anti-corruption and/or anti-bribery laws and regulations. The Company and the and its subsidiaries have instituted and maintain policies and procedures designed to promote and provide reasonable assurance as to compliance with the FCPA.
- (b) Officer's Certificates. Any certificate signed by any officer of the Company delivered to the Sales Agent or to counsel for the Sales Agent in connection with the offer and sale of the Shares shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to the Sales Agent as to the matters covered thereby.

#### SECTION 3. Offers and Sales of Shares.

- (a) Initiation of Sales Efforts. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, on any Trading Day during the Commitment Period the Company may deliver to the Sales Agent a Sales Notice, and, upon the commencement of the Selling Period specified in such Sales Notice, which shall not be earlier than the Trading Day next succeeding the date of receipt by the Sales Agent of such Sales Notice, the Sales Agent shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell the number of Shares specified in such Sales Notice. The Company acknowledges that there can be no assurance that the Sales Agent will be successful in selling the Shares and agrees that the Sales Agent shall incur no liability or obligation to the Company if it does not sell Shares for any reason other than a failure by the Sales Agent to use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to sell such Shares in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (b) Manner of Offer and Sales. (i) The offering and sale of Shares under this Agreement (other than sales to or by the Sales Agent as principal) shall be made by such methods permitted by law as the Sales Agent shall determine from time to time that are deemed to be "at-the-market offerings" within the meaning of Rule 415(a)(4) of the 1933 Act Regulations, including sales made directly on the NYSE, through an "alternative trading system" as defined in Rule 300 of Regulation ATS under the 1934 Act or any other electronic communications network or to or through a market maker; provided, however, that, if the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in writing, sales may be made in privately negotiated transactions;

- (ii) If the Company and the Sales Agent so agree in a separate Terms Agreement (it being understood and agreed that neither party is under any obligation to do so), the Company may sell Shares to the Sales Agent acting as principal, and the Sales Agent may purchase such Shares acting as principal, it being understood that, in the event of any inconsistency between the terms and provisions of this Agreement and those of the Terms Agreement, those of the Terms Agreement shall control.
- (c) Sales Price.: (i) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent acting as agent in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be made at prevailing market prices per Share or, if and to the extent so specified in the related Sales Notice, at prices per Share related to prevailing market prices. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, (a) in no event shall the Sales Price for any Shares so sold be less than the Floor Price set forth in the related Sales Notice and (b) the Company shall not establish any Floor Price that would not be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (ii) Sales of Shares by the Sales Agent as agent in privately negotiated transactions, and the public offering of Shares purchased by the Sales Agent acting as principal, shall be made at such Sales Prices as shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case, such agreement by the Company to be within the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.
- (iii) The Selling Commission in respect of Shares sold hereunder in At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be such percentage (not to exceed 2%) of the Sales Price thereof, as agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent from time to time, provided, however, that the Selling Commission in respect of all sales hereunder that (A) are made under a Terms Agreement, (B) made in a transaction that constitutes a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (C) are otherwise not At the Market Offerings or to or through a market maker shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in the particular case.
- (d) Confirmation of Sales. The Sales Agent shall deliver to the Company, not later than the opening of the Trading Day next following each Trading Day on which it makes sales of Shares hereunder, a confirmation setting forth (i) the number of Shares sold in each transaction on such Trading Day, (ii) the applicable Sales Price for each such sale of Shares, (iii) the aggregate Sales Price for each such transaction and (iv) the Net Proceeds payable to the Company for each such transaction.
- (e) Settlement of Sales. Subject to the conditions set forth in Section 6, each sale of Shares hereunder shall be settled on the Settlement Date therefor. No later than 12:00 Noon (New York City time) on the Settlement Date, the Company shall cause its transfer agent, currently Computershare Shareholder Services LLC, to electronically transfer such Shares to the Sales Agent by crediting the account of the Sales Agent or its designee or nominee at the Depository Trust Company through its Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian System, or by such other means of delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the Company and the Sales Agent in writing. Upon notification that the Shares have been issued, Sales Agent shall deliver the total Net Proceeds for the sale of all Shares to be settled on such Settlement Date by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Company in the related Sales Notice.
- (f) Suspension of Sales. The Company or the Sales Agent may, upon notice to the other party in writing or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable facsimile transmission, e-mail or other customary means of electronic communication), suspend the offering or sale of Shares, and the Selling Period shall immediately terminate; provided, however, that such suspension and termination shall not affect or impair either party's obligations with respect to any Shares sold hereunder prior to the prompt processing of such notice of suspension.

- (g) Proprietary Trading by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent has advised the Company that during the Commitment Period the Sales Agent and/or its affiliates may purchase and sell shares of Common Stock for their respective accounts and for the accounts of their respective customers; provided, however, that (i) no such purchase or sale shall violate any provision of applicable law (including particularly but without limitation the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act or any regulation under either thereof) and (ii) no sale of shares of Common Stock shall be made by the Sales Agent for the account of the Sales Agent during any Selling Period unless (A) such sale is made pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of a Terms Agreement, (B) such sale is a sale by the Sales Agent of shares purchased, or deemed to have been purchased, from the Company as a "riskless principal" or in a similar capacity, (C) such sale is made in trading transactions in the ordinary course of business but only if neither the Company nor the Sales Agent is in violation of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations or (D) the Company shall have consented thereto.
  - (h) Limitations. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding:
  - (i) in no event shall the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement, together with the aggregate number of Shares sold pursuant to the Other Agreements (as disclosed to the Sales Agent from time to time by the Company), exceed the Maximum Number (the Company hereby acknowledging and agreeing that the Sales Agent shall have no responsibility for maintaining records with respect to the aggregate number of Shares sold (other than the Shares sold under this Agreement));
  - (ii) in no event shall the Sales Agent be obligated to make any offer or sale of Shares during any period in which either party has reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations; and
  - (iii) in no event shall the Company sell Shares through both the Sales Agent and any Other Sales Agent on the same Trading Day; without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in no event shall the Selling Period designated in a Sales Notice delivered to the Sales Agent include a Trading Day that is included in a selling period that is in effect under one of the Other Agreements; and each of the Other Agreements shall contain the limitations sets forth in this clause (iii).

#### SECTION 4. Covenants.

- (a) Preparation and Filing of the Prospectus. The Company will prepare the Prospectus and, after affording the Sales Agent the opportunity to comment thereon, file the Prospectus with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b) not later than the Commission's close of business on the second business day following the Closing Time.
- (b) Review of Amendments and Supplements. The Company will not amend the Registration Statement, or amend or supplement the Prospectus, without providing notice to the Sales Agent at least 24 hours, or such shorter period as is reasonably required by the circumstances, prior to the filing thereof with the Commission. Except in the case of any such amendment or supplement to be made by the filing under the 1934 Act of a document that will be incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus that would be made by the Company irrespective of the offer and sale of the Shares, the Company will not effect such amendment or supplement without the consent of the Sales Agent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Neither the consent of the Sales Agent, nor the delivery of any such amendment or supplement by the Sales Agent, shall constitute a waiver of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6 hereof.

The Company will notify the Sales Agent immediately, and confirm such notice in writing, when any post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement shall have been filed or shall become effective and when any supplement to the Prospectus or any amended Prospectus shall have been filed.

- (c) Free Writing Prospectuses. (i) The Company has not made and, without the consent of the Sales Agent, will not make any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" as defined by Rule 405, including an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus.
- (ii) The Sales Agent has not made, and without the consent of the Company shall not make, any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a "free writing prospectus" (as defined in Rule 405) that the Company would be required to file with the Commission under Rule 433.
- (d) Notification of Commission Comments and Orders, Etc.. The Company will notify the Sales Agent of (i) the receipt of any comments from the Commission with respect to the Registration Statement, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus, including any request by the Commission for any amendment, supplement or additional information with respect thereto and (ii) the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose. The Company will make every reasonable effort to prevent the issuance of any stop order and, in the event of any stop order, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (e) Delivery of Registration Statements. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent and to counsel for the Sales Agent, upon request and without charge, one conformed copy of the Registration Statement as originally filed and of each amendment thereto (including, in each case, all exhibits filed therewith or incorporated by reference). Such copies of the Registration Statement and amendments thereto so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
- (f) Delivery of Prospectuses. The Company will furnish to the Sales Agent, without charge, during the period when the Prospectus (or, in lieu thereof, the notice referred to in Rule 173(a) of the 1933 Act Regulations) is required to be delivered of the 1933 Act Regulations, such number of copies of the Prospectus as the Sales Agent may reasonably request. Such copies of the Prospectus so furnished to the Sales Agent will be identical to the copies thereof filed electronically with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR (except that the registration fee table may be deleted from the cover thereof), except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T. The Company will deliver to the Sales Agent, without charge, as many copies of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request, and the Company hereby consents to the use of such copies by the Sales Agent for purposes of the offer and sale of the Shares in a manner consistent with the 1933 Act and the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (g) Continued Compliance with Securities Laws. (i) The Company will file all reports and other documents that it is required to file with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act within the time periods required by the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations and will otherwise comply with the 1933 Act, the 1933 Act Regulations, the 1934 Act and the 1934 Act Regulations so as to permit the offer, sale and distribution of the Shares as contemplated in this Agreement and the Prospectus; provided, however, that the Company may assume that the distribution of the Shares issued on any Settlement Date has been completed on the business day following such Settlement Date unless the Sales Agent shall have provided written notice to the contrary.

- (ii) During the distribution of the Shares, the Company will notify the Sales Agent promptly if (A) any filing is made by the Company of information relating to the offering of the Shares with any securities exchange or any other regulatory body in the United States or any other jurisdiction or (B) a Material Adverse Change shall have occurred that is not disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (C) any other event shall have occurred that causes (x) the Registration Statement to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or (y) the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus to contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (iii) Upon any notification pursuant to clause (ii)(B) or (C) above, or if at any time an event shall occur or other circumstances shall exist as a result of which it is necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Company or of the Sales Agent, (A) to amend the Registration Statement in order that it shall not, as of the Effective Time, include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations or (B) to amend or supplement the Prospectus in order that it shall not, as of any Initiation Date, any Applicable Time within any Selling Period or any Settlement Date, contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances existing at such time, not misleading or otherwise to comply with the requirements of the 1933 Act or the 1933 Act Regulations,
  - (A) the Company will promptly prepare and file with the Commission, subject to Section 4(b), such amendment or supplement as may be necessary to correct such statement or omission or to make the Registration Statement or the Prospectus comply with such requirements, and the Company will furnish to the Sales Agent such number of copies of such amendment or supplement as the Sales Agent may reasonably request;
  - (B) the Company shall not deliver to the Sales Agent any Sales Notice until such statement or omission is corrected; and
  - (C) if such time shall be during a Selling Period specified in a Sales Notice theretofore delivered to the Sales Agent, the Company shall promptly, by telephone (confirmed by electronic mail), cancel such Sales Notice and direct the Sales Agent to cease selling Shares and making offers for such sales.
- (h) Blue Sky Qualifications. The Company will use its best efforts, in cooperation with the Sales Agent, to take such action, if any, as may be required to qualify the Shares for offering and sale under the applicable securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions as the Sales Agent may reasonably designate and to maintain such qualifications in effect as long as required for the distribution of the Shares; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to file any general consent to service of process or to qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in which it is not so qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business in any jurisdiction in which it is not otherwise so subject. In the event that the Company becomes aware of the suspension of the qualification of the Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the initiation or threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes, the Company will so notify the Sales Agent and will cooperate with the Sales Agent to endeavor to prevent any such suspension and, in the event of any such suspension, to obtain the lifting thereof as soon as possible.
- (i) Rule 158. The Company will timely file such reports pursuant to the 1934 Act as are necessary in order to make generally available to its securityholders as soon as practicable an earnings

statement for the purposes of, and to provide the benefits contemplated by, the last paragraph of Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act and Rule 158 thereunder (which earnings statement need not be audited unless required so to be under Section 11(a) of the 1933 Act).

- (j) Filing Fees. The Company agrees to pay the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time required by Rule 456(b)(1) of the 1933 Act Regulations and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations.
- (k) Use of Proceeds. The Company will use the Net Proceeds received by it from the sale of the Shares in the manner specified in the Prospectus under "Use of Proceeds".
- (1) Restriction on Sale of Shares. The Company will not (A) at any time during any Selling Period without the prior written consent of the Sales Agent or (B) at any time during the term of this Agreement without giving the Sales Agent at least three Trading Days' prior written notice specifying the nature and timing of the proposed sale, directly or indirectly, offer to sell, contract to sell, sell, grant any option to buy or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock or warrants or rights to purchase or acquire shares of Common Stock. The foregoing restrictions shall not restrict the Company's issuance or sale of (i) shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement or the Other Sales Agreements, (ii) shares of Common Stock, options to purchase shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options, in any case pursuant to any employee or director stock option or benefit plan, stock purchase or ownership plan or dividend reinvestment plan of the Company, (iii) shares of Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or (iv) shares of Common Stock issuable as consideration in connection with acquisitions of business, assets or securities of other entities by merger or otherwise.
- (m) Maximum Number. The Company will promptly notify the Sales Agent and each of the Other Sales Agents when the Maximum Number of Shares has been sold.
- (n) Regulation M. If either the Company or the Sales Agent shall have reason to believe that the Common Stock is not an excepted security under Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, it shall promptly notify the other party and the Sales Agent may suspend sales of Shares under this Agreement or any Terms Agreement until, in the judgment of each party, the Common Stock is such an excepted security.
- (o) Diligence Cooperation. The Company shall reasonably cooperate with any reasonable due diligence review requested by the Sales Agent or its counsel from time to time in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or any Terms Agreement, including, without limitation, on or about each Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, providing information and making available appropriate documents and appropriate corporate officers of the Company and, upon reasonable request, representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

#### SECTION 5. Payment of Expenses.

(a) Expenses Payable by the Company. The Company will pay all expenses incident to the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, including (i) the preparation, printing and filing of the Registration Statement (including financial statements and exhibits) as originally filed and of each amendment thereto, (ii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of this Agreement and such other documents as may be required in connection with the offering, purchase, sale, issuance or delivery of the Shares, (iii) the preparation, issuance and delivery of the certificate or certificates for the Shares, (iv) the fees and disbursements of the Company's counsel, accountants and other advisors, (v) the

qualification of the Shares under securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 4(h) hereof, (vi) the printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and of the Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto, (vii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Sales Agent of copies of any Blue Sky survey and any supplement thereto, (viii) the costs and expenses of the Company relating to investor presentations on any "road show" undertaken in connection with the marketing of the Shares, including without limitation, expenses associated with the production of road show slides and graphics, fees and expenses of any consultants engaged in connection with the road show presentations, travel and lodging expenses of the Sales Agent and officers of the Company and any such consultants, and the cost of aircraft and other transportation chartered in connection with the road show and (ix) the reasonable documented out-of-pocket expenses of the Sales Agent, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the Sales Agent, in connection with the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations hereunder during the Commitment Period, it being understood that the Company shall be required to pay the fees and disbursements of only one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents.

- (b) Expenses Payable by the Sales Agent. Except as provided in subsection (a) above and subsection (c) below, the Sales Agent will pay all of its expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the fees and disbursements of any counsel for the Sales Agent (other than the one counsel for the Sales Agent and Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection (a)(ix) above).
- (c) Expenses Upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated by the Sales Agent in accordance with the provisions of Section 6 or Section 10(a)(i) hereof, the Company shall reimburse the Sales Agent for all of its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of the one counsel for the Sales Agent and the Other Sales Agents contemplated in subsection a(ix) above.

## SECTION 6. Conditions of the Sales Agent's Obligations; Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Conditions. The obligations of the Sales Agent hereunder are subject to the accuracy, as of the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 2(a) hereof and in all certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to the provisions hereof, to the performance by the Company of its covenants and other obligations hereunder to be performed at or prior to the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, and to the following further conditions:
  - (i) No Stop Order; Commission Filings. At the Closing Time and each subsequent Representation Date, the Registration Statement shall remain effective and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued under the 1933 Act or proceedings therefor initiated or threatened by the Commission and the Company shall not have received from the Commission any notice pursuant to Rule 401(g)(2) of the 1933 Act Regulations objecting to use of the automatic shelf registration statement form, and any request on the part of the Commission for additional information shall have been complied with to the reasonable satisfaction of counsel to the Sales Agent; the Prospectus shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with Rule 424(b); any material required to be filed by the Company pursuant to Rule 433(d), shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with the applicable time period prescribed for such filing under Rule 433; and the Company shall have paid the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time period required by Rule 456(b)(l)(i) of the 1933 Act Regulations without regard to the proviso therein and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the 1933 Act Regulations and, if applicable, shall have updated the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in accordance with Rule 456(b)(1)(ii) of

the 1933 Act Regulations either in a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or on the cover page of a prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b).

- (ii) Opinions of Counsel for the Company. (A) At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall amend the Registration Statement and/or amend or supplement the Prospectus (in each case other than by means of the incorporation by reference of documents filed with the Commission) or the date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K (each such date being herein called a "**Primary Delivery Date**"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Marian M. Durkin, Esq., Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer of the Company, and Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP, counsel for the Company, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively.
- (B) Within five Trading Days after the date on which the Company shall file a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K (except to the extent that any such Current Report "furnishes" rather than "files" the information provided therein), and at any other time reasonably requested by the Sales Agent (each of such dates being herein called a "Secondary Delivery Date"), the Sales Agent shall have received the opinions, dated the date of delivery thereof, of counsel referred to in clause (A) above, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C hereto, respectively; provided, however, that such counsel may deliver, in lieu of such opinions, a reliance letter to the effect that the Sales Agent may rely on the opinion delivered on the next preceding Primary Delivery Date to the same extent as if it were dated the date of such letter (except that the statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed to relate to the Registration Statement as amended and the Prospectus as amended and/or supplemented as of such Secondary Delivery Date).
- (iii) Opinion of Counsel for the Sales Agent. At the Closing Time and each other Primary Delivery Date, Secondary Delivery Date relating to a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and, if and to the extent reasonably requested by the Sales Agent, each other Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received the opinion, dated the date of delivery thereof, of Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, counsel for the Sales Agent, as to such matters as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request. In giving such opinion such counsel may rely, as to all matters governed by the laws of jurisdictions other than the law of the State of New York and the federal law of the United States upon the opinions of counsel to the Company. Such counsel may also state that, insofar as such opinion involves factual matters, they have relied, to the extent they deem proper, upon certificates of officers of the Company and certificates of public officials.
- (iv) No Material Adverse Change; Officers' Certificate. (A) At the Closing Time and each other Representation Date, there shall not have been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and except as disclosed therein, any Material Adverse Change and (B) at the Closing Time and at each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent shall have received a certificate of the President or a Vice President of the Company and of the chief financial or chief accounting officer of the Company, dated the date of delivery thereof, to the effect that (I) there has been no such Material Adverse Change, (II) the representations and warranties in Section 2(a) hereof are true and correct with the same force and effect as though expressly made at and as of such date, (III) the Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part required by this Agreement to be performed or satisfied at or prior to such date, and (IV) no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted or are pending or, to the knowledge of the signers, contemplated by the Commission.

- (v) Accountant's Comfort Letter. At the Closing Time and within five Trading Days after each date on which the Company shall file an Annual Report on Form 10-K, a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or a Current Report on Form 8-K that contains financial statements of the Company (other than any Current Report on Form 8-K that is "furnished" to and not "filed" with the Commission), the Sales Agent shall have received from Deloitte & Touche LLP a letter dated the date of delivery thereof, in form and scope consistent with the internal guidelines of such firm for the delivery of comfort letters and, in any event, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Sales Agent, containing statements and information of the type customarily included in accountants' "comfort letters" to underwriters with respect to the financial statements of, and certain financial information relating to, the Company contained in the Registration Statement, Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.
- (vi) Additional Conditions. At the Closing Time and on each other Representation Date, none of the events enumerated in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Section 10(a) shall have occurred.
- (vii) Additional Documents. At the Closing Time and on each other Primary Delivery Date and each Secondary Delivery Date, the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent shall have been furnished with such additional documents and opinions as they may reasonably require for the purpose of enabling such counsel to pass upon the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated, or in order to evidence the accuracy of any of the representations or warranties, or the fulfillment of any of the conditions, herein contained; and all proceedings taken by the Company in connection with the issuance and sale of the Shares as herein contemplated shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent. For the avoidance of doubt, it is understood and agreed that the Sales Agent shall not have any obligation to offer or sell any Shares during the period commencing on any Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, through the date on which all deliverables triggered by such Primary Delivery Date or Secondary Delivery Date, as the case may be, have been satisfactorily delivered to the Sales Agent.
- (viii) Additional Conditions for "Distributions". If the Company shall direct the Sales Agent to offer and sell Shares in a transaction that would constitute a "distribution" within the meaning of Rule 100 of Regulation M of the 1934 Act Regulations, the Company will provide the Sales Agent: (A) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, the opinions of counsel and officers' certificates pursuant to Sections 6(a)(ii), (iii) and (iv) hereof, each dated such Settlement Date, (B) at the Sales Agent's request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date in respect of such sale, a customary "bringdown" comfort letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP and (C) such other documents and information as the Sales Agent shall reasonably request.
- (b) Termination of Agreement. If any condition specified in this Section shall not have been fulfilled when and as required to be fulfilled and shall not be waived by the Sales Agent, this Agreement may be terminated by the Sales Agent by notice to the Company, and such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party, except as provided in Section 5 and except that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive any such termination and remain in full force and effect.
- (c) Increase of Maximum Number. The Company may at any time increase the Maximum Number to any number by delivering to the Sales Agent:

- (i) a notice executed by the President or a Senior Vice President of the Company stating that the Maximum Number shall be increased to the number specified in such notice;
- (ii) a certificate signed by the individuals specified in Section 6(a)(iv) to the effect that the representations and warranties in Section 2(a)(x) and 2(a)(xvii) are true and correct with respect to the Maximum Number as to be increased;
- (iii) a certificate signed by the individuals and to the effect specified in Section 6(a)(iv), with the proposed Maximum Number being substituted for the existing Maximum Number;
- (iv) opinions of counsel for the Company, as specified in Section 6(a)(ii), reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased:
  - (v) a revised Prospectus reflecting the Maximum Number as to be increased; and
- (vi) such additional documents as shall be reasonably required by the Sales Agent and counsel for the Sales Agent for purposes analogous to those specified in Section 6(a)(vi).

Upon the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, the Maximum Number shall be increased as specified, without further act, for all purposes of this Agreement.

#### SECTION 7. Indemnification.

- (a) Indemnification of the Sales Agent. The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless the Sales Agent, its affiliates, directors and officers and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent, within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act as follows:
  - (i) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, (A) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (B) arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
  - (ii) against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or of any claim whatsoever based upon any untrue statement or omission of a material fact, or any alleged untrue statement or omission of a material fact, in either case of the nature described in clause (i) above; provided that any such settlement is effected with the written consent of the Company; and
  - (iii) against any and all expense whatsoever, as incurred (including the fees and disbursements of counsel chosen by the Sales Agent), reasonably incurred in investigating,

preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue statement or omission, to the extent that any such expense is not paid under (i) or (ii) above;

provided, however, that this Section 7 shall not apply to any loss, liability, claim, damage or expense to the extent arising out of any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent expressly for use in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto).

- (b) Indemnification of the Company. The Sales Agent shall indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors and officers, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense described in subsection (a) of this Section, as incurred, but only with respect to untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, or alleged untrue statements or omissions of a material fact, made in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto) or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, the Disclosure Package or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Sales Agent expressly for use therein.
- (c) Actions against Parties; Notification. Each indemnified party shall give notice as promptly as reasonably practicable to each indemnifying party of any action commenced against it in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, but failure to so notify an indemnifying party shall not relieve such indemnifying party from any liability hereunder to the extent it is not materially prejudiced as a result thereof and in any event shall not relieve it from any liability which it may have otherwise than on account of this Section 7. In the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(a), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Sales Agent, and, in the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 7(b), counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by the Company. An indemnifying party may participate at its own expense in the defense of any such action; provided, however, that counsel to the indemnifying party shall not (except with the consent of the indemnified party) also be counsel to the indemnified party. In no event shall the indemnifying parties be liable for fees and expenses of more than one counsel (in addition to any local counsel) separate from their own counsel for all indemnified parties in connection with any one action or separate but similar or related actions in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the indemnified parties, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever in respect of which indemnification could be sought under this Section 7 or contribution could be sought under Section 8 hereof (whether or not the indemnified parties are actual or potential parties thereto), unless such settlement, compromise or consent (i) includes an unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability arising out of such litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

#### SECTION 8. Contribution.

If the indemnification provided for in Section 7 hereof is for any reason unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party in respect of any losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses referred to therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the aggregate amount of such losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by such indemnified party, (i) in such proportion

as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and of the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations.

The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand in connection with the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed to be in the same respective proportions as the total net proceeds from the offering of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement (after the Sales Agent's commission or discount, but before expenses) received by the Company and the total commissions and/or discounts received by the Sales Agent, bear to the aggregate public offering price of the Shares.

The relative fault of the Company on the one hand and the Sales Agent on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or by the Sales Agent and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

The Company and the Sales Agent agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 8 were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above in this Section 8. The aggregate amount of losses, liabilities, claims, damages and expenses incurred by an indemnified party and referred to above in this Section 8 shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission of a material fact.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 8, the Sales Agent shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total amount in respect of commissions or underwriting discounts received by the Sales Agent pursuant to this Agreement exceeds the amount of any damages which the Sales Agent has otherwise been required to pay by reason of any such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission.

No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the 1933 Act) with respect to the offering of Shares pursuant to this Agreement shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

For purposes of this Section 8, each affiliate, director and officer of the Sales Agent and each person, if any, who controls the Sales Agent within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Sales Agent, and each director of the Company, each officer of the Company, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act shall have the same rights to contribution as the Company.

## SECTION 9. Representations, Warranties and Agreements to Survive.

All of the respective representations, warranties and agreements of the Company and the Sales Agent contained in this Agreement, or in certificates of officers of the Company delivered pursuant to this Agreement, shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Sales Agent or controlling person of the Sales Agent, or by or on behalf of the Company, or any director, officer or controlling person of the Company, and shall survive delivery of and payment for the Shares.

#### SECTION 10. Termination of Agreement.

- (a) Termination by the Sales Agent. The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement, at any time
- (i) if there has been since the date of the latest audited balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus any Material Adverse Change, or
- (ii) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or liquidation proceedings or other proceedings for relief under any other law for the relief of debtors shall have been instituted by or against the Company or any Designated Subsidiary, or
- (iii) the Company or any Designated Subsidiary shall have made an assignment for the benefit of creditors or shall have applied to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for such entity or for all or substantially all of its property or business, or such a receiver or trustee shall otherwise have been appointed, or
  - (iv) the Common Stock shall no longer be listed on the NYSE, or
- (v) if there has occurred any material adverse change in the financial markets in the United States or in the international financial markets, any outbreak of hostilities or escalation thereof or other calamity or crisis or any change or development involving a prospective change in national or international political, financial or economic conditions, in each case the effect of which is such as to make it, in the judgment of the Sales Agent, impracticable or inadvisable to offer, sell or deliver the Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Shares, or
- (vi) if trading in the Common Stock has been suspended or materially limited by the Commission or the New York Stock Exchange, or if trading generally on the New York Stock Exchange or the NYSE MKT. or in the NASDAQ Global Market or the NASDAQ Global Select Market has been suspended or materially limited, or minimum or maximum prices for trading have been fixed, or maximum ranges for prices have been required, by either of such exchanges or Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. with respect to such markets or by order of the Commission or any other governmental authority, or
- (vii) a material disruption has occurred in commercial banking or securities settlement or clearance services in the United States, or
  - (viii) if a banking moratorium has been declared by either federal or New York authorities.

The Sales Agent may terminate this Agreement for any other reason, upon ten days' advance notice to the Company.

- (b) Termination by the Company. The Company may terminate this Agreement at any time, upon one Trading Day's advance notice to the Sales Agent.
- (c) Liabilities. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section, such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except as provided in Section 5 hereof; and provided, further, that Sections 2, 7, 8 and 9 shall survive such termination and remain in full force and effect.

#### SECTION 11. Notices.

- (a) General. Except as hereinafter provided, all notices, requests and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if received by mail, electronic mail or transmitted by any standard form of telecommunication to the addresses set forth in this section or to such other address as such party shall have specified most recently by written notice. Notices to the Sales Agent shall be directed to it at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, One Bryant Park, New York, New York 10036, attention: Thomas J. Opladen, Jr., Equity Financial Products, ECM, Fax No. (415) 835-2514, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Choate, Hall & Stewart LLP, Two International Place, Boston, MA 02110, attention: Andrew J. Hickey, Esq., Fax No. (617) 248-4000; and notices to the Company shall be directed to it at 1411 East Mission Avenue, Spokane, Washington 99202, attention: Treasurer, Fax No. (509) 777-5864, e-mail: Treasury@avistacorp.com.
- (b) Sales Notice; Confirmation and Settlement of Sales; Suspension of Sales. All Sales Notices shall be executed by an individual named on Schedule A hereto who is the President, a Senior Vice President, a Vice President, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company, and shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Any comments by the Sales Agent on any Sales Notice shall be delivered to any of the personnel of the Company listed on Schedule A hereto. All notices and other correspondence to and from the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares or suspension of sales of Shares shall be delivered to the personnel of the Company and the Sales Agent listed on Schedule A hereto. Either party may update its personnel listed on Schedule A by written notice to the other party.

# SECTION 12. Parties in Interest.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors. Nothing expressed in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any person, firm or corporation, other than the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors and the controlling persons and officers and directors referred to in Sections 7 and 8 and their heirs and legal representatives, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Agreement or any provision herein contained. This Agreement and all conditions and provisions hereof are intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Sales Agent and the Company and their respective successors, and said controlling persons and officers and directors and their heirs and legal representatives, and for the benefit of no other person, firm or corporation. No purchaser of Shares from the Sales Agent shall be deemed to be a successor by reason merely of such purchase.

## SECTION 13. No Advisory or Fiduciary Relationship.

The Company acknowledges and agrees that (a) the offering and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement, including the determination of the public offering price of the Shares and any related commissions and discounts, is an arm's-length commercial transaction between the Company, on the one hand, and the Sales Agent, on the other hand, (b) in connection with the offering contemplated hereby and the process leading to such transaction, the Sales Agent is and has been acting solely on its own behalf and

is not the agent or fiduciary of the Company, or its shareholders, creditors, employees or any other party, (c) the Sales Agent has not assumed and will not assume an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby or the process leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Sales Agent has advised or is currently advising the Company on other matters) and the Sales Agent has no obligation to the Company with respect to the offering contemplated hereby except the obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement, (d) the Sales Agent and its affiliates may be engaged in, and may in the future engage in, a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ from those of the Company and (e) the Sales Agent has not provided any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice with respect to the offering contemplated hereby, and the Company has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate.

### SECTION 14. Governing Law and Time.

This agreement and any claim, controversy or dispute relating to or arising out of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed within the State of New York without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws thereof. Specified times of day refer to New York City time. Any action, suit or proceeding to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought in any federal court located in the Southern District of the State of New York or any New York state court located in the Borough of Manhattan, and the Company agrees to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom), and each party waives (to the full extent permitted by law) any objection it may have to the laying of venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

# SECTION 15. Waiver of Jury Trial.

The Company and the Sales Agent each hereby irrevocably waives any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any claim based upon or arising out of this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby.

# SECTION 16. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement.

# SECTION 17. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings (whether written or oral) between the Company and the Sales Agent with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

# SECTION 18. Effect of Headings.

The Section headings herein and the Table of Contents are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

## SECTION 19. No Assignment.

No party may assign its rights or delegate its duties or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of the other party. Any purported assignment or delegation of rights, duties or obligations

hereunder shall be void and of no effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Sales Agent may assign its rights under this Agreement and/or may delegate some or all of its duties and obligations under this Agreement, without the consent of the Company, to an affiliate of the Sales Agent that is a registered broker-dealer, it being understood that no such assignment or delegation shall release the Sales Agent from any of its obligations hereunder. This Agreement shall each inure to the benefit of and be binding upon BofAML Securities, Inc. as an assignee to the Sales Agent without prior written consent of any party.

## SECTION 20. Severability.

This Agreement and each Terms Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision hereof or thereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability hereof or thereof or of any term or provision hereof or thereof. Furthermore, if any term or provision of this Agreement or any Terms Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, there shall be deemed to be made to such term or provision such minor changes (and only such minor changes) as shall be necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding of our agreement, please sign and return to the Company a counterpart hereof, whereupon this instrument, along with all counterparts, will become a binding agreement between the Sales Agent and the Company in accordance with its terms.

Very truly yours,

AVISTA CORPORATION

By: /s/ Mark T. Thies

Name: Mark T. Thies

Title: Senior Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer and

Treasurer

Signature Page to Sales Agency Agreement

# CONFIRMED AND ACCEPTED, as of the date first above written

# MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

By: /s/ Michael Dunne

Name: Michael Dunne Title: Managing Director

 $Signature\ Page\ to\ Sales\ Agency\ Agreement$ 

## **Contact Persons**

# The Company

Mark T. Thies Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer Mark.Thies@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4639

Ryan L. Krasselt Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer Ryan.Krasselt@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-2273

Don M. Falkner Assistant Treasurer Don.Falkner@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4326

Richard N. Stevens Assistant Treasurer and Director of Finance Rich.Stevens@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4330

Lauren Pendergraft Senior Treasury Analyst Lauren.Pendergraft@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-2998

Solely for notices and other correspondence to the Company with respect to the confirmation and settlement of sales of Shares, please include:

Denise Burns Cash Management Analyst Denise.Burns@avistacorp.com T: 509-495-4725

Treasury Department <a href="mailto:treasury@avistacorp.com">treasury@avistacorp.com</a>

The Sales Agent

Thomas J. Opladen, Jr.
Vice President
Thomas.j.opladen\_jr@baml.com

T: 646-855-8900 F: 415-835-2514

# SALES NOTICE

[Date]

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated One Bryant Park New York, NY 10036

Attention: Thomas J. Opladen, Jr.

Tel. No. (646) 855-8900 Fax No.: (415) 835-2514

E-Mail: Thomas.j.opladen\_jr@baml.com

Reference is made to the Sales Agency Agreement between Avista Corporation (the "Company") and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, dated as of March 2, 2016 (capitalized terms herein having the meanings assigned thereto in such Agreement). The Company confirms that all conditions to the delivery of this Sales Notice are satisfied as of the date hereof. As of the date hereof, neither the Prospectus nor the Disclosure Package contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

First date of Selling Period:	
Last date of Selling Period:	
Number of days in Selling Period:	
Settlement Date(s):	Third Trading Day after each sale
Number of Shares:	\$
Floor Price*:	\$per share
Company Bank Account	
Company during such Selling Period. Notwithstanding the forego	to be sold during such Selling Period. Such Floor Price may be adjusted by the oing, in no event shall the Sales Price for any Shares be less than \$ below quoted on the record of composite transactions reported by The Wall Street xing the price of such Shares.
Additional Restrictions:	
Comments:	
AVISTA CORP	PORATION
Ву:	
Name:	
<sup>1</sup> Title:	

Exhibit A-1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To be executed by the President, any Vice President, the Treasurer or any Assistant Treasurer of the Company.